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Executive Summary
The Financial Condition Report ("FCR") of AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd (“the Company”) is prepared in 
accordance with the rules and guidance laid out by the Bermuda Monetary Authority ("BMA"). The FCR 
documents the measures governing the Company's business activities, governance framework, risk and 
capital management, solvency, and financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2024. This FCR is 
based primarily on the Economic Balance Sheet ("EBS") of the Company as well as the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
("IFRS").  

Business and performance (Section A)

AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd is a member of the AXA XL Division ("AXA XL") of AXA Group (AXA SA). 

The Company operates globally with the UK contributing 24.9%, Bermuda contributing 23.0%, Europe 
contributing 20.1%, the US contributing 19.2%, and other regions contributing 12.8% of insurance contract 
revenue in 2024. The Company writes business in the professional, casualty, property and specialty 
insurance and reinsurance markets.

The following table summarize the Company's insurance contract revenue by line of business for the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

INSURANCE CONTRACT REVENUE BY BUSINESS SEGMENT AND BY LINE OF BUSINESS

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

2024 2023

P&C Operations:

Property  17,399  22,361 

Specialty & Professional  2,460  11,594 

Casualty  2,596  4,602 

P&C Insurance 22,455 38,557

Casualty  802,946  805,725 

Property Other  644,781  595,178 

Property Catastrophe  424,844  405,372 

Global Specialty  321,787  259,951 

Other (a)  341,161  289,153 

P&C Reinsurance  2,535,519  2,355,379 

Total P&C Operations  2,557,974  2,393,936 

(a) Other within the reinsurance segment includes:  credit & surety, crop, cyber and other lines.

Governance structure (Section B)

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) oversees the effective management of the Company’s 
business and affairs and is responsible for the maintenance of an effective corporate governance framework.

The Board has established a committee of senior executives of the Company representing key functions 
(e.g. reinsurance, legal, compliance and regulatory affairs, risk management, finance, and human resources) 
(the “Executive Committee”). 

The Executive Committee assists the Board with its oversight responsibilities. Specifically, the principal 
objectives of the Executive Committee are to:  

• Assist with the implementation of the approved AXA XL Re business plans;

• Execute necessary actions required of AXA XL Re under applicable legal and regulatory regimes;

• Review, consider, and if deemed appropriate, approve certain ordinary course transactions to be entered 
into by AXA XL Re;
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• Assist with the implementation of directives from the AXA XL Re Board and the oversight of AXA XL Re’s 
compliance with AXA XL and AXA Group strategy; and

• Promote the AXA Group’s and AXA XL’s interests within the Bermuda (re)insurance market and wider 
Bermuda business community.

On a quarterly basis, the Executive Committee provides reports to the Board that: (i) detail any material 
issues or matters that have arisen with the Company and any of its subsidiaries; and (ii) summarize any 
matters approved by the Executive Committee pertaining to the Company.

The Company faces strategic, financial and operational risks related to, among others: underwriting 
activities, changing macroeconomic conditions, investments, reserving, changes in laws or regulations, 
information systems, business interruption and fraud. An enterprise view of risk is required to identify and 
manage the consequences of these common risks and risk drivers on Company's profitability, capital 
strength and liquidity. This is managed by the Risk Management function, an integrated part of all business 
processes, that defines and deploys the Risk Management Framework (“RMF”).

The Company's RMF consists of a set of risk policies and standards. The RMF is designed to align with and 
support the Company’s business objectives and strategic goals.  It serves as a critical tool for providing 
management with essential information that aids in the identification and comprehension of material risks, 
along with their associated mitigants. These are reviewed and approved by the Board, at least annually. The 
RMF would be reviewed more regularly if the Company was subject to a major change in regulatory 
requirements, strategy or organizational structure. 

The Company operates a ‘Three Lines of Defense’ approach to ensure effective and robust day-to-day 
governance is in place. The Operational line, is the ‘First Line of Defense’. They are supported by the ‘Second 
Line of Defense’, which is made up of oversight functions. The Internal Audit Function provides the ‘Third 
Line of Defense’ which provides independent assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's system of 
internal control and reports to the Audit Committee.

Risk profile (Section C)

The Company has assessed and classified its exposure to various material risks. These include insurance risk, 
market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, and other risks such as strategic, asset-liability 
matching, reputational, emerging, geopolitical, macroeconomic and environmental, social, and governance 
("ESG") risk. Detailed explanations of these risks, along with corresponding risk mitigation measures, can be 
found in Section C.

Solvency valuation (Section D)

The Company values each Asset Class, the net Technical Provisions and Other Liabilities utilizing a 
combination of valuation bases, methods and assumptions on the inputs used to determine solvency. At 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the total net Technical Provisions amounted to $4.8 billion and $4.8 billion, 
respectively. Detailed explanations of the valuation bases, assumptions and methods used can be found in 
Section D.

Capital management (Section E)

The Company has an overarching Capital Management process to ensure an appropriate level and form of 
capital. Thereby, the Company's capital position is benchmarked against its projected risk exposures to 
ensure that it is adequate to support planned business operations as well as certain stressed loss events. The 
form of the capital is designed to provide a balance between security, flexibility and liquidity. 

In addition, the Company ensures that it meets the appropriate levels/standards as defined under the 
Insurance Act 1978 using the economic balance sheet framework to derive the Company’s statutory 
economic capital and surplus, its enhanced capital requirement and its target capital levels as defined 
therein. There are appropriate levels of oversight from the Board, Risk and Compliance, Finance and AXA XL 
Treasury to ensure appropriate capital levels are managed and maintained. 

The ECR coverage ratio was  199% as at December 31, 2024.

There were no material changes to the Company’s governance structure and capital management approach 
during the reporting period. Further details are included in this report.
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Subsequent events (Section F)

The Company has estimated that the impact of the January 2025 wildfires will result in a pre-tax loss 
estimate, net of reinsurance and reinstatement premiums within the range of $70.0 million to $80.0 million, 
which will be recorded during the first quarter of 2025. There were no other material events after the 
reporting period to be reported.
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A.   Business and Performance 
This section provides particulars regarding the organizational structure, insurance business activities and 
financial performance. 

A.1   Name of Insurer

AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd ("the Company")

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Financial Condition Report (“FCR”) to the 
“Company”, “we”, “us”, “our” or “Group” refer to “AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd” and its subsidiaries (“AXA XL 
Re”). 

A.2   Supervisors 

Insurance Supervisor Group Supervisor

Name: Bermuda Monetary Authority, 
BMA House, 43 Victoria Street, 
Hamilton HM 12 Bermuda

Autorité de contrôle prudentiel 
et de résolution
4 Place de Budapest
CS 92459
75436 Paris Cedex 09 

Jurisdiction: Bermuda France

Email Address: insuranceinfo@bma.bm Bibli@acpr.banque-france.fr 

Phone Number: +1 441-295-5278 + (33) 01 49 95 40 00

A.3   Approved Auditor

Organisation: Ernst & Young Ltd., 3 Bermudiana Road, 
Hamilton HM08, Bermuda

Name: Kent Howard

Jurisdiction: Bermuda

Email Address: kent.howard@bm.ey.com

Phone Number: +1 441 294 5305

A.4   Ownership Details

Legal Entity Owner Name   Ownership Percentage

AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd 100%*

*AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd is a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of XL Bermuda Ltd, which is a direct 
wholly-owned subsidiary of XL Group Ltd. XL Group Ltd is 100% owned by AXA SA ("AXA").

A.5   Group Structure

The Company is a member of the AXA XL Division of the AXA Group.

See Appendix 1 - AXA XL Group Structure Chart 2024 Q4 effective as of December 31, 2024.
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A.6   Insurance Contract Revenue by Business Segment, Line of Business, 
and by Geographical Region 

The below tables summarize the Company's insurance contract revenue by line of business and by 
geographical location of the subsidiary where the premium is written for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023. Results are reported under one segment.

INSURANCE CONTRACT REVENUE BY BUSINESS SEGMENT AND BY LINE OF BUSINESS

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

2024 2023

P&C Operations:

Property  17,399  22,361 

Specialty & Professional  2,460  11,594 

Casualty  2,596  4,602 

P&C Insurance 22,455 38,557

Casualty  802,946  805,725 

Property Other  644,781  595,178 

Property Catastrophe  424,844  405,372 

Global Specialty  321,787  259,951 

Other (a)  341,161  289,153 

P&C Reinsurance  2,535,519  2,355,379 

Total P&C Operations  2,557,974  2,393,936 

(a) Other within the reinsurance segment includes:  credit & surety, crop, cyber and other lines.

INSURANCE CONTRACT REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

2024 2023

P&C Operations:

Bermuda  587,971  521,386 

United States  492,202  490,706 

Europe  513,913  469,271 

United Kingdom  636,817  569,377 

Other  327,071  343,196 

Total P&C Operations  2,557,974  2,393,936 
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A.7   Breakdown of Investments and Material Income and Expenses for the 
Reporting Period 

A.7.1   Breakdown of Investments 

Debt securities represent the majority of the Company’s investment portfolio. The Company invests in a 
diversified portfolio of highly rated debt securities. In addition, the Company holds investment funds and real 
estate investments. 

The following table summarizes the fair value and carrying value of the Company’s investment portfolio as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023:  

                    
Investments as per Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Fair value
Carrying 

value
% (of Total 

Investments) Fair value Carrying value

% (of Total 
Investment

s)

Investment in real estate 
properties at amortized cost 102,034 102,876  1.5 % 230,181 182,212  2.7 %

Debt instruments 5,945,763 5,945,763  89.5 % 6,190,168 6,190,168  90.2 %

Equity instruments  44,156  44,156  0.7 % 41,192 41,192  0.6 %

Non-consolidated investment 
funds  551,307  551,307  8.3 % 446,333 446,333  6.5 %

Subtotal Financial instruments 
(excluding Loans)  6,541,226  6,541,226  98.5 % 6,677,692 6,677,692  97.3 %

Total Financial instruments  6,541,226  6,541,226  98.5 % 6,677,692 6,677,692  97.3 %

INVESTMENTS  6,643,259  6,644,102  100.0 %  6,907,874  6,859,904  100.0 %

The following tables summarize the components of net investment result for the years ended December 31,  
2024 and 2023:

(US Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023

Investment Return

Net investment income  258,556  219,494 

Net realized gains and losses relating to investments at cost and at fair value through 
OCI  27,335  (38,530) 

Net realized gains and losses and change in fair value of other investments at fair value 
through profit or loss  27,498  83,036 

Change in impairment on investments  (188)  2,145 

Investment return through profit or loss  313,201  266,144 

Realised capital gains or losses on equity instruments measured at fair value through 
OCI, without recycling in profit or loss  —  115 

Changes in fair value of financial investments through OCI (a)  (97,771)  29,613 

Investment return through OCI  (97,771)  29,728 

Impact of Investment return on the statement of comprehensive income (before 
tax)  215,429  295,872 

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD FINANCIAL CONDITION REPORT 2024

8| Page



(a)  Including both the change in fair value with recycling in profit or loss and the change in fair value without        
recycling in profit or loss. 

Net investment income is presented net of impairment charges on directly-owned investment properties, 
and net of amortization of debt instruments premiums/discounts. All investment management fees are also 
included in the aggregate figure.

Net realized gains and losses relating to investments at cost and at fair value through shareholder’s 
equity include write back of impairment following investment sales.

Net realized gains and losses and change in fair value of investments designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss consist mainly of:

• changes in the fair value of investments designated as at fair value through profit or loss held by funds, 

• changes in fair value of underlying hedged items in fair value hedges (as designated by IAS 39) or "natural 
hedges" (i.e. underlying assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss part of an economic 
hedge not eligible for hedge accounting as defined by IAS 39).

The changes in investment impairments for available for sale assets include impairment charges on 
investments, and release of impairments only following revaluation of the recoverable amount. Write back of 
impairments following investment sales are included in the net realized capital gains or losses on 
investments in aggregate.

A.7.2   Material Income and Expenses for the Reporting Period for the Company

The Company's primary source of revenue is premiums from reinsurance contracts. Under IFRS 17, 
Insurance contract revenue is presented net of acquisition costs. 

Insurance revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $2.56 billion compared to $2.39 billion for the 
year ended December 31, 2023. Details by line of business and geographical location are provided in section 
A.6 above.

The Company's material expenses are driven by claims, acquisition costs and operational expenses. 
Insurance services expenses include gross claims and attributed expenses net of reinstatement premiums. 

For the years ended December 31,  2024 and 2023, the Company incurred $266.0 million and $221.2 million in 
undiscounted losses (pre-tax, net of reinsurance and reinstatement premiums) from natural catastrophes 
("Nat Cats"), respectively.  The Company also realized favorable net prior year development ("PYD") on 
losses of $1.1 million and $56.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Net expenses for reinsurance contracts held included ceded premiums earned, ceded claims recoverable and 
ceded acquisition costs. 

Pre-Tax Expense Type 2024 2023

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Insurance service expenses  1,883,000  1,656,993 

Net expenses/(recoveries) from reinsurance contracts held  205,204  395,274 

Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts issued  146,333  192,951 

Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held  (43,899)  (25,253) 

Other income and expenses  49,662  6,802 

Amortization of intangible assets  1,745  1,901 

Total  2,242,045  2,228,668 

A.8   Other Material Information  

AXA XL Re was incorporated in Bermuda on December 10, 2020 in accordance with Section 14 of the 
Companies Act 1981 under the original name, Redesign Reinsurance Ltd, and changed its name to AXA XL 
Reinsurance Ltd on January 7, 2021. Effective February 3, 2021, AXA XL Re was licensed in Bermuda as a 
Class 4 insurer in accordance with Section 4 of the Insurance Act 1978.
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For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has calculated its Enhanced Capital 
Requirement ("ECR") using the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement ("BSCR") standard formula. The 
results are consolidated in AXA XL Re's consolidated financial statements, which are prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

The Company is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AXA and is a member of AXA XL, the P&C and 
specialty risk division of the AXA Group.

The following are the direct and pertinent indirect subsidiary closures/transfers during 2024:

• The Company's subsidiary, XL Reinsurance America Inc., sold its 51% interest in XL Reinsurance (China) 
Company Limited to AXA China Region Insurance Company, an affiliated company, effective as of 1 April 
2024.

• The Company’s subsidiary, Catlin Re Switzerland Ltd (“CRCH”), sold its subsidiary, AXA XL Resseguros 
S.A., to the Company’s shareholder, AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd, effective as of 30 June 2024.

• The Company’s subsidiaries, CRCH and AXA XL Services (Bermuda) Ltd, sold XL Re Latin America 
Argentina SA effective as of 30 June 2024.

Please refer to section A.5 Group structure, for Appendix 1 - AXA XL Group Structure Chart 2024 Q4 which 
presents the Group structure effective as of December 31, 2024.

Implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 17 and 9 

The Company implemented both IFRS 17 and 9 effective January 1, 2023. As anticipated, the BMA released a 
Consultation Paper in May 2023 and subsequently its stakeholder feedback in November 2023. AXA XL 
submitted its quarterly statutory financial returns which incorporated the IFRS 17 accounting standards for 
each quarter of 2023 and has prepared the 2023 year-end filings on a similar basis. The BSCR encompasses 
an Economic Balance Sheet (“EBS”) which is the basis for calculating the Required Capital, and this 
requirement has not changed and hence, IFRS 17 has not impacted the ECR calculation.

Bermuda Corporate Income Tax

On December 27, 2023, the Government of Bermuda enacted the Corporate Income Tax Act 2023 (“The 
Act”), which introduces a 15% corporate income tax ("CIT") on Bermuda businesses that are part of a 
Multinational Enterprise group with annual revenue of EURO 750 million or more. The effective date for the 
CIT is January 1, 2025 and the Company will be subject to this CIT starting for the 2025 fiscal year. Pursuant 
to this legislation, the Company reported a $1.8 million deferred tax liability in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements (IFRS) as of December 31, 2024 ($5.1 million deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2023) 
primarily related to temporary timing differences. 

Pursuant to the guidance issued by the Bermuda Monetary Authority on February 20, 2025, a net deferred 
tax liability has been reflected for the first time in the Company's Statutory Financial Statements ($0.7 
million) and Economic Balance Sheet ($43.6m) for the year ended December 31, 2024.  The impact on 
reflecting the CIT on the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement Ratio is an improvement in the ratio of 
8.7%.  

The Bermuda income tax was introduced in response to international tax reform released by the 
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”), known as Pillar Two, which aims to 
ensure that an effective taxation of 15% is achieved in each jurisdiction where multinational groups operate. 
This OECD Pillar Two tax reform is effective in France, where the AXA SA ("AXA Group") head office is 
located, starting for the 2024 fiscal year. As a result, AXA Group determined the effective tax rate based on 
Pillar Two rules in each jurisdiction where it operates, and, if the Bermuda rate for 2024 was lower than the 
Pillar Two minimum 15% rate, an additional tax liability was established at the AXA Group level. 

Investment Portfolio YTD Movement

The market value of the investment portfolio decreased by $(0.2) billion in 2024, largely driven by the 
deconsolidation of AXA XL Resseguros S.A portfolio, with a modest increase in rates throughout the year. 
The portfolio movement was driven by net cash outflows for capital remittance and operational needs of 
$0.2 billion, the deconsolidation of AXA XL Resseguros S.A  portfolio of $0.1 billion, a $0.1 billion decrease in 
the market value of the Fixed Income portfolio and negative impact from foreign exchange ("FX") translation 
of Non-USD denominated assets due to a slight weakening of Euro ("EUR") and British pound sterling ("GBP") 
currencies against United States dollar ("USD"), offset by reinvested investment income of $0.2 billion.
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Despite periods of elevated market volatility, the fixed income portfolio remains well diversified and of high 
quality with an average credit rating of A+. Over the course of the year, volatility in interest rates presented 
opportunities to enhance future investment earnings by reinvesting at higher market yields.

Other Material Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2024, there is no other material information regarding business and 
performance required to be disclosed for purposes of this Financial Condition Report.
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B.   Governance Structure 
This section provides particulars of corporate governance, risk management and solvency self-assessment 
frameworks.

B.1   Board and Senior Executive 

B.1.1   Structure of the Board and Senior Executive, Roles, Responsibilities and 
Segregation of Responsibilities 

Directors of the Company

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) oversees the effective management of AXA XL Re’s 
business and affairs and is responsible for the maintenance of an effective corporate governance framework. 
The Board is elected annually and as at December 31, 2024, consisted of the following six directors, each of 
whom, with the exception of Helen Gillis and Jacques de Peretti, is a senior executive of AXA XL or another 
member of the AXA Group.

Director*

• Helen Gillis (Non-Executive Director)

• Mark Twite

• Nancy Bewlay

• Simon Argent

• Renaud Guidée

• Jacques de Peretti (Non-Executive Director)

Executive Committee*

The Board has established a committee of senior executives of the Company representing key functions 
(e.g. reinsurance, legal, compliance and regulatory affairs, risk management, finance, and human resources) 
(the “Executive Committee”). The Executive Committee assists the Board with its oversight responsibilities. 
Specifically, the principal objectives of the Executive Committee are to:  

• Assist with the implementation of the approved AXA XL Re business plans;

• Execute necessary actions required of AXA XL Re under applicable legal and regulatory regimes;

• Review, consider, and if deemed appropriate, approve certain ordinary course transactions to be entered 
into by AXA XL Re;

• Assist with the implementation of directives from the AXA XL Re Board and the oversight of AXA XL Re’s 
compliance with AXA XL and AXA Group strategy; and

• Promote the AXA Group’s and AXA XL’s interests within the Bermuda reinsurance market and wider 
Bermuda business community. 

On a quarterly basis, the Executive Committee provides reports to the Board that: (i) detail any material 
issues or matters that have arisen with the Company and any of its subsidiaries; and (ii) summarize any 
matters approved by the Executive Committee pertaining to the Company.

Executive Committee Members

• Mark Twite – Chief Executive Officer, Reinsurance

• Pamela Roye  – Chief Financial Officer, Reinsurance*

• Maria Morzello – Chief Risk Officer, Bermuda & North America

• Leila Madeiros – Head of Compliance and Regulatory Affairs, Bermuda, and Money Laundering Reporting 
Officer 
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• Carla Whitehurst - Secretary and Head of Legal, Bermuda

• Stephen Smith – Head of Claims, Bermuda **

* Pamela Roye was appointed a member of the Executive Committee on February 25, 2025, replacing  
Tonia Morgan who resigned, effective June 21, 2024.

**Stephen Smith was appointed a member of the Executive Committee effective August 22, 2024. 

B.1.2   Executive/Employee Compensation

Director Compensation

With the exception of Jacques de Peretti and Helen Gillis, Directors of the Company are not separately 
compensated for their roles on the Board.

Executive Compensation

The Company has a Remuneration Policy in place, the purpose of which is to outline how the Company, and 
the AXA XL Division in general, ensures that the setting of remuneration is appropriate and transparent and 
promotes sound and effective risk management within approved risk tolerance limits. The Remuneration 
Policy, which was formally adopted by the Company in 2022, contains a multi-tiered governance and 
compliance structure including oversight at the AXA Group, AXA XL and Company levels. Together, the AXA 
Group and AXA XL Remuneration Policies are designed to support AXA Group and AXA XL's long-term 
business strategy and to align the interests of its employees and other stakeholders, by: 

• Establishing a clear link between performance and remuneration over the short, medium and long term; 

• Ensuring that the Company can offer competitive compensation arrangements across the multiple 
markets in which it operates while avoiding potential conflicts of interest that may lead to undue risk 
taking for short-term gain; and 

• Ensuring compliance with Solvency II regulations and any other applicable regulatory requirements 
wherever required.

AXA XL’s Remuneration Policy follows four main guiding principles: 

• Competitiveness and market consistency of the remuneration practices; 

• Fairness, based on individual and collective performance in order to ensure remuneration is reflecting 
employee’s individual quantitative and qualitative achievements and impact;  

• Internal equity based on remuneration policies and procedures designed to ensure that employees are 
paid equitably based on criteria such as role, experience, education, skills, contribution or impact only; 
and do not discriminate on the basis of factors irrelevant to the role; and

• Achievement of AXA Group and AXA XL’s overall financial and operational objectives over the short, 
medium and long-term as well as execution against medium and long-term strategic objectives as a 
prerequisite to fund any mid-to long-term award.  

The Company ensures an appropriate balance between fixed and variable components of remuneration 
where the fixed component represents a sufficiently high proportion of the total remuneration to avoid 
employees being overly dependent on the variable components. AXA XL adheres to a clear distinction 
between the criteria used for setting fixed and variable remuneration.

The balance of fixed and variable compensation is consistent with competitive market practice in the 
insurance industry. Variable pay for colleagues in independent control functions is not aligned with the 
performance of the businesses they oversee and is designed to avoid conflicts of interest while appropriately 
balancing risk and reward. 

An overview of the arrangements that are in place are as follows:

• Fixed Remuneration - The fixed component is comprised of base salary and any other fixed allowances. 
Fixed remuneration primarily reflects the relevant organizational responsibility, professional experience, 
technical and leadership skills required of the role, criticality or scarcity of skills as well as the individual’s 
capability to sustainably perform the duties of the role;
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• Short Term Incentives - Individual bonus awards are determined based on an assessment of both 
business and individual performance. Business performance is linked to key performance indicators 
established at the beginning of the year. Individual performance is assessed through a robust 
performance management process. Staff have a bonus target amount expressed as a percentage of 
base pay. Individual bonuses are not guaranteed and pay-outs are capped at 200% of individual target, 
which prevents employees from taking excessive risks to obtain an excessive pay-out; and

• Long-Term Incentive Plan - Long-term incentive awards are reserved for those who perform at a high 
level, recognize the recipient’s anticipated future contributions, and take relative and absolute 
performance, individual potential and unique skills into consideration. Grants of long-term incentives are 
based on the criticality of the job within the organization, the criticality of the individual in the current job 
and potential for the future, and the sustainability of the individual contribution.

B.1.3   Pension or Early Retirement Schemes for Members, Board and Senior Employees

The Company’s remuneration program does not include any supplementary pension or early retirement 
schemes for its non-Executive Directors or its senior executives.

B.1.4   Shareholder Controllers, Persons who Exercise Significant Influence, the Board or 
Senior Executive Material Transactions

Other than distributions paid to the Company’s shareholder during 2024, the Company is not aware of any 
other material transactions required to be disclosed for purposes of this FCR.

B.2   Fitness and Propriety Requirements

B.2.1   Fit and Proper Process in Assessing the Board and Senior Executive

AXA XL recognizes that the legal entities within AXA XL that engage in (re)insurance business, such as the 
Company, benefit from the fit and proper processes that are in place at the AXA XL divisional level. However, 
these entities also have a responsibility to ensure that they have adequate risk management processes in 
place and are therefore expected to implement fit and proper processes that meet the standards set out in 
this Fit and Proper Policy in a proportionate manner and in accordance with applicable law or regulation.

Board of Directors: Fit and Proper Assessment

The process for assessing the skills and characteristics for new candidates, and for the Board as a whole on 
an annual basis, will include consideration of the following criteria:

• personal qualities and characteristics, including business judgement, integrity, high standards of ethical 
conduct and distinction in their chosen fields of endeavors;

• diversity of viewpoints, skills, experience, background, orientations and other demographics in the 
context of the needs of the Board; and

•  such other attributes and external factors deemed appropriate.

Executive: Fit and Proper Assessment

The fit and proper assessment, of a person shall include:

• an assessment of that person's professional and formal qualification, knowledge and relevant experience 
within the insurance sector, other financial sectors or other business and shall take into account the 
respective duties allocated to that person and, where relevant, the insurance, financial, accounting, 
actuarial and management skills of the person; and

• an assessment of that person's honesty and financial soundness based on evidence regarding their 
character, personal behavior and business conduct including any criminal, financial and supervisory 
aspects relevant for the purposes of the assessment.

Additionally, the Company maintains a standard recruitment process to assist in the assessment of whether 
candidates for executive positions are fit and proper. The recruitment process includes:

• ensuring that job specifications adequately reflect the position being recruited and appropriately                   
identifies the necessary skills and qualifications required for the position, 
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• contacting local recruitment agencies/executive search firms and establishing broad and informal panels 
of agencies for particular areas of expertise to ensure that the most appropriate matching can take 
place; and 

• undertaking, on an outsourced basis, a series of checks in relation to the candidate after the offer has 
been communicated to them and the satisfactory completion of detailed relevant background checks.

B.2.2   Board and Senior Executives' Professional Qualifications, Skills, and Expertise

Board of Directors:

As of December 31, 2024 the following persons were appointed as the Directors of the Company:

Directors*

• Mark Twite

• Nancy Bewlay

• Jacques de Peretti (Non-Executive Director)

• Helen Gillis (Non-Executive Director)

• Simon Argent

• Renaud Guidée

Mark Twite: Mr. Mark Twite was appointed CEO of the Bermuda Reinsurance division on October 3, 2022. 
During his tenure at AXA XL, Mr. Twite has held the following positions: From 2017-2022: Chief Financial 
Officer Reinsurance (CFO) covering all regions. Prior to that he took on numerous roles including Head of 
Strategic Business Finance for the Group in 2019. From 2009-2015: (“Chief Financial Officer") CFO of both XL 
Re Latin America and XL Re Ltd; in June 2013 the additional role of CFO of XL Re America Inc; in 2014 also 
took on the role of CFO of Catlin Insurance Company Ltd, and in November 2014 also became President of 
XL Life Ltd. From 2004-2009 he was the Financial Controller of XL Re Ltd. Prior to joining XL, he was Financial 
Controller of Liberty Syndicates (the Lloyd’s of London operation of the Liberty Mutual Group). Mr. Twite 
qualified from Deloitte & Touche in 1998 while working in their London Insurance practice. Mr. Twite is a 
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants England & Wales and holds a BSC (Econ) from the London 
School of Economics. He has worked over 30 years in (Re)Insurance, including over 20 years with AXA XL.

Nancy Bewlay: Ms. Nancy Bewlay is the Group Chief Underwriting & Pricing Officer, AXA. Ms. Bewlay leads 
AXA Group’s Underwriting Office, Pricing Function and the Ceded Re division. She is responsible for the 
underwriting governance, pricing, and ceded reinsurance programme across all AXA entities.  Ms. Bewlay 
works closely with the global business unit leaders to develop technical underwriting product strategies to 
achieve their financial objectives, and leverage data and analytics to drive underwriting excellence and 
profitability. She is also a member of AXA’s Management Committee.  Ms. Bewlay joined XL Catlin (now AXA 
XL) in 2017 as Global Chief Underwriting Officer for Casualty and worked to integrate the newly acquired 
business into AXA Group. She progressed to take up the role of Global Chief Underwriting Officer and most 
recently led AXA XL’s reinsurance business as Chief Executive Officer.  Ms. Bewlay has more than 30 years of 
industry experience and has held numerous leadership roles at insurance and reinsurance carriers.

Jacques de Peretti: Mr. Jacques de Peretti was appointed non-executive director for the Company on 
October 25, 2022. Mr. de Peretti is a graduate of École Polytechnique of Paris, École Nationale Supérieure 
d'Aéronautique et de l'Espace of Toulouse (France), and the Institut d'Études Politiques of Toulouse (France). 
He holds a Master of Sciences from Stanford University (United States) and a post graduate degree in 
actuarial sciences from the Institut des Actuaires Français. Mr. de Peretti  joined the AXA Group with the UAP 
merger in 1996. He managed different AXA France regions, before joining the AXA France Executive 
Committee in 2001 and being appointed CEO of AXA Courtage (the former broker dedicated company of 
AXA France) in 2001, CEO of AXA Entreprises in 2003, CEO of AXA Particuliers/Professionnels in 2009. From 
2015 to June 2016, he was Chairman & CEO of AXA Japan and a member of the AXA Group Executive 
Committee. From July 2016 to April 2021, he was Chairman & CEO of AXA France and a member of the 
Group’s Management Committee. From May 2021 to January 2023, Mr. de Peretti  was Senior Advisor to 
Thomas Buberl, CEO of AXA Group and member of the AXA Group Executive Committee. Since January 
2023, Mr. de Peretti serves as a non-executive chairman and director of boards of AXA entities.

Helen Gillis: Ms. Helen Gillis was appointed non-executive director for the Company on April 21, 2022, and 
appointed Chair of the Audit Committee effective April 1, 2023. Ms. Gillis was appointed as an independent 
director of XL Bermuda Ltd on August 27,2024 and Chair of the XL Bermuda Ltd Audit Committee effective 
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March 1, 2025. Ms. Gillis served as CFO and an Executive Director of JRG Reinsurance Company Ltd (“JRG 
Re”), from April 2017 until July 2021. Prior to joining JRG Re, Ms. Gillis held the position of Senior Vice 
President Financial Reporting and Planning at Allied World Assurance Company, as well as other senior 
positions during her 10 years with Allied World. Prior to that, she served as Assistant Vice President, 
Accounting and Finance with American International Co Ltd and worked in the Insurance Group with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Bermuda.  Ms. Gillis graduated magna cum laude from Saint Mary’s University in 
Halifax, Nova Scotia with a Bachelor of Commerce and holds a Chartered Accountancy Diploma from the 
Atlantic School of Chartered Accountancy.

Simon Argent: Mr. Simon Argent is Head of Financial Risk Management and Chief Risk Officer – Bermuda for 
AXA XL. Prior to that he held the position of Senior Vice President, Head of Credit Risk Management for XL 
Catlin. He joined XL in 2004 and has 38+ years of (re)insurance industry experience. Before joining AXA XL, 
Mr. Argent spent 12 years in senior risk management, underwriting and account executive positions with 
Kingsway Financial Services and General Reinsurance. Prior to this he held underwriting positions with 
Progressive Casualty Insurance and Safeco Insurance. Mr. Argent is a Chartered Financial Analyst and holds 
an MBA from the Schulich School of Business in Toronto along with professional designations from the 
Insurance Institutes of Canada and America. 

Renaud Guidée: Mr. Renaud Guidée was appointed Chief Executive Officer, Reinsurance AXA XL in June 
2023, taking office in September 2023. Prior to that role, Mr. Guidée served as Group Chief Risk Officer from 
September 2019. Prior to joining AXA, Mr. Guidée was a Managing Director with Goldman Sachs, a role to 
which he was promoted in 2015 after having served as Executive Director from 2011, based in London then in 
Paris. Within Goldman Sachs’ Investment Banking Division, he advised large corporate clients across 
industries, with a total cross-border transaction experience (M&A and capital markets) exceeding $150bn. 
Previously, Mr. Guidée served as sherpa to former IMF Managing Director Michel Camdessus in 2010, after 
having joined the Inspection Générale des Finances (the office within France’s Finance Ministry in charge of 
carrying out strategic reviews and assessing the cost efficiency of public policies) in 2007. His earlier policy-
making training included a secondment in the Cabinet of the European Commissioner for External Relations 
in 2005. Mr. Guidée graduated from HEC (2003) and from ENA (2007). He also holds an advanced degree in 
international taxation (2003) and passed the admittance exam to the Paris bar school in 2003. Mr. Guidée’s 
commitment to diversity and equal opportunities translates into community involvement as member of the 
Board of Article 1, a Paris-based non-profit organization mentoring high-potential students from low-
income suburbs (since 2010) and formerly as member of the jury of the affirmative action admission process 
to Sciences-Po, where he also lectured in economics. Mr. Guidée is a fellow (2013) and former jury member 
(2018, 2019) of the Young Leaders program of the French American Foundation, on the Board of Directors of 
which he now serves as representative for AXA.

AXA XL Re Senior Executives:

Mark Twite: Chief Executive Officer - See above under “Board of Directors"

Tonia Morgan: Ms.Tonia Morgan, former Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) resigned, effective June 21, 2024. 
Prior to her resignation, Ms. Tonia Morgan was appointed CFO, Reinsurance Bermuda on January 1, 2023. Ms. 
Morgan joined AXA XL in 2018. She brings over 20 years’ experience in the reinsurance industry. Prior to this 
appointment, Ms. Morgan served as Head of Finance Reinsurance Ceded, overseeing the financial reporting 
for the AXA XL Insurance Linked Securities (ILS) team’s Alternative Capital and Ceded Reinsurance 
structures. Prior to joining AXA XL, Ms. Morgan worked at Aeolus Capital Management Limited and Hiscox 
Bermuda Ltd. where she focused primarily on financial reporting for alternative capital and ILS fund 
structures.  Her previous experience also includes almost five years as Assistant Vice President, Corporate 
Reporting at Validus Holdings. She has also held positions at XL Capital and Aon Insurance Managers 
Bermuda. Ms. Morgan is a CPA, CA and member of CPA Bermuda. She holds a Bachelor of Business 
Management from Ryerson University and has also earned CPCU and Associate in Reinsurance (ARe) 
designations from the American Institute for Chartered Property Casualty Underwriters.

Pamela Roye: Ms. Pamela Roye was appointed Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of AXA XL Reinsurance 
Bermuda on January 6, 2025. She brings over 20 years’ experience in the (re)insurance industry. Prior to 
joining AXA XL, Ms. Roye held the position of CFO and Company Secretary at Gloucester Insurance Ltd., a 
role to which she was promoted in 2018 after serving 8 years as Financial Controller. Her previous experience 
includes positions at Aon Insurance Managers, Bermuda, Chubb European Group SE, and Swiss Re Europe 
S.A. Ms. Roye is a Chartered Global Management Accountant and member of CPA Bermuda. She holds a 
Bachelor of Business Studies from the London Metropolitan University and has earned the Chartered 
Property Casualty Underwriter (“CPCU”) and Associate in Reinsurance (“ARe”) designations from the 
American Institute for Chartered Property Casualty Underwriters.

Leila Madeiros: Ms. Leila Madeiros was appointed Head of Compliance and Regulatory Affairs-Bermuda on 
April 23, 2018. She has more than 35 years of experience in the (re)insurance industry. Prior to joining AXA 
XL, Ms. Madeiros was the Senior Vice President, Deputy Director and Corporate Secretary of the Association 
of Bermuda Insurers and Reinsurers (ABIR). She also served on the staff of the BMA as the Deputy Director of 
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Policy, Research and Communications directing the formulation and dissemination of appropriate policies, 
strategies and information for the BMA. Ms. Madeiros also served in various capacities as a Bermuda 
insurance regulator with the Registrar of Companies Department (prior to 2002, the agency charged with 
insurance supervision). Ms. Madeiros developed her insurance expertise working at Heddington Insurance 
Limited in Hamilton and London before becoming an insurance regulator.

Carla Whitehurst: Mrs. Carla Whitehurst was appointed SVP, Head of Legal Bermuda on March 6, 2020. Ms. 
Whitehurst is an attorney licensed to practice law in Bermuda, Maryland, and Jamaica. She has over 24 years 
of experience as in-house counsel at (re)insurance companies in Bermuda. She currently is SVP, Head of 
Legal, Bermuda at AXA XL Bermuda offices, having been with the Company since 2015. Prior to that she was 
at Markel Bermuda Ltd for 10 years as VP Senior Legal Counsel, and before that she worked at Oil Insurance 
Limited and also at Commercial Risk Reinsurance. Her broad experience ranges from insurance and 
reinsurance law, claims supervision, and corporate governance to general company law. She has also been 
active in a number of local Bermuda initiatives for the youth, including serving on the Board of Trustees of the 
Bermuda Foundation for Insurance Studies and providing reading Mentorship for YouthNet as well as The 
Reading Clinic. Ms. Whitehurst holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemistry from Howard University in 
Washington DC, and a Juris Doctorate degree from the University of Maryland School of Law, Maryland.

Mandy White: Ms. White former Human Resources Business Partner, Bermuda resigned, effective June 21, 
2024. Prior to her resignation, Ms. White was appointed Human Resources Business Partner, Bermuda on 
October 14, 2019. Prior to assuming her role at AXA XL, she held the position of Senior Vice President, 
Human Resources for Tokio Millennium Re Ltd. Ms. White has over 20 years of Human Resource Experience. 
She holds a Senior Professional Human Resources (SPHR) designation from the HR Certification Institute and 
a M.A. Human Resources Development and Business Management from Webster University. 

Maria Morzello: Ms. Maria Morzello was appointed Chief Risk Officer, Bermuda & North America for AXA XL 
Reinsurance on June 1, 2023. Ms Morzello has over 15 years’ experience in the (re)insurance industry. At AXA 
XL, she has held the role of Senior Capital Modeling Analyst, Head of Capital Model Regional Reporting and 
Senior Risk Manager. She also held a Senior Capital & Liquidity Manager position for the Americas region at 
Swiss Re Corporate Solutions. Ms. Morzello began her career working in the Treasury Department at Morgan 
Stanley. She holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Mathematics from Boston College.

Stephen Smith: Mr. Stephen Smith is the Head of Claims for AXA XL Re, a position he has held since joining 
the company (Mid Ocean Re) in January 1994. Prior to his employment with AXA XL, Mr. Smith was the Claims 
Manager at Johnson and Higgins (now Marsh) where he commenced his career in the Insurance industry as a 
Claims Trainee in the Captive arena. Mr. Smith worked for J&H for just over eleven years before making the 
move to the reinsurance industry. Mr. Smith is primarily experienced in Property and Casualty claims. Mr. 
Smith’s day-to-day activities mostly involves the management of a small Claims Team and includes the 
oversight of several major event losses. In addition to his management responsibilities, Mr. Smith’s duties 
include Compliance, internal and external Audit, and assists IT in the development of systems aimed at 
enhancing efficiencies in the Company.

B.3   Risk Management and Solvency Self-Assessment 

B.3.1   Risk Management Process and Procedures to Effectively Identify, Measure, 
Manage and Report on Risk Exposures

The Company faces strategic, financial and operational risks related to, among others: underwriting 
activities, financial reporting, changing macroeconomic conditions, investments, reserving, changes in laws 
or regulations, information systems, business interruption and fraud. An enterprise view of risk is required to 
identify and manage the consequences of these common risks and risk drivers on the Company's 
profitability, capital strength and liquidity. This is managed by the Risk Management ("RM") function, an 
integrated part of all business processes, who define and deploy the Risk Management Framework (“RMF”).

The Company RMF consists of a set of risk policies and standards. These are reviewed and approved by the 
Board, at least annually. The RMF would be reviewed more regularly if the Company was subject to a major 
change in regulatory requirements, strategy or organizational structure. 

The aim of the RMF is to:

• Support business objectives and strategy. 

• Provide management information to facilitate the identification and understanding of material risks 
including related mitigants.

• Contribute to the Company's overall Internal Control Framework by helping to manage the inherent 
complexity within the business.
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• Maintain the desired credit rating which is applicable to the Company.

• Support regulatory risk management requirements.

The Board meets regularly and oversees the implementation and embedding of the RMF and monitoring of 
Company performance against risk appetite. The Board also has responsibility for capital monitoring. The 
Board ensures that material and emerging risks are identified and reported and that appropriate 
arrangements are in place to manage and mitigate those risks effectively. 

AXA XL and the Company are required by AXA Group to comply with AXA Group policies and standards. The 
AXA Group Standards form part of the overall risk management framework including Compliance, Internal 
Audit, Internal Control and Risk Management. AXA Group Standards have specifically identified Divisional and 
Company standard owners. The Group Solvency II Policies have been implemented and adapted to AXA XL 
specificities as described in the AXA XL Solvency II Policies. These policies are also implemented at legal 
entity level with local addenda. The Solvency II Policies implement AXA’s risk strategy, facilitate control 
mechanisms and consider the nature, scope and time horizon of the business and the associated risks.

The AXA Standards include Risk Management Second Opinions, the Internal Control Framework and the Risk 
Appetite Framework which are outlined below. 

Risk Management Second Opinions

The AXA Standards require Risk Management to provide formal "Second Opinions" in certain key areas of risk 
to ensure that the viewpoint of Risk Management is formally documented within any related concerns and 
mitigation plans. The "Second Opinions" are provided by Risk Management "Centers of Excellence" at the 
Divisional level and cover the following areas:

• New products and loss-making portfolios.

• Reserves.

• New investments and changes to the Strategic Asset Allocation ("SAA").

• Strategic business plan.

• Ceded Reinsurance (outwards) program

• Major projects.

• Mergers and Acquisitions

Internal Control Framework

The AXA XL Internal Control team, within the Risk Management function, manages the AXA Internal Control 
Framework at AXA XL divisional level and monitors the overall system of controls, covering all AXA XL 
departments and processes, ensuring all controls are performed. The AXA Internal Control Framework 
provides a robust and effective approach by:  

• Implementing a risk-based approach to focus on risks that really matter. 

• Promoting management accountability for controls. 

• Introducing a common set of tools and techniques to be consistently used across the Group.

• Improving coordination between the different control functions.

The AXA XL framework covers a total of 30 macro-processes for AXA XL that constitute the AXA XL value 
chain for insurance and reinsurance business. For each macro-process, key risks are defined and for each key 
risk, control objectives are defined to cover them. For each control objective, controls are designed and 
operated locally to efficiently meet control objectives and mitigate the related key risk.

The AXA XL Internal Control team is also responsible for the Internal Financial Control framework, looking at 
key controls around financial reporting and Solvency II across the Division. This framework has been in place 
at AXA XL for many years and provides reasonable assurance to legal entities within the Division that 
financial reporting is reliable and compliant with applicable laws and regulations and provides comfort over 
the completeness, accuracy, and appropriateness of data. 

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD FINANCIAL CONDITION REPORT 2024

18| Page



Risk Appetite Framework ("RAF") 

The Company's RAF is a key dimension of the risk management strategy and is derived from the AXA Group 
RAF. The RAF distinguishes between 'Risk Appetite Statements' which apply to multiple risk types, and 'Risk 
Appetite Exposures' which apply to single risk types. In addition, there exists the potential for additional 'Risk 
Indicators' which are not explicitly specified in the scope of the RAF but are identified as required by the 
Company. The RAF is used to provide governance for setting new monitoring requirements, as well as 
reviewing and updating existing risk appetite statements, tolerances, and limits, so that these are aligned 
with business and risk management strategies. The Company's RAF and indicators focus on regulatory 
capital at risk, tolerances to risks from material individual events (e.g. natural catastrophes, realistic disaster 
scenarios that cross multiple lines of business, etc.), liquidity standards and tolerance to specific investment 
related risks. The Board approved risk appetites and risk tolerances were reviewed during the 2025 business 
planning process and it was determined that all statements and tolerances were appropriate to allow the 
Company to execute the 2025 business plan. 

Risk Management Strategy

The risk management strategy is overseen by the Board and supports the delivery of the overall business 
strategy. To support the Board, the RM function oversees more detailed risk management activity and 
monitoring against the Board approved risk appetites.

The risk management strategy is to ensure that risk implications, as well as reward, are considered in both 
setting and implementing the Company's strategic and business objectives, and risks associated with the 
strategic direction of the business are appropriately monitored. The strategy is articulated in the risk policies 
and is achieved by incorporating risk processes, information, and decisions in the day to day running of the 
business.

The Company's strategy involves taking on risk in order to generate return. Risks are selected and controlled 
or traded off through the risk strategy that focuses on:

• Retaining risk within an approved risk appetite that is consistent with the Company’s strategic objectives 
while maintaining appropriate levels of capital.

• A diversified portfolio of underwriting and financial markets risks.

• Managing excessive aggregation risk via a limit framework.

• Exercising consistency and transparency of risk management and control across the Company.  

• Risk mitigation on key underwriting and financial market risks to protect capital from the impact of 
extreme events; and  

• Risk reporting to the Board and other stakeholders (e.g. regulators).

The risk management strategy and risk appetite frameworks are supported by the following:

• Risk Governance - a clear and cost-effective organizational structure for risk management, including 
clear roles and responsibilities. The Company operates a ‘Three Lines of Defense’ governance structure, 
at a functional level and at a management committee level.

• Risk Definition and Categorization - provides a common taxonomy and language for risk to allow for 
categorization of all risks in a way which facilitates links between the business and risk management 
processes.

• Risk Cycle and Processes - the approach taken to top down, bottom up and process led - risk 
identification, quantification and management and control.

• Risk Management Information and Reporting, including Commercial Insurer Solvency Self-
Assessment ("CISSA") Production - ensuring timely and accurate information is reviewed in line with 
the governance structure.

• Risk-Based Decision Making - the results of the CISSA and the insights gained in the CISSA process are 
considered for a range of business decisions.

• Skills, Resources and Risk Culture; Organizational Learning; Change Management Governance - all 
enable a mature risk culture throughout the Company.
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Risk Reporting

A risk dashboard is presented on a regular basis to the Board. The dashboard measures the status against 
risk appetites and the associated monitoring of triggers and limits using the latest output from the business 
and the BSCR. The dashboard includes information related to the monitoring of all the Company's material 
risk categories. 

The Risk Management and Appetite Framework remains appropriate for 2025.

B.3.2   Risk Management and Solvency Self-Assessment Systems Implementation 

The CISSA process includes all material risks, processes and procedures employed to identify, assess, 
monitor, manage, and report the short and long term risks the Company faces or may face and to determine 
the own funds necessary to ensure that the Company's overall solvency needs are met at all times. 

The Regulatory Capital Requirement is derived using the BSCR standard formula. The results are presented 
to the Board to provide richer insights on risk exposures, and to inform and drive risk and capital-based 
decision making.

The processes for the CISSA and production of the CISSA Report are tailored to fit into the Company's 
organizational structures in a proportionate manner with techniques to assess the overall solvency needs 
and taking into consideration the nature, scale, and complexity of the risks inherent to the business.

The risk management cycle is set for key aspects of the risk management process that are deemed to be part 
of the CISSA process and that will support the production of the Company's CISSA Report. The CISSA 
process includes procedures that enable the Company to monitor its compliance with its risk appetites and 
regulatory capital requirements whilst considering potential future changes in the risk profile and considering 
stressed situations.

B.3.3   Relationship between the Solvency Self- Assessment, Solvency Needs, and 
Capital and Risk Management Systems

The Company's RMF is designed to be comprehensive and to provide a sound basis for the set of risk 
appetites, and the capacity to identify, manage and report on key risks facing the Company on a timely basis.  
From this, the Company’s risk profile can be managed in line with its Board approved limit and risk appetite 
framework. 

The Company uses the BSCR to calculate the required CISSA capital to support its business plans on the 
basis of risks facing the business. AXA XL also maintains its own internal model which is used to determine its 
contribution to the AXA Group consolidated solvency position and to assist the Company with its portfolio 
shaping decisions and return metrics.

B.3.4   Solvency Self-Assessment Approval Process 

An overview of the minimum roles and responsibilities required for the CISSA process and the CISSA Report 
are set out below.

BOARD

With respect to the responsibilities relating to RM, the Board:

• Oversees RM activities, including the risk management framework employed by management. With 
respect to the overall risk management framework, the Board (i) reviews the methodology for 
establishing overall risk capacity; (ii) reviews the policies for the establishment of risk limit frameworks, 
and adherence to such limits; and (iii) reviews and approves the Company's risk limits. 

• Oversees compliance with any significant enterprise risk limits, authorities, and policies. The Board 
evaluates what actions to take with respect to such limits, authorities, and policies, and approves any 
exceptions thereto from time to time as necessary. 

• Reviews the overall risk profile and monitors key risks to the Company.

• Monitors the risk management performance and obtains reasonable assurance from management that 
the Company’s risk management policies are effective and are being adhered to. 

The review of the overall risk appetites and the evaluation of the risk impact of any material strategic 
decision being contemplated, including consideration of whether such strategic decision is within the risk 
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profile established, is conducted by the Board. "Risk appetites" as referred to above, are broad statements 
used to guide risk and reward preferences over time, all consistent with, among other factors, business 
prudence, market opportunities, the underwriting pricing cycle, and the investment climate. Risk appetites 
are regularly monitored and can change over time considering the above.

The Board shall, as appropriate, be briefed on the outcomes of key elements of the CISSA process and shall:

• Review and challenge outputs of the CISSA process. 

• Review and challenge the overall annual CISSA report. 

The CISSA processes are independently reviewed to ensure appropriate oversight of the processes and  
outcomes.

CISSA PROCESS OWNERS

The CISSA is made up of several different processes and each of these processes has an owner. These 
process owners are responsible for providing the information to support the undertaking of the CISSA. 

Key CISSA process owners are detailed below: 

CISSA Process Owner

Strategic Planning Chief Executive (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer

Solvency Position Projections Finance and Risk Management

EOF Calculation and BSCR Calculation Finance and Risk Management

Stress Scenarios Finance and Risk Management

Risk Appetite Setting and Monitoring Risk Management

Liquidity Risk Reporting Treasury and Risk Management

Own Funds Tiering Finance

Capital Allocation Finance

Emerging Risks Risk Management

Strategic Risks Risk Management

Reputation Risks Risk Management

Regulatory Risks Legal and Compliance Department

B.4   Internal Controls

The Company operates a ‘Three Lines of Defense’ approach to ensure effective and robust day-to-day 
governance is in place. The Operational line, or the ‘First Line of Defense’, starts with the employees, who are 
tasked with identifying and managing risk on a day-to-day basis as part of their roles. They are supported by 
the ‘Second Line of Defense’, which is made up of oversight functions - specifically Risk Management 
including Internal Control, and Compliance. These functions have responsibility for overseeing and 
challenging day to day management, control, and reporting of risks. The Risk oversight functions are 
independent of management and individuals with responsibility for taking on risk exposures. The Internal 
Audit Function provides the ‘Third Line of Defense’ which provides independent assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Company's system of internal control and reports to the Audit Committee.

The Company is also part of AXA XL's divisional Internal Control Framework which addresses internal 
controls across 30 macro-processes covering all AXA XL departments and processes. This includes an 
Internal Financial Control Framework looking at key controls around financial reporting.

B.4.1   Internal Control System

The ‘Three Lines of Defense’ approach which ensures effective and robust day-to-day governance is in place 
as described above. 

The AXA XL Internal Control team, within Risk Management, is in charge of maintaining the Internal Control 
Framework at AXA XL and of monitoring the overall system of controls, ensuring all controls are performed 
effectively. A roll-out of controls is performed in all key AXA XL legal entities.
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The AXA Internal Control Program was introduced at AXA XL in order to implement a robust and effective 
Internal Control Framework by:

• Implementing a risk-based approach to focus on risks that really matter; 

• Promoting management accountability for controls; 

• Introducing a common set of tools and techniques to be consistently used across the Group; and

• Improving coordination between the different control functions.

The AXA XL Internal Control team is also responsible for the Internal Financial Control Framework, with 
controls in place across the Division to oversee the financial reporting controls. This framework has been in 
place at AXA XL for many years and provides reasonable assurance to legal entities within the Division that 
financial reporting is reliable and compliant with applicable laws and regulations and provides comfort over 
the completeness, accuracy, and appropriateness of data.

Both the Internal Control Framework and the Internal Financial Control Framework are primarily designed to 
operate across the AXA XL Division, with output reported to legal entities. Additionally, for the Internal 
Control Framework, legal entities have implemented bespoke controls, where deemed necessary, to 
mitigate risks within their entities.

The Internal Audit Function represents the ‘Third Line of Defense’, provides independent assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Company's system of internal control and reports to the Audit Committee.

B.4.2   Internal Control Function

The Internal Control function is committed to promote a robust Internal Control Framework, including 
Internal Financial Control, for the Audit Committee, executive management, and external stakeholders to 
rely on for financial and regulatory reporting purposes.   

The Internal Control’s core strategic objectives include:  

• Conducting an effective and efficient assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
controls, including controls over financial reporting;

• Identifying areas in which the inherent risk of financial misstatement is high so that management can 
address these risks before they manifest themselves in an actual misstatement;

• Providing executive management, the Board and AXA Group reasonable assurance over AXA XL's 
processes – in particular on financial reporting; and  

• Adding value by helping management promote a robust control environment.  

The Internal Control team performs a regular assessment of the control framework which includes: risk 
identification, risk assessment and planning, documenting business processes, evaluation and validation of 
key risks, testing of controls, identification and management of issues. For the Internal Financial Control 
Framework, this cycle is annual and well established.

The team is also responsible for monitoring remediation plans until closure and for making regular reporting 
on controls results to AXA Group, to the AXA XL Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee, to the Audit 
Committee of key legal entities, to executive management and to external auditors and regulators.

The Internal Control Framework looks at 30 macro-processes that constitute the AXA XL value chain for 
insurance and reinsurance business. For each macro-process, key risks are defined and for each key risk, 
control objectives are defined to cover them. For each control objective, controls are designed and operated 
locally to efficiently meet control objectives and mitigate the related key risk. Controls within the framework 
are tested over a 3 year rotational basis according to a test plan formalized and validated by the AXA XL Chief 
Risk Officer.

B.4.3   Compliance Function

The compliance function is responsible for advising the Company’s management and Board on compliance 
with applicable laws, regulations and administrative provisions adopted in accordance with the Insurance Act 
1978 and other local laws and regulations, and on the impact of changes in the legal and regulatory 
environment applicable to the Company’s operations. The function provides expertise, advice and support 
to various departments of the Company to assess situations and compliance matters, analyze compliance 
risk and contribute to design solutions to mitigate those risks to which the Company is exposed.
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The compliance function has a direct reporting line to the Global Chief Compliance Officer and to regional 
Chief Executive Officers. The compliance function manages a wide range of compliance related matters 
including (i) regular reporting on significant compliance and regulatory matters to senior management and to 
regulators, (ii) financial crime matters (which include anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering 
programs as well as international sanctions/embargo compliance), (iii) data privacy, (iv) Employee 
Compliance & Ethics Guide and, (v) the monitoring of compliance and regulatory risks. 

The compliance function undertakes an annual Compliance Risk Assessment to identify the most significant 
compliance risks to which the business is exposed. Based on this assessment, an Annual Compliance Plan is 
developed at the end of each year for the following year. 

The compliance activities within the Company are articulated around a number of AXA Group Standards and 
Policies which set the minimum requirements expected to be covered by the Company. The AXA XL Code of 
Conduct (the “Code”) contains standards and policies on significant risks affecting the compliance activities 
as well as the high-level control and monitoring principles to which the Company must adhere. Both the 
standards and policies contained in the Code (e.g. compliance governance, anti-money laundering, 
sanctions, anti-bribery, etc.) are mandatory. In addition, the compliance function has adapted the AXA XL 
requirements and developed local policies to align with the relevant laws and regulations in the jurisdiction in 
which the Company operates and conducts business. These local policies are reviewed on a regular basis 
with recommendations being made for adoption to the Board or the Executive Committee.

On a regular basis, the compliance function reports directly to the Audit Committee, on significant 
compliance matters. These include major regulatory changes that have compliance implications, results of 
the Compliance Risk Assessment, the Annual Compliance Plan, and any other significant issues that require 
escalation.

B.5   Internal Audit Function  

AXA XL Internal Audit provides the Board and Executive Management with independent and objective 
assurance on the effectiveness of the overall control environment to help protect the assets and reputation 
of the organisation and help improve its operations.

AXA XL Internal Audit sets an annual plan of work, approved and monitored by the Audit Committee, based 
on an assessment of both the inherent risk and the adequacy of controls as well as consideration of cyclical 
coverage.

A report is issued at the conclusion of each audit assignment to relevant senior management, with the 
results and resolution status of internal audit issues presented regularly to the Audit Committee and 
management.

The AXA XL internal audit function has an audit charter to document its purpose, independence, scope, 
accountabilities, responsibilities, authorities and standards. The charter is approved by the Audit Committee 
each year. 

The head of the AXA XL internal audit function has a direct and unfettered reporting line directly to his/her 
respective Audit Committee Chairman and reports functionally through to the Group Head of Internal Audit.

B.6   Actuarial Function

The Company’s Actuarial Function is provided at the AXA XL level. AXA XL Re's Loss Reserve Specialist (also 
AXA XL’s Global Chief Actuary) assist the Board with its oversight responsibilities and coordinates the 
Actuarial Function for AXA XL ("the Actuarial Function"). 

As required by Bermuda regulation:

• The Company’s Loss Reserve Specialist (AXA XL’s Global Chief Actuary) provides an Actuarial Opinion on 
General Business Technical Provisions (99% of the total).

• The Company’s Approved Actuary (from Willis Tower Watson) provides an Actuarial Opinion on Long-
Term Business Technical Provisions (1% of the total).

B.6.1   Regulatory Compliance  

The Actuarial Function operates in accordance with applicable Bermuda regulation. 
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B.6.2   Roles and Structure

AXA XL's Loss Reserve Specialist and the Actuarial Function, which advises the Board, are established 
internally, as opposed to being outsourced to third-party service providers, and is embedded in the AXA XL's 
corporate governance framework. AXA XL is committed to maintaining an effective Actuarial Function to 
ensure that the business is conducted in an appropriate and reasonable manner within the Company.     

The responsibilities of the Actuarial Function are shared by a number of key individuals who are supported by 
their respective teams. These teams are of sufficient size and consist of suitably qualified and experienced 
people that meet the Company's minimum fitness and proper employment criteria. The teams are 
structured with varying lines of defense to facilitate effective peer review and independent challenge.  

B.6.3   Reports of the Actuarial Function to the Board and Regulators

The Actuarial Function provides expert actuarial advice to the Board through formal reports and 
presentations. 

B.6.4   Actuarial Function Responsibilities

The Actuarial Function is involved in many of the key processes across the business and provides technical 
expertise and assurance over the methods used. The key processes are:

• Calculating the gross and net technical provisions.

• Ensuring the appropriateness of the methodologies and underlying models used as well as the 
assumptions made in the calculation of technical provisions and explaining any material effect of change 
of data, methodologies or assumptions between valuation dates on the amount of technical provisions.

•  Informing the Board on the reliability and adequacy of the calculation of technical provisions.

• Ensuring effective governance framework around the review and validation of loss reserves (including 
technical provisions), policyholder obligations and potential exposures, which includes:

◦ Regular contact by reserving actuaries with underwriting and claims teams;

◦ Review of technical provision results by an escalating series of reviews from reserving actuaries to 
the AXA XL Global Chief Actuary;

◦ Review of technical provisions to provide sufficient independence from management; and

◦ Independent risk management analysis of the reserving requirements.

• Ensuring that the actuarial methods and techniques are compliant with all the appropriate regulatory 
requirements where applicable.

• Assisting with the underwriting process, including those surrounding pricing and design of underwriting 
contracts and risk transfer mechanisms where applicable and appropriate.

• Helping to maintain a competent, effective and efficient approach to pricing.

• Comparing best estimates against experience, i.e. performing analysis comparing the estimated 
policyholder obligations against actual policyholder obligations paid.

• Establishing and monitoring the loss ratio budget.

B.7   Outsourcing

B.7.1   Outsourcing Policy and Key Functions that have been Outsourced

The Company's approach to outsourcing applies to all AXA XL outsourcing arrangements. A risk-based 
approach is followed with criticality grids being defined by the specific type of activity being outsourced. This 
considers topics such as the following: 

• The potential impact of a failure or issue including the ability to readily find substitutes.

• Considerations as to the type of activity being outsourced.
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• Outsourcing arrangements that meet the agreed criticality criteria and are subject to governance based 
on the results of the criticality grids; for the most critical arrangements, visibility is provided to the 3rd 
Party Governance Committee. 

• Other ad hoc outsourcing arrangements that the 3rd Party Governance Committee may consider as 
being critical to AXA XL for any financial, operational or reputational reasons.

The Outsourcing Process for all AXA Vendor Risk Framework critical high/regulatory outsourcing 
arrangements consists of the steps below:

Due Diligence - A thorough review of the service provider is to be performed covering Information Security, 
Data Privacy, Operational Resilience, Financial Health, Legal, Compliance and Risk Management. These 
reviews leverage internal expert teams primarily but may also use external experts when appropriate.

Contracting and Negotiations - All critical outsourcing agreements must be undertaken using a written, 
legally binding agreement approved by the AXA XL Legal team in accordance with agreed minimum 
standards.

Regulatory Notification - The Local Outsourcing teams will ensure that there is communication with the 
AXA XL Legal and/or Compliance teams in sufficient time to enable any notification to be provided to the 
relevant regulatory supervisory body should this be required.

Performance Monitoring - Whenever AXA XL undertakes a material outsourcing arrangement, procedures 
to monitor the service provider’s performance and risk must be put in place. Accountability for managing the 
outsourcing arrangement should be assigned to a designated business owner, wherever applicable.

Exit Phase - Ensure all necessary exit strategies and business continuity plans are in place, relevant 
information exchanges are returned or destroyed, service provider access is ceased, and in the case of early 
termination, consideration should be given to any existing claims or penalties which may be due from the 
service provider.  

B.7.2   Material Intra-Group Outsourcing

The Company is a party to an AXA XL intra-group Master Services Agreement (“MSA”), a multi-party 
agreement under which it is able to receive services from various entities in the AXA XL division. The services 
covered by the MSA are general function support services such as Finance, Legal, Tax, Compliance, Actuarial, 
Risk Consulting, Risk, Facilities, IT, Treasury, Marketing, Strategy and Corporate Development, HR, Claims 
support, and Internal Audit.

B.8   Other Material Information   

Please refer to Section A.8   Other Material Information.
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C.   Risk Profile
C.1   Material Risks the Insurer is Exposed to during the Period

The Company has identified and categorized its material risk exposure as follows:

• Insurance Risk, including underwriting and reserve risks

• Market Risk including interest rate, credit spread, foreign exchange, and equity price risks

• Credit Risk including the risk of default and migration 

• Liquidity Risk

• Operational Risk

• Other Risks including Strategic, Group, Asset Liability Matching, Reputational, Emerging, Geopolitical, 
Macroeconomic and Environmental Social and Governance (“ESG”) Risks

C.1.1   Insurance Risk

Insurance risk includes both underwriting and reserve risks. 

Underwriting risk derives from insurance and reinsurance policies written for the current period and from  
unearned exposure from prior periods. The risk is that the corresponding premium will be insufficient to 
cover future claims and other costs or more generally that the underwriting profitability from this tranche of 
business will be less than expected. Underwriting risk includes man-made catastrophe events and natural 
catastrophe events.

Reserve risk relates to policy liabilities (corresponding to business written in prior periods where the 
exposure has already been earned at the opening balance sheet date) being insufficient to cover the cost of 
claims and associated expenses until the time horizon for the solvency assessment. Additional risks are that 
the timing or amount of actual claims pay outs do not align with the timing or amounts of the estimated 
claims pay outs and that there are changes in the valuation of the market value margin (risk margin) during 
the time horizon for solvency assessment. Among the key drivers of the Company's reserve risks are 
inflation, correlation across lines of business, legislative and regulatory changes, loss trend movements, 
timing and reporting changes at underlying ceding companies, and the excess nature of exposures in certain 
lines including non-proportional reinsurance.

Underwriting and loss experience is reviewed regularly for, among other things, loss trends, emerging 
exposures, changes in the regulatory or legal environment as well as the efficacy of policy terms and 
conditions. Social inflation and geopolitical risks continue to be significant sources of uncertainty and may 
present potential risks to the Company's performance. 

Insurance risk is identified through: 

• Business Planning - Analysis is undertaken of the underwriting portfolio, exposures, loss experience and 
changes to the external environment (including market cycle, and economic environment) to identify any 
changes to the insurance risk profile for the forthcoming period of the budget / business plan.

• Underwriting Processes (including guidelines and escalation authorities) - Each individual contract 
written is assessed, by the underwriting process (which is subject to granular underwriting guidelines and 
escalation authorities) for the nature and level of insurance risk that it brings to the business including 
consideration of the exposure by nature of the limit, the risks insured, the location of the risks and other 
underwriting criteria.

• Reserving and Claims Process - On an ongoing basis, claims trends are monitored and analyzed for any 
indications of change in the nature of the underlying insurance risk.

• RM Risk Assessment Process - Through the risk assessment processes, the Company quantifies 
existing risks and identifies new risks. This is reinforced by a Top Risk Review, conducted collaboratively  
between Underwriting and Risk Management. The review scope considers all major products and risk 
scenarios that may materially impact the performance of the Company. These scenarios are assessed by 
specialists in terms of potential frequency and severity and are reviewed annually.
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• Development of Realistic Disaster Scenarios (“RDS”) and Other Scenarios - Used to monitor exposure 
to the defined scenarios and monitor compliance with underwriting risk tolerances and limits; and

• Independent Underwriting Reviews - Conducted on a risk-based approach by the Underwriting 
Governance team. 

AXA XL Re continues to review the volatility of its Insurance Risk, particularly its exposure to Worldwide 
Natural Catastrophe Risk. To effectively manage this volatility AXA XL Re sets appetites in respect of 
worldwide Aggregate Exceedance Probability ("AEP") 10-Yr and 20-Yr modelled losses. Over the reporting 
period, modelled net losses at these levels have increased by approximately 24% on a gross basis and 
approximately 0%-3% on a net basis at an AXA XL Re level. Gross growth has been largely offset by 
increased outwards protection keeping net modelled losses mostly stable for these two lower return 
periods.

C.1.2   Market Risk

Market risk represents the potential for loss due to adverse changes in the fair value of financial and other 
instruments. The Company is principally exposed to the following market risks:  

Component Definition

Interest rate and spread risk

Financial loss or volatility of profits due to the combined sensitivity of the economic 
value of the investment portfolio, (re)insurance liability cash flows and issued debt 
securities to changes in the level or volatility of benchmark interest rates and  credit 
spreads.

Market risk concentrations
Financial loss or volatility of profits due to the increased sensitivity of the market value 
of the investment portfolio to other risks specifically due to concentrations of 
investments such as in specific geographical region, industry, or company.

Foreign exchange risk Financial loss due to volatility in the value of the Company’s assets and liabilities 
following changes in currency exchange rates.

Equity price risk Financial loss or volatility of profits due to the sensitivity of the value of the investment 
portfolio to changes in the level or in the volatility of market prices of equities.

There were no material changes in market risk exposures during the reporting period, which remained within 
established tolerances.

C.1.3   Credit Risk

Credit Risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from migration and default. The Company is exposed to five 
sources of credit risk: (i) underwriting businesses with embedded credit risk products, (ii) investments, (iii) 
Treasury, (iv) unsecured reinsurance  recoverables  and (v) broker premium receivables. Credit risk arising 
from country specific exposures is captured as part of the country risk framework.  

Each source of credit risk is further defined as follows: 

                

Component Description

Reinsurance counterparty 
risk

Risk of losses due to the default of a reinsurer or a deterioration of its credit 
worthiness.

Investment counterparty risk Counterparty default risk is the risk of possible losses due to the unexpected default, 
or deterioration in the credit standing of investment counterparties.

Premium counterparty risk 
Premium counterparty default risk is the risk of possible losses due to unexpected 
default, or deterioration in the credit standing of the premium debtors in relation to 
insurance/reinsurance contracts written.

Underwriting counterparty 
risk 

Exposure to obligor credit risk default or deterioration that the Company is exposed to 
through certain credit sensitive underwriting activities which include Trade Credit, 
Commercial and Construction Surety, and Professional Lines.

Treasury counterparty risk
Exposure to the risk of default or to the risk of credit deterioration of counterparty 
banks used by the Company in its day-to-day Treasury operations (deposits, cash 
balances and foreign exchange transactions).

There were no material changes in credit risk exposures during the reporting period.
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C.1.4   Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the inability to meet cash and collateral posting obligations when they come due.  
Liquidity risk arises from three principal areas: operating, financing and investing cash flows. The RMF 
addresses how the Company manages liquidity both under a normal and a stressed environment.

The Company measures and monitors liquidity risk as follows: 

• An internal stressed liquidity calculation is performed quarterly across all major legal entities of the 
Company over a 12 month horizon, including simultaneous shocks on market, credit, P&C, and 
operational risks.

• The Company’s liquidity ratio, as defined by the BMA, is calculated quarterly with forward-looking 
projections, as needed.

• A short term liquidity risk scenario is applied to derivatives and portfolio financing positions to ensure 
sufficient collateral is held.

• AXA XL Treasury monitors concentration risk of cash at banks, along with upcoming funding 
requirements.

The Company continued to have sufficient liquidity during 2024, despite the continued volatile interest rate 
environment.

C.1.5   Operational Risk

The Company defines operational risk as the risk of loss, resulting from inadequate or failed internal controls 
and/or processes, or from people and systems, or from external events. This includes legal risk and excludes 
risks arising from strategic decisions. In line with business objectives, the Company does not take on 
operational risk with a view to achieving enhanced return. Rather, it accepts operational risk as a 
consequence of writing reinsurance business and having operations to support the writing of that business. 

Operational risk is measured through the following processes:

                

Process Description

Annual risk assessment A risk register is maintained of the material operational risks faced by the Company. On an 
annual basis an assessment is performed on the risks on the risk register.

Consultation regarding 
new regulations

Upon the announcement of potential changes in the regulatory environment, the Legal 
and Compliance teams are tasked with reviewing the proposed changes and identifying 
any resulting changes in regulatory risks. Similarly, in the case of new financial reporting 
regulations, the responsibility of reviewing and highlighting any changes in regulatory risk 
falls on the CFO of AXA XL. Consideration of such changes is measured against the 
current risk profile and any changes to the operational risk exposure is measured through 
changes in the residual risk assessment rating in the risk register.

Business planning
Any changes to the operational risk environment that arise as a result of the business 
planning (such as entry into new territories) are identified and accounted for during the 
planning process.

Ongoing operations
Function Heads and Risk Owners are responsible for identifying any new (or changed) 
risks during the normal course of business and notifying the Policy Owners, so that any 
required changes to the risk register can be implemented.

Emerging risks
AXA XL operates a division-wide emerging risks identification process, which captures 
emerging risks. This assessment identifies key external factors/changes that may give 
rise to operational risk issues.

Internal loss data
The Company collects data relating to operational risk losses and near misses on a 
quarterly basis. The data collected is used, among other things, to track incidents, identify 
key risk indicators and to validate and challenge operational risk assessment.

External loss data AXA XL purchases historical loss data from an external provider. Large events from this 
database are used to identify new emerging risks. 

Operational risk includes both employee and third-party fraud, business interruption events and IT outages/ 
failure, inaccurate data processing, the loss of key staff and non-compliance with external financial, legal & 
compliance related reporting obligations.  

Furthermore, as the Company engages with third-party vendors to support both its underwriting and claims 
operations as well as other business operations support services, there is increased exposure to outsourcing 
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and vendor management related risks, including the increasing regulatory risks related to such risk topics. 
See section B.7   Outsourcing, for additional information. 

C.1.6   Other Material Risks 

Strategic Risk

A strategic risk is the risk that a negative impact (current or prospective) on earnings or capital, material at 
the Company level, arises from a lack of responsiveness to industry changes or adverse business decisions 
regarding:

• Significant changes in footprint, including through mergers and acquisitions.

• Product offering and client segmentation.

• Distribution model (channel mix including alliances/partnerships, multi-access and digital distribution).

Given the nature of strategic risks, there is no capital charge assessment but rather a strong strategic Risk 
Management Framework in place in order to assess, anticipate and mitigate these risks.

Group Risk

Group risk is the risk arising as a result of belonging to the AXA Group including areas such as capital support, 
reinsurance arrangements and reputational issues affecting the Group that could indirectly affect the 
business.

Asset Liability Matching Risk

Asset liability matching risk - arises directly from a mismatch between assets and liabilities due to changes in 
rates and spreads, equity and other non-fixed income markets/asset classes and credit risks, liquidity, 
foreign exchange and from events affecting both asset and liability values.

In particular, the following market risks influence both assets and liabilities and are hence key drivers of risk:

               
Component Definition

Interest rate and spread risk 
and asset composition risk

Mismatches between asset composition and maturities and the profile of liability cash 
flows creates economic risks from changes in benchmark interest rates, spreads, and 
asset values. This is due to changes in the nominal mark-to-market (MTM) value of 
assets not exactly offsetting changes in the economic value (net-present value) of 
liability cash flows.                                                                                                            

Inflation risk

Inflation risk stems from the general increase of prices. Inflation may decrease the value 
of fixed income assets while it may increase the value of liabilities, subject to knock on 
impacts to interest rates. Inflation also explicitly impacts the values of directly linked 
assets (TIPS, etc.) and liabilities.

Foreign exchange ("FX") risk FX risk arises from mismatches in the currency denomination of assets relative to that 
of financial liabilities.

The Company controls asset liability mismatch risk through: 

• Asset Liability Management ("ALM") Analysis : The Company conducts detailed ALM analyses to match 
the average duration and currency of its liabilities with appropriate assets. The Strategic Asset Allocation 
("SAA") process determines the target allocation that maximizes the value of the Company subject to 
risk tolerance and other constraints. The SAA considers management’s risk tolerance, liability cash 
flows, business plan, liquidity considerations, capital market forecasts and regulatory requirements. The 
ALM/SAA process is first done at the AXA XL division level keeping division and legal entity constraints 
under consideration. The target allocations are then propagated down to the legal entities based on 
additional considerations of each entity. 

• Investment Risk Appetite Framework : Board approved Risk Appetite Framework limits are in place that 
address all the key market risk factors and are commensurate with the volume and complexity of activity 
undertaken by the Company.  
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• Stress Testing Framework: The Company uses stress testing as a method to assess asset liability 
mismatch risk exposures.  

Reputational Risk

Reputation risk is the risk that an event will negatively influence the stakeholders’ perceptions of the 
Company. AXA XL maintains a Reputational Risk Framework which encompasses a set of planned actions and 
established policies to reduce the probability and/or the expected costs if the latent reputational problems 
become actual.

Emerging Risk

Emerging risks are risks which may develop in the future or which already exist and are continuously evolving. 
They are marked by a high degree of uncertainty, and some of them may never emerge. Emerging risks may 
be difficult to quantify and can have potentially serious consequences if they are not anticipated in a timely 
manner. To assess the impact of emerging risks at AXA XL, there is a well-established emerging risks 
framework in place which is supported by all relevant Risk Committees at both divisional and legal entity 
level. The Emerging Risks Team works in collaboration with the Emerging Risks Expert Network to identify, 
analyze, prioritize, quantify, monitor, and report on emerging risks that could have an impact on existing and 
future product offerings and business operations. All Risk Committees and the Emerging Risks Expert 
Network work together to undertake both strategic and risk management processes, assisting in identifying 
potential opportunities in the market and providing thought leadership around emerging risk issues to 
optimize underwriting and strategic decisions.

Geopolitical and Macroeconomic Risk

The Company is currently facing increased geopolitical and macroeconomic risks stemming from ongoing 
conflicts such as the Ukraine war and instability in the Middle East to policy changes from the current U.S. 
administration. These actions have escalated global tensions and protectionism. In response to geopolitical 
risk, the Company developed hypothetical stress scenarios to assess potential exposures and implemented 
key risk indicators to track war and civil unrest risks by country. The Company is also monitoring the impact 
of varying economic conditions across regions, particularly the U.S. and Europe, as well as challenges in the 
commercial real estate sector in the U.S. Robust risk management frameworks are in place to ensure 
solvency and liquidity, alongside regular assessments and updates to respond to changing market 
conditions.

ESG Risk (including Climate Change) 

ESG Risk refers to the potential  impact on the Company’s long-term viability from an environmental, social, 
or corporate governance event. The Company is exposed to climate change risk, as further described below, 
but also to social issues such as ensuring a decent workplace for all and to potentially inadequate (corporate) 
governance which could have a reputational impact and other effects. AXA XL's Sustainability team conducts 
materiality assessments to identify the most significant ESG risks. The Company’s Sustainability strategy 
includes incorporating ESG considerations into our products, services and own operations, as well as 
defining our vision and position as a “corporate citizen”. 

The identification and tagging of ESG risks are included within AXA XL’s Operational Risk Framework. 
Divisional Key Risk Indicators ("KRIs"), including those related to ESG risks, were developed during 2022 and 
2023 and have been aligned to the AXA XL 2023-2026 Sustainability Strategy. In line with regulatory 
expectations, further focus is being placed on specific climate metrics and longer-term targets. Reputational 
risk is also considered across all operational risks as an impact criterion, as part of the annual operational risk 
assessment process, with regular reporting to AXA Group on any potential upcoming risks and an annual 
reporting summary including lessons learned. 

Climate change, and consequently climate change risk, is a key area of consideration to the Company.  AXA 
XL is committed to taking a leading role in working with our clients and business partners to raise awareness 
of climate issues, help them manage risk and develop solutions to create a more sustainable society. 

The Company is exposed to all forms of climate and climate change risk, namely:

• Physical risk: Refers to the direct impact of climate change on persons and property. For example, risks 
such as those arising from increasingly frequent and severe events, wildfires, rising sea-levels, rising 
temperature, and changes in exposure to vector borne diseases.
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• Transition risk: Refers to risks that stem from changes in behaviors and strategies of industrial actors, 
market participants and customers in response to climate change as well as the implementation of 
climate-related policy or regulatory and technological developments.

• Liability risk: Refers to the risk of those seeking compensation for climate change-related losses or 
damages. This includes legal proceedings seeking damages for contribution to climate change or for 
inaccurate or insufficient disclosure around material financial or operational risks. 

C.2   Risk Mitigation in the Organization

Insurance Risk 

Reinsurance Purchase 

The Company manages its outwards third party reinsurance risk transfer program to support the Company's 
underwriting strategy within risk appetite and to ensure efficient use of capital. AXA XL works with AXA SA 
on the outwards reinsurance strategy placements, especially for placements where there is an AXA Group 
Risk Appetite in place. Business ceded varies by location and line of business based on a number of factors, 
including market conditions. The goals of the outwards reinsurance risk transfer program include reducing 
exposure on individual risks, protecting against catastrophic risks, maintaining acceptable capital ratios, and 
enabling the writing of additional business. The overall goal of the program is to reduce volatility and enhance 
overall capital efficiency. 

The Company's reinsurance strategy is considered as part of the annual business planning process. The 
impact of that strategy is monitored quarterly by management. 

Actuarial Function  

To mitigate the risk of significant changes of reserves from one period to the next which are due to internal 
(not external) factors such as human errors, the reserving process performed by the Actuarial Function is 
highly structured, strictly defined and controlled, and includes several layers of oversight.

Reserve Second Opinion

To have an independent opinion on the level of technical reserves, and on the risks and uncertainties related 
to the reserve valuation process, AXA XL conducts two reserve assessments, performed by independent 
reporting lines: The First Opinion assessment is performed by Actuarial Financial Reporting (reporting to the 
AXA XL CFO), and the Second Opinion assessment is performed by Risk Management (reporting to the AXA 
XL CRO). The two assessments are developed separately and presented to the Management Review 
Committee of Reserves which determines the level of booked reserves based on the two views.  The results 
are also presented to the Board of Directors.

Rating Adequacy  

Underwriters are supported by dedicated teams of claims personnel and pricing actuaries. Technical prices 
are determined using a blend of both experience and exposure rating methodologies including industry 
recognized catastrophe models where available.  A technical price is assessed and compared to the actual 
price for all business written and reflects the mean losses expected to arise from a contract with appropriate 
loads for expenses and the cost of capital Underwriting guidelines and policy forms differ by product offering 
as well as by legal jurisdiction. Pricing tools are specialized and generally operate by line of business. Pricing is 
overseen by the Chief Pricing Actuary who reports to the CEO, Reinsurance and is a member of the 
Reinsurance Leadership Team. 

Underwriting Authorities and Guidelines  

All underwriters are assigned individual underwriting authorities with the objective of preserving the capital 
base and controlling earnings volatility. Authorities within the business units are delegated through the 
underwriting management structure, and the annual review of underwriting limits is part of the business 
planning process. Authorities are also set in line with individual underwriter experience levels, agreed risk 
appetites and risk tolerances for material individual events, RDS that cross multiple lines of business, and 
from risks related to some or all of the above that may occur concurrently.  

The Company underwrites and prices most risks individually following a review of the exposure and in 
accordance with its underwriting guidelines. The Company seeks to serve clients while controlling the 
Company’s exposure both on a portfolio basis and on individual reinsurance contracts through terms and 
conditions, policy limits and sub-limits, attachment points and ceded reinsurance (outwards) arrangements 
on certain types of risks. 
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Market Risk 

Strategic Asset Allocation 

The Strategic Asset Allocation (“SAA”) process for AXA XL establishes a target allocation for the investment 
portfolio that is constructed to maximize enterprise value, subject to various considerations and constraints. 
It is subject to the risk tolerances recommended by management and is approved at least every 3 years by 
the Board.

• Authorities Framework/Risk Appetite Framework 

In conjunction with the SAA, the Company has a Risk Appetite Framework ("RAF") modeled off the AXA 
Group framework which limits exposure to various asset classes (with tighter limits for higher risk asset 
types), as well as duration and FX mismatches. There is also centralized investment risk monitoring 
through the Investment Authorities and Guidelines, which further monitors exposures by average credit 
quality, corporate industry sector, region (for municipal securities and emerging markets, and developed 
sovereigns), BBB exposure and below, and leverage. These controls are implemented through regular 
compliance monitoring and reporting.

The Investment Risk Management Policy and market risk limits under the RAF address the key market 
risk factors and are commensurate with the volume and complexity of activity undertaken by the 
Company. The framework is designed to capture investment risks and to consistently and objectively 
measure, assess, manage and report such risks on an ongoing basis.

• Service Level Agreements 

A service level agreement is in place between XL Group Investments Ltd (“XLGIL”) and the Company. 
This includes guidance on type of investments and the weighted average credit ratings of the portfolio 
that can be made on behalf of the Company. Adherence to policies and limits are monitored on a regular 
basis and reported to the Board.

Currency Risk Mitigation

The Company's foreign currency exposure is dominated by the Euro, British Pound and Canadian Dollar. The 
Company seeks to mitigate the risk by matching the estimated foreign currency denominated liabilities with 
assets denominated in the same currency. Asset liability management analysis is run regularly to adjust 
surplus and shortfall currencies, ensuring that the entity exposures are broadly matched. The table below 
outlines the Company's year-end exposure by currency: 

Foreign currency exposures represent all net assets and liabilities held in currencies other than U.S. dollars 
that generate foreign exchange volatility. 

Table for AXA XL Re:

            

(Foreign currency in millions) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Euro  712,798  893,874 

British pound  114,292  214,780 

Canadian Dollar  199,026  210,694 

Credit Risk 

Credit Risk Framework - Credit risk is managed across four sets of limits:

• The Systemic Credit Clash Scenario is an enterprise view of portfolio risk to a systemic credit event that 
incorporates all relevant risk sources that could be impacted by a credit risk event.

• The Systemic Financial Institutions Realistic Disaster Scenario ("FI RDS") is an underwriting view of 
portfolio risk to a defined global financial crisis.

These scenarios (Systemic Clash and FI RDS) reflect an “instantaneous” view of the ultimate risk. The 
scenarios conservatively assume that the entirety of the losses, which are expected to be multiyear in 
nature, all occur on day one. The risk sources are diverse in terms of how they are expected to manifest 
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themselves thus creating a form of “time diversification”. The scenarios are expressed in Probable 
Maximum Loss ("PML") terms with methodologies aligned to tail events.

• Obligor idiosyncratic concentration risk is managed with alerts and limits set as a function of obligor 
credit quality. Alerts and limits are in USD net notional terms representing the amount at risk and 
assuming no recovery. Exposures are from the functional sources (Reinsurance Recoverables, Treasury, 
and Investments) and from the (re)insurance underwriting businesses with embedded credit risk 
activities. Credit quality ratings are derived from AXA Group. When an obligor is not in the AXA Group 
universe, AXA XL applies its own credit rating methodology.

• Country risk limits  are set to manage obligor concentration aggregated at their country of risk level 
with limits by country expressed in PML terms and with methodologies aligned to tail events.

Guidelines are used to manage concentration to brokers and issuers of incoming letters of credit and surety 
bonds.

In addition, obligor exposures are also required to align to the AXA Group Global Issuer Framework which can 
constrain AXA XL obligor deployment even if AXA XL credit risk framework capacity exists. Constraints from 
AXA Group come in various forms:

• Names on Ban list due to default risk, reputational risk, or high level of deployment;

• Names on Watch list where available capacity has already been allocated to other AXA entities; and 

• Names with specific risk allocations to the credit sensitive businesses and/or to Treasury.

Credit risk arising from credit sensitive underwriting activities is also managed via the underwriting limit 
framework. Credit risk in the investment portfolio is also managed through various frameworks applied at 
AXA XL including Authorities & Guidelines, and Fixed Income Concentration. These address the credit quality 
of obligors and counterparties, diversification and exposure versus limits by rating, term and seniority.

• Underwriting Authorities and Limits - See above "Underwriting Authorities and Guidelines" .

• Investment Portfolio - Credit risk is also managed through the credit research performed by external 
investment management service providers, AXA Group Risk Management, and the in-house portfolio 
management team.  

• Reinsurance Security Department - The Company manages its credit risk in its external reinsurance 
relationships by transacting with reinsurers that it considers financially sound, and if necessary, collateral 
in the form of funds, trust accounts and/or irrevocable letters of credit may be held. 

The following table outlines AXA XL Re's top external reinsurance recoverables credit exposures, by 
reinsurer, net of collateral, as at December 31, 2024.

                

Name of Reinsurer
Reinsurer Financial 
Strength Rating % of Total

XL Bermuda AA-/Stable  91.9 %

National Indemnity Company AA+/Stable  2.3 %

Monument Segregated Account Company Ltd AAA/Stable  1.7 %

CSAA Insurance Exchange A/Stable  1.4 %

Vantage Risk Limited A/Stable  1.1 %

Erie Insurance Exchange AA/Stable  0.8 %

Conduit Reinsurance Limited A/Stable  0.6 %

Merrimack Mutual Fire Insurance Co. A/Stable  0.3 %

The following table sets forth the ratings profile of the reinsurers that supports AXA XL Re's reinsurance 
assets, net of collateral, at December 31, 2024.
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Reinsurer Financial Strength 
Rating % of Total

AA & above  84.7 %

A  13.2 %

BBB  0.7 %

BB and below  0.6 %

Captive  0.8 %

Total  100.0 %

Premium payment and brokers - The Company underwrites a significant amount of its (re)insurance 
business through brokers. Premium counterparty risk exists should any of these brokers be unable to pay 
premium due. A list of approved broking houses is maintained.

Liquidity Risk 

One of the principal objectives of liquidity risk management is to ensure that there is readily available access 
to funds with which to settle large or multiple unforeseen claims. It is generally expected that positive cash 
flow from operations (underwriting activities and investment income) will be sufficient to cover cash 
outflows under most future loss scenarios.  

Cash requirements include all possible claims on cash from policyholders and operations. Some of these cash 
outflows are scheduled while others are known with much less certainty. The goal is to ensure sufficient 
liquidity in the asset portfolio, together with secured external cash sources, to provide for timely payment of 
potential cash demands under both normal business conditions and under extreme conditions resulting from 
unforeseen events over multiple time horizons.  

Liquidity risk is managed through Treasury conducting detailed Asset-Liability Management (“ALM”) 
analyses to match the currency mix of its liabilities with appropriate assets. Investments manages the 
duration gap of assets and liabilities within a pre-defined range.

The major source of liquidity risk within underwriting contracts is the exposure to Downgrade Clauses/
Special Termination Clauses linked to the assuming entity’s credit rating, which are commonly included in 
inwards reinsurance contracts. These triggers typically necessitate the cancellation of the policy and the 
return of the cedant’s unearned premium in the event of being downgraded below a certain rating level, 
which has the potential to be a material liquidity event when aggregated. The risk is mitigated by a variety of 
means such as the tracking and monitoring of exposure, training to Legal staff on the topic, and by enforcing 
a mandatory authorization process if a Clause includes a trigger above a certain threshold. AXA XL’s key 
operating entities benefit from a credit rating linked to the ultimate parent company, and the AXA Group’s 
balance sheet strength further reduces the likelihood of the risk materializing.   

The AXA XL Treasury and Risk Management departments serve as the focal point for liquidity monitoring, 
drawing on the expertise of other internal functions, as well as managing cash held at bank accounts covering 
day-to-day cash requirements, typically referred to as operating cash. Operating cash balances, together 
with cash managed within the investment portfolio, comprise the primary sources of liquidity for the 
Company. The Company also has access to several credit facilities.

The state of the Company's liquidity is routinely reported to the Board and monitored as part of the RAF.   

Operational Risk 

The Company’s risk register takes into account the controls in place that mitigate specific risks. The nature 
of the controls and the strength of control exercised are based upon the: 

• Potential severity of the risk;  

• Frequency of the risk occurring;

• Cost of implementing controls relative to the significance of the risk; and 

• Appetite and tolerance for the risk. 

An annual risk assessment is performed for all risks on the risk register. The assessment involves capturing 
the risk owner’s view of the potential severity should an incident occur relating to the risk, and the likelihood 
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of such incident occurring. Together this establishes the profile of each risk, allowing identification of top 
risks, thereby facilitating appropriate risk-based monitoring.

The key controls are subject to review and testing by the Internal Control and Internal Financial Control 
teams as noted in section B.4.1 and Internal Audit as described in section B.5 Internal Audit Function. 

Purchase of Insurance

It is recognized that while the Company may buy insurance with the aim of reducing the monetary impact of 
certain operational risk events (e.g. physical damage), non-monetary impacts may remain (including impact 
on the Company’s reputation). This is considered in the risk assessment process and risk register. 

The risks are monitored and managed through the risk framework and the operational loss event reporting 
process.  

Climate Risk

Climate change risks have potential impacts on our underwriting, investments, and company operations. 
Therefore, dedicated groups of colleagues are working to ensure that the transversal nature of this risk is 
duly considered and appropriately managed and mitigated. 

Climate change risk is managed through the Risk Management Framework (“RMF”) and the Climate Change 
Risk Framework ("CCRF"). Through this process risks are identified, reported and managed.  Risks pertaining 
to climate change including physical, transition and litigation risks have been long standing items in our 
emerging risks identification process.  As these risks develop, they are assessed and monitored for each risk 
type.  For example, the potential physical risk impacts on our natural catastrophe risks are considered within 
our underwriting risk framework. This ensures that each element of climate risk is managed by those with the 
most expertise, relevant stakeholders are informed and these risks can be cross compared to others with 
similar characteristics.  

In addition, AXA XL has established a Climate Change Risk & Stress Testing Working Group to ensure that 
information is relayed across risk types and a transversal approach is taken.  Controls in relation to these 
risks are documented in the applicable risk policies where relevant.

Climate Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) have been developed and reported on. These include metrics relating to 
physical, transition and litigation risk and span insurance, financial, operational, reputational and strategic 
risk pillars. They are updated quarterly or yearly, dependent on the metric, and are now included within the 
materials of the Re ARCC meeting.

C.3   Material Risk Concentrations 

Material concentrations can occur within risk categories and across risk categories. The Company's RAF is 
intended to address both. The RAF and expected exposures are reviewed annually and tested through our 
stress testing framework.

The RAF has two key components, high level risk appetite statements and a set of risk exposure limits linked 
to specific risk types. The Risk Appetite Framework is reviewed and approved annually by the AXA XL Re 
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and the Board, with the latest review in April 2025, reflecting the risk 
profile of the Company and the 2025 business plan. 

There are two high-level risk appetite statements:

• Solvency – This considers the buffer that should be held in excess of regulatory capital. The target level 
of solvency is for the Company to withstand the largest of a 1 in 20 years financial event or insurance 
event without the need to call on AXA Group for support.   

• Liquidity – This considers ability to pay claims in the event of a stress event. 

The risk exposure limits cover market risk, credit risk, reserve risk, and underwriting risk:

• Market Risk – Indicators exist for exposure per asset class, duration gap and foreign exchange 
mismatch.

• Credit Risk –  the Company benefits from indicators that exist at the AXA XL Division level for sovereign 
exposure, fixed income concentration, and global issuer exposure.
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• Reserve Risk – deterioration in gross held reserves (o/s plus IBNR) are to be no more than 5% over a 12-
month calendar period. 

• Underwriting Risk 

◦ Underwriting limits are spread across Credit & Surety (where the limit is based on Probable Maximum 
Loss ("PML")), Marine, Aviation, Casualty and Property lines. The limits are based on exposure to a 
single original insured the company cover through cedants and equal the sum of the corresponding 
exposed  limits net of reinsurance.

◦ Natural catastrophe limits are set for Probable Maximum Losses ("PMLs") net of reinsurance at 
worldwide 1-in-10 Aggregate Exceedance Probability ("AEP"), worldwide 1-in-20 AEP, and the 
largest peril-region 1-in-200 Occurrence Exceedance Probability ("OEP").

◦ The Cyber per event appetite monitors affirmative cyber exposure per guarantee (first party and 
third party). 

Alert levels are set by AXA XL Re generally at 80% of the risk appetite level and are monitored on a regular 
basis. Reporting against the risk appetites is undertaken through the Risk Dashboard that is produced for the 
AXA XL Re Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee on at least a quarterly basis. The frequency of update of 
the exposure positions is as follows:

• Over-arching risk appetite statements (solvency and liquidity) - quarterly

• Risk appetite exposures:

◦ Market risk - quarterly

◦ Credit risk - quarterly for the AXA XL Division

◦ Reserve risk - quarterly

◦ Underwriting per risk - semi-annually

◦ Natural catastrophe exposures - quarterly

◦ Cyber per event - semi-annually

Loss exposure estimates for all event risks are derived from a combination of commercially available and 
internally developed models and methodologies together with the judgment of management, as overseen by 
the Board. Actual incurred losses may vary materially from Company estimates. Factors that can cause a 
deviation between estimated and actual incurred losses may include:

• Inaccurate assumptions of event frequency and severity.

• Inaccurate or incomplete data.

• Changing climate conditions that may add to the unpredictability of frequency and severity of natural 
catastrophes in certain parts of the world and create additional uncertainty as to future trends and 
exposures.

• Future possible increases in property values and the effects of inflation that may increase the severity of 
catastrophic events to levels above the modeled levels.

• Natural catastrophe models that incorporate and are critically dependent on meteorological, 
seismological, and other earth science assumptions and related statistical relationships that may not be 
representative of prevailing conditions and risks, and may therefore misstate how particular events 
actually materialize, causing a material deviation between forecasted and actual damages associated 
with such events; and

• A change in the legislative, regulatory, and judicial climate.

For the above and other reasons, the incidence, timing and severity of catastrophes and other event types 
are inherently unpredictable, and it is difficult to estimate the amount of loss any given occurrence will 
generate. Consequently, there is material uncertainty around the ability to measure exposures associated 
with individual events and combinations of events. This uncertainty can cause actual exposures and losses to 
deviate from those amounts estimated, which in turn can create a material adverse effect on the Company's 
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financial condition and results of operations and may result in substantial liquidation of investments, possibly 
at a loss, and outflows of cash as losses are paid.

C.4   Investment in Assets in accordance with the Prudent Person Principles 
of the Code of Conduct

In line with business objectives, market risk is accepted by the Company and managed with the objective to 
meet the annual investment earnings target and maximize the risk adjusted return on economic capital 
subject to agreed risk constraints and other considerations. The Company's investments are managed and 
monitored by XLGIL and governed through an investment agreement and the Investment Risk Appetite 
Limits and guidelines. The AXA XL Investment Risk team oversees adherence to these limits and guidelines.  

XLGIL is guided by the “prudent person” principle as specified in paragraph 5.1.2 of the BMA Insurance Code 
of Conduct, in that the Company only invests in assets and instruments where the risks of which can properly 
be identified, measured, monitored, managed, and controlled. 

C.5   Stress Testing and Sensitivity Analysis to Assess Material Risks

An embedded stress testing framework is used to understand possible impacts across all major risks. The 
Board are informed of results of stress tests performed throughout the year via risk dashboards and the 
CISSA report, including whether the results fall within relevant approved risk tolerances and limits. These 
stress tests help to understand potential losses from various events to ensure that the Company is prepared 
to withstand them, including ensuring that there is adequate capital and liquidity to manage through the 
event and maintain the Company as a going concern. Following the losses implied by exposure to these 
stress scenarios at December 31, 2024, the Company remains solvent. AXA XL Re is incorporated into AXA 
XL's Recovery Plan, where a series of recovery actions have been identified to restore the Company’s 
financial position and viability in the case of a severe stress event.

Insurance Risk

For underwriting risks, the main stress test approaches used cover natural catastrophe peril exposure 
projection and RDS projection as outlined below.  

               

Test type Reason performed

Natural catastrophe  
reporting

To monitor natural catastrophe exposures against risk appetite and to assist 
in the setting of overall risk limits.

RDS reporting To monitor non-natural catastrophe exposures against risk appetite and to 
assist in the setting of overall risk limits

Natural catastrophe exposure results and RDS exposure results are used to monitor exposure to the defined 
scenarios and monitor compliance with risk appetites, underwriting risk tolerances and limits. Natural 
catastrophe exposure modeled results are produced and monitored quarterly. RDS are produced a minimum 
of twice per year to understand the Company's exposure to defined non-natural catastrophe scenarios, 
which have been designed by experts and cover both short and long tail lines of business and cross class 
event exposures.  

Market Risk

The following stress and scenario tests are used to identify risk exposures: 

• Interest rate and credit spread sensitivity testing: by re-valuing current portfolio holdings assuming  
          various changes in the levels of interest rates and credit spreads.
• FX stress tests on assets and liabilities; and 
• Ad hoc scenario stress testing as deemed appropriate by Risk Management. 

Credit Risk

AXA XL stress tests the impact of downgrades against its obligor credit and country risk appetites. The 
Company initiates corrective actions by restricting any further capacity deployment in case of a high 
probability of downgrade that would breach the Company credit or country risk limits.
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Liquidity Risk

A stressed liquidity analysis report is prepared on a quarterly basis by Treasury and Risk Management, which 
includes the Company’s own view of the stressed sources and uses of liquidity over a 12 month horizon. 
Entities must maintain appropriate excess liquidity post simultaneous stresses from market, credit, P&C, and 
operational risks. 

Operational Risk

To support the identification and quantification of operational risks within the business, AXA XL has a stress 
and scenario testing framework. The stress testing includes multiple operational risk scenarios developed 
from the top risks assessed during the annual risk assessment, which are then evaluated over multiple return 
periods for each scenario. While the stress testing is performed at the AXA XL Division level, it is also relevant 
to the Company for certain  risks, such as transversal risks that are centrally managed. 

Climate Change

AXA XL has an established Climate Change Risk & Stress Testing Working Group to facilitate a 
comprehensive understanding of climate risks across various domains. The overarching goal is to advance 
our understanding of climate impacts across all risk pillars and to create integrated scenarios that 
encompass all risks under a unified climate framework.

For underwriting risk, stress testing has been developed to consider the impact of Physical Risk to our natural 
catastrophe exposure.  In addition, an initial analysis on impacts of "sea level risk tipping point" on our 
portfolio has been developed.   

Additionally, within market risk, there is a stress test in place to consider a disorderly transition based on a 
European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (“EIOPA”) scenario.

C.6   Other Material Information 

Please refer to Section A.8   Other Material Information
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D.   Solvency Valuation 
This section provides particulars of the valuation bases, methods and assumptions on the inputs used to 
determine solvency.

D.1   Valuation Bases, Assumptions and Methods used to derive the value of 
each Asset Class 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits while cash equivalents are 
short-term, liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash, and which are subject to low volatility. 
Investments normally qualify as cash equivalents only when they have a maturity of three months or less 
from the date of acquisition.

Quoted Investments - An asset or a liability is considered as being quoted in an active market when quoted 
prices are readily and regularly available from a stock exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service 
or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 
arm’s length basis between a willing seller and a willing buyer. The assets need to be liquid, meaning that the 
Company can dispose of them in the ordinary course of business within a certain limited time period at 
approximately the price at which the asset is valued. Liquidity for debt instruments is assessed using a multi-
criteria approach including the number of quotes available, the place of issuance and the evolution of the 
widening of bid ask spreads. The fair value of assets and liabilities traded on active markets is determined 
using quoted market prices when available. For financial instruments traded in active markets, quotes 
received from external pricing services represent consensus prices, i.e. using similar models and inputs 
resulting in a very limited dispersion. The fair value of assets and liabilities for which fair value is determined in 
whole directly by reference to an active market is disclosed as Level 1 in the Notes to the Company’s audited 
IFRS financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “Financial Statement Notes”).

Unquoted Investments - An asset or liability is regarded as not quoted in an active market:

• if there is little observation of transaction prices as an inherent characteristic of the asset or the liability;

• when there is a significant decline in the volume and level of trading activity;

• in case of significant illiquidity;

• if observable prices cannot be considered as representing fair value because of dislocated market 
conditions.

Characteristics of inactive markets can therefore be very different in nature, inherent to the asset or the 
liability, or indicative of a change in the conditions prevailing in certain markets.

The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is estimated using:

• external and independent pricing services; or

• valuation techniques.

The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market mainly based on observable 
market data are disclosed as Level 2 in the Financial Statement Notes. Those which are mainly not based on 
observable market data are disclosed as Level 3 in the Financial Statement Notes.

No Active Market: Use of External Pricing Services

External pricing services may be fund asset managers in the case of non-consolidated investments in funds 
or brokers. Where possible, the Company collects quotes from external pricing providers as inputs to 
measure fair value. Prices received may form tight clusters or dispersed quotes which may then lead to the 
use of valuation techniques. The dispersion of quotes received may be an indication of the large range of 
assumptions used by external pricing providers given the limited number of transactions to be observed or 
reflect the existence of distressed transactions. 

No Active Market: Use of Valuation Techniques

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 
between market participants (a willing buyer and a willing seller) at the measurement date. Valuation 
techniques include:
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• Market Approach: the consideration of recent prices and other relevant information generated by 
market transactions involving substantially similar assets or liabilities;

• Income Approach: use of discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models, and other present value 
techniques to convert future amounts to a single current (i.e. discounted) amount; and

• Cost Approach: the consideration of amounts that would currently be required to construct or replace 
the service capacity of an asset.

Valuation techniques are subjective in nature and significant judgment is involved in establishing fair values. 
They include recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable willing parties on similar assets if 
available and representative of fair value and involve various assumptions regarding the underlying price, 
yield curve, correlations, volatility, default rates and other factors. Unlisted equity instruments valuation is 
based on cross checks using different methodologies such as discounted cash flows techniques, price-
earnings ratios multiples, adjusted net asset values, taking into account recent transactions on instruments 
which are substantially the same if concluded at arm’s length between knowledgeable willing parties, if any. 
The use of valuation techniques and assumptions could produce different estimates of fair value. However, 
valuations are determined using generally accepted models (discounted cash flows, Black & Scholes models, 
etc.) based on quoted market prices for similar instruments or underlyings (index, credit spread, etc.) 
whenever such directly observable data are available, and valuations are adjusted for liquidity and credit risk.

Valuation techniques may be used when there is little observation of transaction prices as an inherent 
characteristic of the market, when quotes made available by external pricing providers are too dispersed or 
when market conditions are so dislocated that observed data cannot be used or need significant 
adjustments. Internal mark to model valuations are, therefore, either normal market practices for certain 
assets and liabilities inherently scarcely traded or exceptional processes implemented due to specific market 
conditions.

When valuation techniques are used, the classification between Levels 2 and 3 depends on the proportion of 
assumptions supported by observable market data used by external pricing services or, in very limited cases, 
by the Company.

Use of Valuation Techniques in Dislocated Markets

The dislocation of certain markets may be evidenced by various factors, such as: very large widening of bid 
ask spreads which may be helpful indicators in understanding whether market participants are willing to 
transact, wide dispersion in the prices of the small number of current transactions, varying prices over time 
or among market participants, an existence of secondary markets, disappearance of primary markets, 
closing down of dedicated desks in financial institutions, distressed and forced transactions motivated by 
strong needs of liquidity or other difficult financial conditions implying the necessity to dispose of assets 
immediately with insufficient time to market the assets to be sold, and large bulk sales to exit such markets 
at all costs that may involve side arrangements (such as sellers providing finance for a sale to a buyer).

In such cases, the Company uses valuation techniques including observable data whenever possible and 
relevant, adjusted if needed to develop the best estimate of fair value, including adequacy of risk premiums, 
or develops  valuation models based on unobservable data representing estimates of assumptions that 
willing market participants would use when prices are not current, relevant or available without undue costs 
and efforts. In inactive markets, transactions may be inputs when measuring fair value, but would likely not be 
determinative, and unobservable data may be more appropriate than observable inputs.

Investments in and Advances to Affiliates - The Company consolidates holdings in affiliates where it is 
deemed to have control under its IFRS principles.

Investments in related affiliates where the Company does not hold a majority equity interest but has the 
ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial matters are valued with the equity 
method and to arrive at an EBS valuation, deductions including goodwill and other intangible assets are made. 
Holdings where the Company has neither control nor significant influence are treated as quoted/unquoted 
investments as described above.

Advances to affiliates are recorded at fair value in line with IFRS. Amounts receivable or payable on account of 
policies of insurance or reinsurance with affiliates are not included in this line. Such amounts are included in 
accounts and premiums receivables line and reinsurance payable respectively. Funds held by ceding 
reinsurers which are affiliates and funds held under reinsurance contracts with affiliates are also not included.

In the EBS the goodwill and intangible asset element of the participation valuation is eliminated, in 
accordance with the reasons given above. After the end of each period the performance of all affiliate 
investments is reviewed and the share of the Company’s change in equity is recorded each period based on 
the financial information received directly from the affiliate. The Company also receives the audited financial 
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statements from affiliates when available. No valuation adjustment was required as at December 31, 2024 
and 2023 respectively.

When financial statements of the affiliate are not available on a timely basis to record the Company's share of 
income or loss for the same reporting periods as the Company, the most recently available financial 
statements are used. This lag in reporting is applied consistently. The Company generally records its 
alternative and private investment funds on a one-month and three-month lag, respectively, and its 
operating affiliates on a three-month lag. Significant influence is generally deemed to exist where the 
Company has an investment of 20% or more in the common stock of a corporation. Significant influence is 
considered for other strategic investments on a case-by-case basis. Investments in participation are not 
subject to fair value measurement guidance as they are not considered to be fair value measured 
investments under IFRS or EBS. However, impairments are calculated in accordance with fair value 
measurement guidance and appropriate disclosures included within the financial statements during the 
period the losses are recorded.

Real Estate - Investment in real estate properties, including investments in real estate funds, is recognized 
at cost. The properties' components are amortized over their estimated useful lives, also considering their 
residual value if it may be reliably estimated. In case of unrealized loss over 15%, an impairment is recognized 
for the difference between the net book value of the investment property and the fair value of the asset 
based on an independent valuation. Furthermore, if the accumulated amount of unrealized losses under 15% 
(without offsetting with unrealized gains) represents more than 10% of the accumulated net cost of real 
estate assets, additional impairments are booked on a line-by-line approach until the 10% threshold is 
reached. 

In subsequent periods, if the appraisal value rises to at least 15% more than the net carrying value, the 
previously recorded impairment is reversed to the extent of the difference between a) the net carrying value 
and b) the lower of the appraisal value and the amortized cost (before impairment). 

In the EBS, investment in real estate properties is recorded at fair value.

Investment Income Due and Accrued - Investment income due and accrued is recorded at fair value in line 
with IFRS. Balances due in more than one year have not been discounted as this is not considered to be 
material. 

Accounts and Premiums Receivable - Accounts and premiums receivable are recorded at fair value in line 
with IFRS. Premiums due but not yet received are included on this line while premiums not yet due are 
included as part of premium provisions. Balances due in more than one year have not been discounted as this 
is not considered to be material. Premium receivables have been transferred to technical provisions under 
EBS and therefore there is no impact on capital for this adjustment (apart from an immaterial amount due to 
the discounting within technical provisions).

Reinsurance Balances Receivable - Reinsurance balances receivable are recorded at fair value in line with 
IFRS. Losses and loss expenses recoverable are included on line 17 of the Company's EBS. Balances due in 
more than one year have not been discounted as this is not considered to be material. 

Funds Held by Ceding Reinsurers - Funds held by ceding reinsurers (whether affiliate or not) are recorded at 
fair value in line with IFRS. 

Sundry Assets - Any asset not accounted for in lines 1 to 12 and 14 of the Company's EBS is included here if 
it has a readily realizable value. Any other assets, prepaid expenses, goodwill and similar intangible assets 
shall be non-admitted assets.

Derivatives - Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at purchase date and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value at the reporting date. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss unless they relate to a qualifying hedge relationship as described below. In the 
statement of financial position, derivatives are presented in separate line items, as an asset or a liability 
depending upon the fair value position at the reporting date, with no offsetting, regardless of whether these 
derivatives meet the criteria for hedge accounting. The Company designates certain derivatives as either: (i) 
hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows attributable to a recognized asset or liability or a highly 
probable future transaction (cash flow hedge), or (ii) hedging the exposure to changes in fair value of a 
recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment (fair value hedge), or (iii) hedging net 
investments in a foreign operation (net investment hedges). The Company formally documents, at inception 
of a designated hedging relationship, its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 
This documentation includes (i) the identification of the hedged item and of the hedging instrument, (ii) the 
nature of the risk being hedged, (iii) the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument, including whether the changes in the value of the hedged item and the hedging instrument are 
expected to offset each other, (iv) and how the assessment of whether the hedging relationship meets the 
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hedge effectiveness requirements will be performed, including its analysis of the sources of hedge 
ineffectiveness. The hedging relationship documentation is updated on an ongoing basis.

Fair Value Hedge - Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying as fair value hedges of 
equity instruments designated at fair value other comprehensive income ("OCI") are recorded in OCI, 
without recycling into profit or loss, together with changes in fair value of the hedged equity instrument. 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying as fair value hedges of other financial 
instruments are recorded in the statement of profit or loss, together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or liability. Therefore, the gain or loss relating to any ineffective portion is directly recognized in 
the statement of profit or loss.

Cash Flow Hedge - A separate component of equity, referred to as cash flow hedge reserve, is adjusted 
through OCI for the lower of the following amounts:

• gain or loss on the hedging instrument cumulated since inception of the hedge, and

• change in fair value of the hedged item cumulated since inception of the hedge (i.e. the present value of 
the cumulative change in the hedged expected future cash flows).

If the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument exceeds the change in fair value of the hedged item 
(sometimes referred to as an ‘over-hedge’), the related ineffectiveness is recognized in profit or loss. If the 
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument is lower than the change in fair value of the hedged item 
(sometimes referred to as an ‘under-hedge’), no ineffectiveness appears. 

Cumulative gain or loss in shareholders’ equity is recycled in the statement of profit or loss when the hedged 
underlying item impacts the profit or loss for the period (for example when the hedged future transaction is 
recognized). When a hedging instrument reaches its maturity date or is sold, or when a hedge no longer 
qualifies for hedge accounting, the cumulative gains or losses in shareholder’s equity are released in profit or 
loss when the initially hedged future transaction ultimately impacts the statement of profit or loss. If the 
hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gains or losses are immediately 
reclassified from shareholder’s equity to profit or loss.

Net Investment Hedge - The accounting of net investments in foreign operations hedge is similar to the 
accounting of cash flow hedge. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of 
the hedge is recognized in shareholder’s equity; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Cumulative gains and losses in shareholder’s equity impact the 
statement of profit or loss only on disposal of the foreign operations.

Cost of Hedging Approach - When only part of a derivative is used as the hedging instrument, the Company 
applies the "cost of hedging approach" under IFRS 9 to reduce profit or loss volatility. For example, if only 
changes in the intrinsic value of an option are designated as the hedging instrument, the changes in fair value 
of the time value of the option are deferred in other comprehensive income (OCI). This deferred amount is 
then recognized in profit or loss, depending on whether the hedged item is transaction-related or time-
period related. 

The same approach applies to changes in forward points of a forward contract and changes in the foreign 
currency basis spread when excluded from the designation of the hedging instrument.

Derivatives not Qualifying for Hedge Accounting - Most of the derivatives used by the Company are 
purchased with a view to hedge or as an alternative to gain exposure to certain asset classes through 
“synthetic positions”. However, given IFRS 9 constraints, only qualifying hedges are eligible to hedge 
accounting provisions described above. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

The Company holds financial assets that also include embedded derivatives. A derivative embedded in a 
contract where the host is a financial asset in the scope of IFRS 9 is not separated. Instead, the hybrid 
financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification applying the guidance described. Conversely, if 
the host contract is a financial liability within the scope of IFRS 9 and is not measured at FV P&L, the 
embedded derivative is separated from the host contract to the extent that the impact is deemed material, 
unless the economic characteristics and risks of both the embedded derivative and the host contract are 
closely related. In this case, the host contract is accounted for as a financial liability within the scope of IFRS 
9, and the separated derivative is accounted for at FV P&L and might be eligible as a hedging instrument.

Segregated Accounts Companies - General Business: A separate and distinct account (comprising or 
including entries recording data, assets, rights, contributions, liabilities and obligations linked to such 
account) of a segregated accounts company pertaining to an identified or identifiable pool of assets and 
liabilities shall be recorded at fair value in line with IFRS.
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Balance Receivable on Sale of Investments - Shall be recorded at fair value in line with IFRS.

Intangible Assets - Intangible assets are assets other than financial assets that lack physical substance.  
Goodwill is valued at nil in the EBS. The Company's indefinite lived intangible assets consist primarily of 
acquired insurance and reinsurance licenses. These do not meet the definition of intangible assets under EBS 
and are therefore eliminated. Other intangible assets are carried at their fair value where all of the following 
conditions are met: 

• they can be sold separately.

• the expected future economic benefits will flow to the company.

• the value of the assets can be reliably measured.

• there is evidence of exchange transactions for the same or similar assets indicating that they are 
saleable in the marketplace.

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities - Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in relation to all 
assets and liabilities that are recognized for solvency or tax purposes in conformity with IFRS principles 
adopted by the insurer. The Company values deferred taxes, other than deferred tax assets arising from the 
carry-forward of unused tax credits and the carry-forward of unused tax losses, on the basis of the difference 
between the values ascribed to assets and liabilities recognized and valued in accordance with the 
requirements of the Economic Balance Sheet and the values ascribed to assets and liabilities as recognized 
and valued for tax purposes.

A positive value is only ascribed to deferred tax assets where it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized, taking into account any legal or regulatory 
requirements on the time limits relating to the carry-forward of unused tax losses or the carry-forward of 
unused tax credits.

Pension Benefit Surplus - Includes pension surplus balance recorded at fair value in line with IFRS. This is 
considered a reasonable proxy for fair value, particularly given the immateriality of the asset.

Other Sundry Assets - All other assets categorized under sundry assets are recorded at fair value in line with 
IFRS.  

Letter of Credit Guarantee and Other Instruments - Under EBS, this represents additional eligible capital 
requiring the approval of the BMA.

D.2   Valuation Bases, Assumptions and Methods used to derive the value of 
Technical Provisions 

D.2.1   Valuation Bases, Assumptions and Methods to derive the value of Technical 
Provisions for the Company

Technical Provisions are valued based on best estimate cash flows, adjusted to reflect the time value of 
money using risk-free discount rate term structures with appropriate illiquidity adjustments. In addition, 
there is a risk margin to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the underlying cash flows which is calculated using 
the cost of capital approach and risk-free discount rate term structures. The discount rate term structures 
are prescribed by the BMA for each reporting period.

The best estimate for the claims provision is calculated by using IFRS 17 reserves as the starting point and 
then performing a series of adjustments, as per BMA regulation: 

• Unwinding of IFRS 17 adjustments i.e. IFRS 17 discounting, risk adjustments, credit risk, deferred 
acquisition costs ("DAC"), etc.

• Incorporation of expected reinsurance counterparty defaults i.e. bad debt.

• Other adjustments related to the consideration of investment and operating expenses, economic 
adjustments for some specific reinsurance arrangements, etc; and 

• Discounting credit.

The best estimate for the premium provision is calculated by using the gross unearned premium reserve on 
an IFRS basis, and then performing a series of adjustments, as per BMA regulation:
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• Gross and ceded premiums on already obliged but yet to incept business.  

• Applying expected future gross loss ratios which include an allowance for Events not in Data ("ENID").

• Reinsurance recoveries less bad debt. 

• Future Losses Occurring During ("LOD") reinsurance cost covering existing incepted policies.

• Future premiums (payables and receivables).

• Other adjustments related to the consideration of investment and operating expenses, etc.       

• Discounting credit.   

In the valuation of the non-life/life (re)insurance obligations within the technical provisions, the Company has 
used the BMA prescribed standard discount rate curves by currency.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the total net Technical Provisions amounted to $4.8 billion and $4.8 billion, 
respectively, comprising the following:  

                

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2024 2023
Claims Provision  5,163,597  5,286,750 
Premium Provision  (853,078)  (1,009,723) 
Risk Margin  456,836  475,597 Total Technical 
Provisions  4,767,355  4,752,624 

D.2.2   Uncertainty/Limitations Associated with the value of the Technical Provisions  

There is an inherent uncertainty in the estimates as there is in any estimate of claim reserves. The Company 
expects that actual future losses will not develop exactly as projected and may potentially vary significantly 
from projections as actuarial indications are subject to uncertainty from various sources, including but not 
limited to changes in claim reporting patterns, claim settlement patterns, judicial decisions, legislation, and 
general economic conditions. This uncertainty stems from several factors including lack of historical data, 
uncertainty with regard to claim costs, coverage interpretations and the judicial, statutory and regulatory 
provisions under which the claims may be ultimately resolved. 

D.3   Description of Recoverables from Reinsurance Contracts 

The reinsurance recoverables for the claims provisions are sourced directly from the IFRS submissions and 
are adjusted the same way as gross technical provisions (see D.2.1).  

Recoverables from reinsurance contracts are based on principles similar to the gross best estimate and 
include reinstatement premiums required to be paid to the reinsurer, and expenses in relation to the 
management and administration of reinsurance claims.

The balance is adjusted for counterparty credit rating based on rating agency and default statistics.

For Life business, reinsurance recoverables are calculated using the same principles as those used to 
calculate the gross reserves.

D.4   Valuation Bases, Assumptions and Methods used to derive the value of 
other liabilities

Insurance and reinsurance balances payable - Insurance and reinsurance balances payable are measured at 
amortized cost under IFRS and are not discounted. There is no difference under the EBS as undiscounted 
amortized cost is deemed a reasonable proxy for fair value, given the short-term nature of these liabilities.  
Reinsurance payables have been transferred to technical provisions under EBS and therefore there is no 
impact on capital for this adjustment (apart from an immaterial amount due to the discounting of reinsurance 
premium payables within technical provisions).

Deposit Liabilities - Contracts entered into by the Company that are not deemed to transfer significant 
underwriting and/or timing risk are accounted for as deposits, whereby liabilities are initially recorded at an 
amount equal to the assets received. Deposit liabilities are measured at fair value less an adjustment for own 
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credit risk. The Company determined the estimated fair value of the deposit liabilities by using the BMA 
standard discount rates.

The Company uses a portfolio rate of return of equivalent duration to the liabilities in determining risk 
transfer. An initial accretion rate is established based on actuarial estimates whereby the deposit liability is 
increased to the estimated amount payable over the term of the contract. The deposit accretion rate is the 
rate of return required to fund expected future payment obligations (this is equivalent to the “best estimate” 
of future cash flows), which are determined actuarially based upon the nature of the underlying indemnifiable 
losses. Accretion of the liability is recorded as interest expense. The Company periodically reassesses the 
estimated ultimate liability. Any changes to this liability are reflected as adjustments to interest expense to 
reflect the cumulative effect of the period the contract has been in force, and by an adjustment to the future 
accretion rate of the liability over the remaining estimated contract term.

Pension benefit obligations - Under both IFRS and EBS the pension benefit obligations are measured as the 
excess of the projected benefit obligation over the plan assets. This is considered a reasonable proxy for fair 
value, particularly given the immateriality of the liability (just 0.1% of total EBS liabilities). 

Derivative liabilities - Derivative liabilities are measured at fair value under both IFRS and EBS. The 
difference between the IFRS and the EBS basis relates to a Life contract that is classed as a derivative under 
IFRS but included within Life TPs under EBS. There is an equal and opposite adjustment to derivative assets 
and therefore the net impact on capital is nil.

Payables (trade, not insurance) - Payables (trade, not insurance) are held at amortized cost under both IFRS 
and EBS given that this is deemed a reasonable proxy for fair value given the short-term nature of this 
liability.

Contingent liabilities - Contingent liabilities are recognized as liabilities in the EBS and valued based on the 
expected present value of future cash-flows required to settle the contingent liability over the lifetime of 
that contingent liability, using the basic risk-free interest rate.

Where the present value of the contingent liability cannot be determined because the timing of likely 
scenarios cannot be reliably estimated, the amount of the liability should be recorded at its undiscounted 
value. In coming up with the expected values both a profit element and risk premium required by market 
participants are taken into account. For cases in which the contingent liability has asymmetrical outcomes, 
the valuation of the contingent liability accounts for a range of possible outcomes. This may be accomplished 
through option pricing models or models that consider multiple outcomes.

Contractual Liabilities Other Than Technical Provisions - All contractual liabilities are recognized on the 
EBS. Contractual liabilities are valued consistent with GAAP. In cases where the GAAP principles do not 
require fair value, the contractual liabilities are valued using the EBS valuation hierarchy.

Where the Authority has issued a direction under sections 6C or 56 of the Insurance Act to effectively allow 
an Insurer to treat a contractual liability as capital in its Statutory Financial Returns, rather than as a liability as 
GAAP would dictate, then a similar treatment may be adopted for the EBS.

Current tax liabilities or assets - Current tax liabilities or assets are measured at the amount expected to be 
paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities, using the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Funds Held Under Reinsurance ("RI") Contracts - Funds withheld liability net of RI recoveries related to the 
retrocession of the majority of the Group’s Life business. Further information on this arrangement is found in 
the Future Policy Benefit Reserves note in the Company's IFRS financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. The reason for the valuation difference is that the RI recovery related to the 
retrocession contract is higher under EBS compared to IFRS (and therefore the net funds withheld liability is 
lower under EBS).

D.5   Other Material Information 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, there is no other material information regarding solvency valuation 
required to be disclosed for purposes of this Financial Condition Report.   
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E.   Capital Management 
This section provides particulars regarding an assessment of capital needs and regulatory capital 
requirements.

E.1   Eligible Capital 

E.1.1   Capital Management Policy and Process for Capital Needs, how Capital is 
Managed and Material Changes During the Period 

The Company has an overarching Capital Management process to ensure an appropriate level and form of 
capital. Thereby, the Company's capital position is benchmarked against its projected risk exposures to 
ensure that it is adequate to support planned business operations as well as certain stressed loss events. The 
form of the capital is designed to provide a balance between security, flexibility and liquidity.

In addition, the Company ensures that it meets the appropriate levels/standards as defined under the 
Insurance Act 1978 using the economic balance sheet framework to derive the Company’s statutory 
economic capital and surplus, its enhanced capital requirement and its target capital levels as defined 
therein. There are appropriate levels of oversight from the Board, Risk and Compliance, Finance and AXA XL 
Treasury to ensure appropriate capital levels are managed and maintained. 

E.1.2   Eligible Capital Categorized by Tiers in Accordance with the Eligible Capital Rules 
for the Company 

               

(U.S. dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024
Tier 1  3,069,515 
Tier 2  98,717 
Tier 3  — 
Total  3,168,232 

The Tier 1 capital comprises fully paid common shares and the contributed surplus or share premium 
thereon.

E.1.3   Eligible Capital for the Company Categorized by Tiers in Accordance with the 
Eligible Capital Rules used to meet the Enhanced Capital Requirement (ECR) and the 
Minimum Margin of Solvency (MSM) Requirements of the Insurance Act 1978

             

(U.S. dollars 
in thousands) Limits MSM ECR

Minimum Margin of 
Solvency

Enhanced Capital 
Requirement

Tier 1 Min 80% 60%  3,069,515  3,069,515 
Tier 2 Max 25% 66.67%  98,717  98,717 
Tier 3 Max 17.65%  —  — 
Total  3,168,232  3,168,232 

E.1.4   Confirmation of Eligible Capital that is subject to Transitional Arrangements 

None

E.1.5   Identification of any Factors Affecting Encumbrances Affecting the Availability 
and Transferability of Capital to Meet the ECR 

The capital needed to meet the ECR is available and transferable.

E.1.6   Identification of Ancillary Capital Instruments that have been Approved by the 
Authority

None
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E.1.7   Identification of Differences in Shareholders' Equity as Stated in the Financial 
Statements Versus the Available Statutory Capital and Surplus for the Company 

The starting point to determine available statutory capital and surplus is to prepare the Company balance 
sheet on an Economic Balance Sheet ("EBS") basis. The EBS balance sheet is derived from the IFRS balance 
sheet by making adjustments to reflect the EBS basis of assets and liabilities. This EBS then provides the 
available capital and surplus which is then categorized into the three ECR tiers. There are restrictions on the 
amount of Tier 2 and Tier 3 capital which can be used to meet the ECR, as well as the minimum solvency 
margin ("MSM").

The IFRS Consolidated Total Shareholders’ Equity and the solvency valuation of the excess of the assets 
over liabilities is set out below. The adjustments are documented in Section D covering valuation of assets 
and liabilities.

             

(U.S. dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024
IFRS Consolidated Total Shareholders' Equity  2,876,050 
Less: Goodwill & Intangible Assets  (44,043) 
Less: Adjustment for DAC  (389,439) 
Adjustments for Technical Provision and Risk Margin under EBS Rules  788,721 
Other Net Adjustments  (63,057) 
Statutory Consolidated Total Shareholder's Equity  3,168,232 

E.2   Regulatory Capital Requirements

E.2.1   ECR and MSM at the end of the Reporting Period for the Company 

The Company's Minimum Margin of Solvency and Enhanced Capital Requirements as at December 31, 2024 
are as follows: 

               

Amount Ratio
Minimum Margin of Solvency 749,660  423 %

Enhanced Capital Requirement 1,588,628  199 %

E.2.2   Identification of Any Non-Compliance with the MSM and the ECR

The Company has met both the MSM and ECR requirements during the year.

E.2.3   A Description of the Amount and Circumstances Surrounding the Non-
Compliance, the Remedial Measures and their Effectiveness 

Not Applicable

E.2.4   Where the Non-Compliance is Not Resolved, A Description of The Amount of The 
Non-Compliance

Not applicable

E.3   Approved Internal Capital Model  

Not applicable

E.3.1   Description of the Purpose and Scope of the Business and Risk Areas where the 
Internal Model is used 

Not applicable
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E.3.2   Where a Partial Internal Model is Used, a Description of the Integration with the 
BSCR Model 

Not applicable

E.3.3   Description of Methods Used in the Internal Model to Calculate the ECR 

Not applicable

E.3.4   Description of Aggregation Methodologies and Diversification Effects 

Not applicable

E.3.5   Description of the Main Differences in the Methods and Assumptions Used for the 
Risk Areas in the Internal Model Versus the BSCR Model

Not applicable

E.4   Description of the Nature and Suitability of the Data Used in the 
Internal Model 

Not applicable

E.5   Description of The Purpose and Scope of the Business and Risk Areas 
Where the Internal Model is Used.  

Not applicable

For the year ended December 31, 2024, there is no other material information regarding capital management 
required to be disclosed for purposes of this Financial Condition Report. 
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F.   Subsequent Events
The Company has estimated that the impact of the January 2025 wildfires will result in a pre-tax loss 
estimate, net of reinsurance and reinstatement premiums within the range of $70.0 million to $80.0 million, 
which will be recorded during the first quarter of 2025. There were no other material events after the 
reporting period to be reported.
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Appendix 1 - AXA XL Group Structure Chart 2024 Q4
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Report of Independent Auditors 

The Board of Directors 
AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd (the Company), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by the 
European Union. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by the European Union, and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood 
that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 


April 30, 2025 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION 

December 31, 
2024

December 31, 
2023Notes (US Dollars in thousands)

Goodwill  25,330  25,330 

Other intangible assets  18,713  20,595 

6 Total intangible assets  44,043  45,925 

Investments in real estate properties  102,876  182,212 

Financial investments  6,541,226  6,677,692 

7 Investments from insurance activities  6,644,102  6,859,904 

8 Investments accounted for using the equity method  —  — 
Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held  2,028,682  2,080,951 

11 Assets arising from insurance contracts, investment contracts, 
and reinsurance contracts held  2,028,682  2,080,951 

of which present value of future cash flows ("PVFCF")  1,970,398  2,026,183 

of which risk adjustment for non-financial risk  54,980  47,548 

of which contractual service margin ("CSM")  3,304  7,220 

14 Derivative assets  —  2,010 

Tangible assets  4,625  5,493 

13 Deferred tax assets  96,691  97,895 

Other assets  101,316  105,398 

Current tax receivables  22,208  25,506 

Other receivables  7,155  38,491 

9 Receivables  29,363  63,997 

Cash and cash equivalents  631,634  793,337 

TOTAL ASSETS  9,479,140  9,949,512 

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
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December 31, 
2024 December 31, 

2023Notes (US Dollars in thousands)

Shareholder's equity - Group share  2,876,050  3,509,718 

of which Net income - Group share  581,872  376,132 

Minority Interests  —  7,365 

10 TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY  2,876,050  3,517,083 
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts 
with discretionary participation features  6,139,517  6,106,972 

11 Liabilities arising from insurance contracts, investment contracts, 
and reinsurance contracts held  6,139,517  6,106,972 

of which present value of future cash flows ("PVFCF")  5,946,459  5,916,143 

of which risk adjustment for non-financial risk  189,725  183,232 

of which contractual service margin ("CSM")  3,333  7,597 

Provisions for risks and charges  5,208  5,832 

14 Derivative liabilities  4,669  — 

13 Deferred tax liabilities  20,962  25,400 

Other liabilities  25,631  25,400 

Current tax payable  39,987  31,045 

Collateral debts relating to investments under a lending agreement or 
equivalent  307,397  156,589 

Other payables  85,350  106,591 

12 Payables  432,734  294,225 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  9,479,140  9,949,512 

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR 
LOSS 

December 31, 
2024

December 31, 
2023Notes (US Dollars in thousands)

Insurance revenue  2,576,452  2,410,443 

Revenues from other activities  6,050  5,326 

15 Revenues from all activities  2,582,502  2,415,769 

Insurance service expenses  (1,883,000)  (1,656,993) 

Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held  (205,204)  (395,274) 

Expenses from other activities  —  (299) 

17 Expenses from all activities  (2,088,204)  (2,052,566) 

Result from all activities  494,298  363,203 

16 Investment return  313,201  266,144 

Net finance income/(expenses) from insurance contracts issued  (146,333)  (192,951) 

Net finance income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts held  43,899  25,253 

Net finance income or expenses from insurance and reinsurance 
contracts  (102,434)  (167,698) 

Financial result excluding financing debt expenses  210,767  98,446 

17 Other income/(expenses)  (49,662)  (6,802) 

Change in impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets  (1,745)  (1,901) 

Other operating expenses  (51,407)  (8,703) 

Operating profit before tax  653,658  452,946 

Financing debts expenses  (157)  (15) 

Profit before tax  653,501  452,931 

13 Income tax  (71,629)  (79,604) 

Net income (loss)  581,872  373,327 

Split between

Net income (loss) - Group share  581,872  376,132 

Net consolidated income (loss) - Minority interests  —  (2,805) 

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(US Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023
Net income  581,872  373,327 

Changes in fair value of financial instruments(a)  (67,680)  222,690 

Net finance income/(expenses) from insurance contracts issued  (59,093)  (182,550) 

Net finance income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts  52,604  37,595 

Foreign currency translation differences  (41,739)  41,657 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Profit or Loss  (115,908)  119,392 

Realised capital gains or losses on equity instruments, without 
recycling in Profit or Loss  —  90 

Change in fair value of equity instruments, without recycling in Profit 
or Loss(b)  2,964  1,116 

Employee benefits actuarial gains and losses  251  (1,138) 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to Profit or Loss  3,215  68 

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax  (112,693)  119,460 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  469,179  492,787 
Splits between
Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Group share  469,179  496,547 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Minority Interests  —  (3,760) 

(a) Including changes in the fair value of cash flow hedge reserve and cost of hedging reserve.
(b) Including changes in the fair value hedge reserve of equity instruments.

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(US Dollars in thousands, except for 
number of shares and nominal 
value)

Number of 
shares

Nominal 
value

Share 
capital

Capital in 
excess of 
nominal 

value

Other
reserves

recognised
through OCI

Translation 
reserves

Undistributed 
profits and 

other 
reserves

Shareholders' 
equity 

company 
share

Minority 
interests

Total 
shareholders' 

equity
Shareholder's equity opening 
January 1, 2024  10,000,000,000  0.01  100,000  3,219,653  (107,776)  (336,958)  634,799  3,509,718  7,365  3,517,083 

Dividends paid  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1,078,835)  (1,078,835)  —  (1,078,835) 

Others (including impact on 
change in scope)(a)  (432)  (6,904)  13,415  (30,091)  (24,012)  (7,365)  (31,377) 

Impact of transactions with 
shareholder  10,000,000,000  0.01  100,000  3,219,221  (114,680)  (323,543)  (474,127)  2,406,871  —  2,406,871 

Net consolidated income (loss)  —  —  —  —  —  —  581,872  581,872  581,872 
Other comprehensive income 
(loss)  —  —  —  —  (71,205)  (41,739)  251  (112,693)  —  (112,693) 

Total comprehensive income 
(loss)  —  —  —  —  (71,205)  (41,739)  582,123  469,179  —  469,179 

Shareholder's equity closing 
December 31, 2024  10,000,000,000  0.01  100,000  3,219,221  (185,885)  (365,282)  107,996  2,876,050  —  2,876,050 

(a) Relates mainly to disposals of companies under common control (See Note 4.1).

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
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(US Dollars in thousands, 
except for number of shares 
and nominal value)

Number of 
shares

Nominal 
value

Share 
capital

Capital in 
excess of 
nominal 

value

Other
reserves

recognised
through OCI

Translation 
reserves

Undistributed 
profits and 

other reserves

Shareholders' 
equity

company 
share

Minority 
interests

Total 
shareholders' 

equity

Shareholder's equity 
opening January 1, 2023  10,000,000  0.01  100,000  3,024,888  (73,265)  (368,102)  (214,245)  2,469,276  —  2,469,276 

Capital distribution to parent  —  —  —  (100,000)  —  —  —  (100,000)  —  (100,000) 
Dividends paid  —  —  —  —  —  —  (150,000)  (150,000)  —  (150,000) 
Others (including impact on 
change in scope)(a)  —  —  —  294,765  (114,407)  (10,513)  624,050  793,895  11,125  805,020 

Impact of transactions with 
shareholder  10,000,000  0.01  100,000  3,219,653  (187,672)  (378,615)  259,805  3,013,171  11,125  3,024,296 

Net consolidated income 
(loss)  —  —  —  —  —  —  376,132  376,132  (2,805)  373,327 

Other comprehensive income 
(loss)  —  —  —  —  79,896  41,657  (1,138)  120,415  (955)  119,460 

Total comprehensive income 
(loss)  —  —  —  —  79,896  41,657  374,994  496,547  (3,760)  492,787 

Shareholder's equity closing 
December 31, 2023  10,000,000  0.01  100,000  3,219,653  (107,776)  (336,958)  634,799  3,509,718  7,365  3,517,083 

(a) Relates mainly to acquisitions of companies under common control (See Note 4.1).

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Operating profit before tax  653,501  452,931 
Net amortization expense   (4,701)  (105) 
Change in goodwill impairment and other intangible assets impairment  1,745  1,901 
Net increase/(write back) in impairment on investments and tangible assets  188  (2,453) 
Change in fair value of assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  3,498  76,082 
Net change in liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts  107,819  6,627 
Net (write back)/increase in other provisions  (373)  1,405 
Adjustment of non cash balances included in the operating income before tax  108,176  83,457 
Net realized (losses)/gains  (28,152)  39,367 
Financing debt expenses  157  15 
Adjustment of balances included in operating income before tax for reclassification to 
investing or financing activities  (27,995)  39,382 

Investment income & expense recorded in profit or loss during the period   (258,556)  (219,494) 
Adjustment of transactions from accrued to cash basis  (258,556)  (219,494) 
Dividends and interim dividends collected  —  8,226 
Interest collected  274,283  214,042 
Investment paid (excluding interests on financing and undated subordinated debts, 
margin calls and others)  (15,195)  (11,628) 

Net cash (used)/provided by other assets and liabilities  (24,422)  (95,700) 
Tax expenses (paid)/recovered  (65,429)  115,637 
Other operating cash impact and non cash adjustment  342,377  (190,967) 
Net cash impact of transactions with cash impact not included in the operating income 
before tax  511,614  39,610 

NET CASH PROVIDED/(USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES  986,740  395,886 
Disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies, net of cash ceded  199,607  — 
Cash provided by contribution of common control entities  —  90,115 
Net cash related to changes in scope of consolidation  199,607  90,115 
Sales and / or repayment of debt instruments  657,907  1,950,479 
Sales of equity instruments and non-consolidated investment funds  53,290  — 
Sales of investment properties held directly or not  127,052  — 
Sales and/or repayment of loans and other assets  399,767  — 
Net cash related to sales and repayments of investments  1,238,016  1,950,479 
Purchases of debt instruments  (1,079,826)  (2,204,011) 
Purchases of equity instruments  (151,480)  — 
Purchases of investment properties held direct or not  (20,246)  — 
Purchases and/or issues of loans and other assets  (257,316)  — 
Net cash related to purchases and issuance of investments  (1,508,868)  (2,204,011) 
Increase in collateral payable/Decrease in collateral receivable  10,983  382,217 
Decrease in collateral payable/Increase in collateral receivable  (21,096)  (216,787) 
Net cash impact of assets lending/borrowing collateral receivables and payables  (10,113)  165,430 
NET CASH (USED)/PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (81,358)  2,013 

(US Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
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Distribution to parent  —  (100,000) 
Dividend payment  (1,078,835)  (150,000) 
Net cash related to transactions with shareholder  (1,078,835)  (250,000) 
Interests on financing debt paid  (157)  (15) 
Net cash related to Group financing   (157)  (15) 
NET CASH (USED)/PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (1,078,992)  (250,015) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AS OF JANUARY 1  793,337  643,270 
Net cash provided/(used) by operating activities  986,740  395,886 
Net cash (used)/provided by investing activities  (81,358)  2,013 
Net cash (used)/provided by financing activities  (1,078,992)  (250,015) 
Net impact of foreign exchange fluctuations and reclassification on cash and cash equivalents  11,907  2,183 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AS OF DECEMBER 31  631,634  793,337 

(US Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
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Note 1    General Information
AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd (the “Company” or “AXA XL Re”) is an exempted company incorporated and domiciled in Bermuda and 
registered as a Class 4 insurer under the Insurance Act 1978. Its registered office is O’Hara House, One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton 
HM11 Bermuda. The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on December 10, 2020 in accordance with Section 14 of the Companies 
Act 1981 under the original name, Redesign Reinsurance Ltd, and changed its name to AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd on January 7, 2021. 
Effective February 3, 2021, the Company was registered in Bermuda as a Class 4 insurer with Section 4 of the Insurance Act 1978.

The Company’s shares are wholly owned by AXA XL Reinsurance Holdings Limited, and the ultimate parent is AXA SA, a French 
société anonyme that is the holding company of an international financial services group (“AXA”). A list of the main entities included 
in the scope of AXA XL Re’s consolidated financial statements is provided in Note 3.1.

The Company is part of the reinsurance segment of AXA XL, the P&C and specialty risk division of AXA, and is a leading reinsurer 
writing casualty, property risk, property catastrophe, specialty, and other reinsurance lines on a global basis with business being 
written on both a proportional and non-proportional treaty basis, as well as facultative basis. The Company and its subsidiaries 
operate mainly in Bermuda, Europe, the United States of America and Latin America.
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Note 2    Significant Accounting Policies 
2.1   BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1.1   Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and 
interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are endorsed by the European Union before the end of the reporting 
period with a compulsory adoption date of January 1, 2024.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 were authorized for issue by the directors on April 22, 
2025. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

2.1.2   Basis of accounting and going concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, based on the expectation that the Company will continue in 
operational existence for twelve months from the date of the financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and modified by the measurement of 
certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value as follows:

• derivative financial instruments;

• financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss; and

• financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

2.1.3   Functional and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is AXA XL Re’s functional currency, and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000 / US Dollars in thousands), except where otherwise indicated. Rounding differences may 
exist, including for percentages.

2.1.4   Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions, as well as a degree 
of judgment in the application of the Company's accounting principles described below. The Company's most significant areas of 
estimation include:

• reinsurance premium estimates;

• assets and liabilities arising from insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts held;

• valuation and impairment of investments; 

• income taxes;

• carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets (in particular impairment tests described in Note 2.6).

While Management believes that all amounts included in the consolidated financial statements reflect the Company's best 
estimates and assumptions, actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

The principles set out in the Note 2 sections which follow specify the measurement methods used for these items. These methods, 
along with key assumptions where required, are discussed in greater depth in the Notes relating to the asset and liability items 
concerned where meaningful and useful.

As recommended by IAS 1, assets and liabilities are generally classified globally in the consolidated statement of financial position 
in increasing order of liquidity, which is more relevant for financial institutions than a classification between current and non-
current items.

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

14



2.1.5   Prior year adjustment

Management identified a prior year adjustment related to the implementation of IFRS 17 that impacts several financial statement 
line items included in the tables below.

These 2023 values have been updated throughout the footnotes where comparative information is disclosed.   

The affected comparative primary statement line items have been corrected as shown in the table below.

Consolidated statement of financial position

December 31, 
2022

December 31, 
2022 Change

(US Dollars in thousands) As reported As corrected

Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held 2,054,588 2,012,793 41,795
Assets arising from insurance contracts, investment contracts, and reinsurance 
contracts held 2,054,588 2,012,793 41,795

of which present value of future cash flows (“PVFCF”) 1,991,137 1,946,316 44,821
of which risk adjustment for non-financial risk 55,462 58,488 (3,026)

Deferred tax assets 82,678 99,937 (17,259)
Other assets 83,748 101,007 (17,259)
TOTAL ASSETS 7,515,807 7,491,271 24,536

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 2,528,646 2,469,276 59,370
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary 
participation features 4,825,140 4,879,263 (54,123)
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts, investment contracts, and reinsurance 
contracts held 4,825,140 4,879,263 (54,123)
          of which present value of future cash flows (“PVFCF”) 4,619,836 4,671,310 (51,474)
          of which risk adjustment for non-financial risk 196,819 199,468 (2,649)
Deferred tax liabilities 39,121 19,832 19,289
Other liabilities 39,121 19,832 19,289
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 7,515,807 7,491,271 24,536

Consolidated statement of financial position

December 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2023 Change

(US Dollars in thousands) As reported As corrected

Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held 2,183,990 2,080,951 103,039
Assets arising from insurance contracts, investment contracts, and reinsurance 
contracts held 2,183,990 2,080,951 103,039

of which present value of future cash flows (“PVFCF”) 2,134,444 2,026,183 108,261
of which risk adjustment for non-financial risk 42,326 47,548 (5,222)

Deferred tax assets 89,601 97,895 (8,294)
Other assets 97,104 105,398 (8,294)
TOTAL ASSETS 10,044,257 9,949,512 94,745
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TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 3,717,219 3,517,083 200,136
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary 
participation features 5,988,623 6,106,972 (118,349)
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts, investment contracts, and reinsurance 
contracts held 5,988,623 6,106,972 (118,349)
          of which present value of future cash flows (“PVFCF”) 5,796,039 5,916,143 (120,104)
          of which risk adjustment for non-financial risk 184,987 183,232 1,755
Deferred tax liabilities 38,358 25,400 12,958
Other liabilities 38,358 25,400 12,958
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 10,044,257 9,949,512 94,745

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

December 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2023 Change

(US Dollars in thousands) As reported As corrected
Insurance revenue  2,384,663  2,410,443  25,780 
Revenues from all activities  2,389,989  2,415,769  25,780 
Insurance service expenses  (1,641,528)  (1,656,993)  (15,465) 
Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held  (341,632)  (395,274)  (53,642) 
Expenses from all activities  (1,983,459)  (2,052,566)  (69,107) 
Result from all activities  406,530  363,203  (43,327) 
Net finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts issued  (194,336)  (192,951)  1,385 
Net finance income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held  19,745  25,253  5,508 
Net finance income or expenses from insurance and reinsurance contracts  (174,591)  (167,698)  6,893 
Financial result excluding financing debt expenses  91,554  98,446  6,892 
Operating profit before tax  489,192  452,946  (36,246) 
Profit before tax  489,177  452,931  (36,246) 
Income tax  (91,637)  (79,604)  12,033 
Net income  397,540  373,327  (24,213) 
Net income - Group share  400,345  376,132  (24,213) 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

December 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2023 Change

(US Dollars in thousands) As reported As corrected
Net income  397,540  373,327  (24,213) 
Net finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts issued  (165,616)  (182,550)  (16,934) 
Net finance income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts  42,041  37,595  (4,446) 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to Profit and Loss  140,772  119,392  (21,380) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  538,380  492,787  (45,593) 
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(US Dollars in thousands, 
except for number of shares 
and nominal value)

Number of 
shares

Nominal 
value

Share 
capital

Capital in 
excess of 
nominal 

value

Other
reserves

recognised
through OCI

Translation 
reserves

Undistributed 
profits and 

other reserves

Shareholders' 
equity

company 
share

Minority 
interests

Total 
shareholders' 

equity
Shareholder's equity 
opening January 1, 2023
as reported  10,000,000  0.01  100,000  3,024,888  (64,117)  (368,102)  (164,023)  2,528,646  —  2,528,646 
Prior year adjustment  —  —  —  —  (9,148)  —  (50,222)  —  —  (59,370) 
Shareholder's equity 
opening January 1, 2023
as corrected  10,000,000  0.01  100,000  3,024,888  (73,265)  (368,102)  (214,245)  2,469,276  —  2,469,276 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Consolidated statement of cash flows

December 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2023 Change

(US Dollars in thousands) As reported As corrected
Operating profit before tax  489,177  452,931  36,246 
Net change in liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts  (40,592)  6,627  (47,219) 
Adjustment of non cash balances included in the operating income before tax  36,238  83,457  (47,219) 
Tax expenses paid  111,722  115,637  (3,915) 
Other operating cash impact and non cash adjustment  (176,079)  (190,967)  14,888 
Net cash impact of transactions with cash impact not included in the operating income 
before tax  50,583  39,610  10,973 
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2.2   IFRS STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS

2.2.1   IFRS requirements adopted on January 1, 2024 

The application of the amendments below as of January 1, 2024, had no material impact on the AXA XL Re’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements:

• Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (including 
the deferral of its effective date) and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants; 

• Amendments to IFRS 16 - Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback; and 

• Amendments to IAS 7 - Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier Finance 
Arrangements. 

2.2.2   Standards and amendments published but not yet effective

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement Requirements for Financial Instruments in IFRS 9 - Financial 
Instruments and IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments :  Disclosures 
These amendments, issued on May 30, 2024, will be effective on January 1, 2026, with earlier application permitted. They have not 
yet been endorsed by the European Union. 

They result from the post-implementation review of the classification and measurement requirements in IFRS 9 - Financial 
Instruments and related requirements in IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures. These amendments improve the requirements 
in IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 related to settling financial liabilities using an electronic payment system as well as to assessing contractual 
cash flow characteristics of financial assets with contingent features, including those with Environmental, Social and Governance 
(ESG)-linked features. 

The amendments also modify disclosure requirements relating to investments in equity instruments designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income and add disclosure requirements for financial instruments with contingent features that do 
not relate directly to basic lending risks and costs. 

The assessment of their impact on the AXA XL Re’s Consolidated Financial Statements is in progress. 

IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 
IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, published on April 9, 2024, will be effective on January 1, 2027, with 
earlier application permitted. The standard has not yet been endorsed by the European Union. 

It is aimed at improving the quality and cross-industry comparability of financial reporting, notably by introducing defined subtotals 
in the statement of profit or loss, adding new principles for aggregation and disaggregation of information and requiring disclosures 
about management-defined performance measures. It will replace IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements. 

The assessment of its impact on the AXA XL Re’s Consolidated Financial Statements is in progress.

Other IFRS requirements not yet effective 
The following standards and amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the AXA XL Re’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements:

• IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures, published on May 9, 2024, and effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2027;

• Amendments to IAS 21 - The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of Exchangeability, published on August 15, 
2023, and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025;

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11: narrow amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 
7, published on July 18, 2024, and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026; and

• Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 - Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity, published on December 18, 2024, and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026.
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2.3   PRINCIPLES AND METHODS OF CONSOLIDATION

2.3.1   Scope and basis of consolidation 

Companies in which AXA XL Re exercises control are subsidiaries. They are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to AXA XL Re. Under IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements, AXA XL Re controls an investee when it is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Only substantive rights (i.e. the holder must have the practicability to exercise them) and rights that are not 
protective are considered in the control evaluation.

Companies in which AXA XL Re exercises significant influence are accounted for under the equity method. Under IAS 28 - 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, significant influence is presumed when AXA XL Re directly or indirectly holds 20% or 
more of the voting rights. Significant influence can also be exercised through an agreement with other shareholders.

Under the equity method, AXA XL Re’s share in equity investments’ post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in the statement of 
profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is stated under “Other reserves”.

Investment funds and real estate companies are either fully consolidated or accounted for under the equity method, depending on 
which conditions of IFRS 10 / IAS 28 listed above that they satisfy. Fees received by asset managers are also taken into account in 
the assessment of the exposure to variability of returns. For fully consolidated investment funds, minority interests are recognized 
at fair value and shown as liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position if the companies’ instruments can be 
redeemed at any time by the holder at fair value. Investment funds accounted for using the equity method are shown under the 
caption “Financial investments”.

2.3.2    Business combinations and subsequent changes in the Company ownership interest 

2.3.2.1   Business combinations of entities under common control

For business combinations of entities under common control, the acquired entities’ results and consolidated statement of financial 
position are incorporated retroactively to the earliest period of common control. Assets and liabilities of the acquired entity are 
stated at predecessor carrying values adjusted to achieve uniform accounting policies. Any difference between the consideration 
given and aggregate carrying value of assets and liabilities of the acquired entity at the date of transaction is included in equity.

2.3.2.2   Purchase and sale of minority interests in a controlled subsidiary 

Purchase and sale transactions of minority interests in a controlled subsidiary that do not change the conclusion of control are 
recorded through shareholder’s equity (including direct acquisition costs).

If control in a subsidiary is lost, any gain or loss is recognized in net income. Furthermore, if an investment in the entity is retained 
by the Company, it is re-measured to its fair value and any gain or loss is also recognized in net income.

2.3.2.3   Intra-group transactions

Intra-group transactions, including internal dividends, payables/receivables and gains/losses pertaining to these transactions are 
eliminated:

• in full for controlled subsidiaries; and

• to the extent of AXA XL Re’s interest for entities accounted for using the equity method.

The effect on profit or loss of transactions between consolidated entities is always eliminated. However, in case of a loss, an 
impairment test is performed in order to assess whether an impairment has to be booked.

In the event of an internal sale of an asset that is not intended to be held for the long term by the Company, deferred tax is 
recognized as the current tax calculated on the realized gain or loss and is eliminated.

2.4   FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
The results and financial position of all AXA XL Re entities that have a functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates) different from AXA XL Re’s presentational currency are translated into US Dollars as 
follows:
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• assets and liabilities are translated at the year-end exchange rate;

• revenues and expenses are translated at the monthly average exchange rates over the period;

• all resulting foreign exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity (translation differences).

At the local entity level, foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing 
at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the 
translation at closing rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognized in the statement of 
profit or loss. When currency risk relating to such monetary items is hedged using derivative instruments a described in Note 2.8, 
changes in fair value of those derivative instruments are recognized in profit or loss and therefore offset most of the translation 
difference relating to monetary items

All assets and liabilities arising from insurance contracts are treated as monetary items. At each period end foreign currency 
monetary items are revalued using the closing rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate 
when fair value was determined.

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations whose functional currency is not the US Dollar are then translated into the Company's US 
reporting currency at prevailing financial position-date exchange rates, while revenue and expenses of such foreign operations are 
translated into the Company's US reporting currency at monthly average exchange rates during the year. The net effect of these 
translation adjustments, as well as any gains or losses on intercompany balances for which settlement is not planned or anticipated 
in the foreseeable future, net of applicable deferred income taxes, are included in shareholder’s equity in the currency translation 
reserve.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity is recorded in the local currency of the acquired entity and is translated into 
US Dollars at the closing date.

Foreign exchange differences arising from monetary financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are 
recognized as income or expense for the period in respect of the portion corresponding to amortized cost. The residual translation 
differences relating to fair value changes are recorded in OCI, like for non-monetary items such as equity securities designated at 
fair value through OCI without recycling.
The groups of insurance contracts that generate cash flows in one or several foreign currencies are treated as monetary items, 
which requires translating their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period into the functional currency using the closing 
rate.

Foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of a net investment in a foreign subsidiary, borrowings and other currency 
instruments qualifying for hedge accounting of such investment are recorded in shareholder’s equity under translation differences 
and are recycled in the statement of profit or loss as part of the realized gain or loss on disposal of the hedged net investment. As of 
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company did not enter into any derivative transactions that would qualify as a net 
investment hedge.

Regarding the cumulative amount of the exchange differences related to disposed business, the Company applies the step-by-step 
consolidation method (IFRIC 16).

2.5   FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The Company applies the fair value hierarchy of IFRS 13  - Fair Value Measurement as described below for all assets and liabilities 
where another IFRS requires or permits fair value measurement or disclosures about fair value measurement in the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The principles below address mostly assets given the nature of the activities of the Company.

2.5.1   Assets and liabilities quoted in an active market  

An asset or a liability is considered as being quoted in an active market when quoted prices are readily and regularly available from 
a stock exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and 
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis between a willing seller and a willing buyer.

The assets need to be liquid, meaning that AXA XL Re can dispose of them in the ordinary course of business within a certain limited 
time period at approximately the price at which the asset is valued. Liquidity for debt instruments is assessed using a multi-criteria 
approach including the number of quotes available, the place of issuance and the evolution of the widening of bid ask spreads.

The fair value of assets and liabilities traded on active markets is determined using quoted market prices when available. For 
financial instruments traded in active markets, quotes received from external pricing services represent consensus prices, i.e. using 
similar models and inputs resulting in a very limited dispersion.
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The fair value of assets and liabilities for which fair value is determined in whole directly by reference to an active market is 
disclosed as level 1 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2.5.2   Assets and liabilities not quoted in an active market 

An asset or liability is regarded as not quoted in an active market:

• if there is little observation of transaction prices as an inherent characteristic of the asset or the liability;

• when there is a significant decline in the volume and level of trading activity;

• in case of significant illiquidity;

• if observable prices cannot be considered as representing fair value because of dislocated market conditions.

Characteristics of inactive markets can therefore be very different in nature, inherent to the asset or the liability, or indicative of a 
change in the conditions prevailing in certain markets.

The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is estimated using:

• external and independent pricing services; or

• valuation techniques.

The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market mainly based on observable market data are disclosed 
as level 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Those which are mainly not based on observable market data are 
disclosed as level 3.

2.5.2.1 No active market: use of external pricing services

External pricing services may be fund asset managers in the case of non-consolidated investments in funds or brokers. Where 
possible, AXA XL Re collects quotes from external pricing providers as inputs to measure fair value. Prices received may form tight 
clusters or dispersed quotes which may then lead to the use of valuation techniques. The dispersion of quotes received may be an 
indication of the large range of assumptions used by external pricing providers given the limited number of transactions to be 
observed or reflect the existence of distress transactions. 

2.5.2.2 No active market: use of valuation techniques

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between market 
participants (a willing buyer and a willing seller) at the measurement date. Valuation techniques include:

• market approach: the consideration of recent prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions 
involving substantially similar assets or liabilities;

• income approach: use of discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models, and other present value techniques to convert 
future amounts to a single current (i.e. discounted) amount;

• cost approach: the consideration of amounts that would currently be required to construct or replace the service capacity of an 
asset.

Valuation techniques are subjective in nature and significant judgment is involved in establishing fair values. They include recent 
arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable willing parties on similar assets if available and representative of fair value and 
involve various assumptions regarding the underlying price, yield curve, correlations, volatility, default rates and other factors. 
Unlisted equity instruments valuation is based on cross checks using different methodologies such as discounted cash flows 
techniques, price-earnings ratios multiples, adjusted net asset values, taking into account recent transactions on instruments which 
are substantially the same if concluded at arm’s length between knowledgeable willing parties, if any. The use of valuation 
techniques and assumptions could produce different estimates of fair value. However, valuations are determined using generally 
accepted models (discounted cash flows, Black & Scholes models, etc.) based on quoted market prices for similar instruments or 
underlying (index, credit spread, etc.) whenever such directly observable data are available and valuations are adjusted for liquidity 
and credit risk.

Valuation techniques may be used when there is little observation of transaction prices as an inherent characteristic of the market, 
when quotes made available by external pricing providers are too dispersed or when market conditions are so dislocated that 
observed data cannot be used or need significant adjustments. Internal mark to model valuations are, therefore, either normal 
market practices for certain assets and liabilities inherently scarcely traded or exceptional processes implemented due to specific 
market conditions.

When valuation techniques are used, the classification between levels 2 and 3 depends on the proportion of assumptions supported 
by observable market data used by external pricing services or, in very limited cases, by the Company.
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2.5.2.3 Use of valuation techniques in dislocated markets

The dislocation of certain markets may be evidenced by various factors. For example, a very large widening of bid ask spreads may 
be a helpful indicator in understanding whether market participants are willing to transact. The dislocation of markets may also be 
suspected in case of wide dispersion in the prices (over time or among market participants), small number of transactions, closing 
down of primary and/or secondary markets, forced transactions motivated by needs of liquidity or other difficult financial 
conditions with insufficient time to market the assets to be sold, and large bulk sales to exit such markets at all costs that may 
involve side arrangements (such as sellers providing finance for a sale to a buyer).

In such cases, the Company uses valuation techniques including observable data whenever possible and relevant, adjusted if 
needed to develop the best estimate of fair value, including adequate risk premiums, or develops a valuation model based on 
unobservable data representing estimates of assumptions that willing market participants would use when prices are not current, 
relevant or available without undue costs and efforts. In inactive markets, transactions may be inputs when measuring fair value, 
but would likely not be determinative and unobservable data may be more appropriate than observable inputs.

2.6   INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2.6.1   Goodwill and impairment of goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of AXA XL Re's share of the net assets of an acquired 
subsidiary, associate or joint venture at the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries is shown as a 
separate intangible asset, while that on associates and joint ventures is included within the carrying value of those investments.

Goodwill is considered to have an indefinite useful life and is therefore not amortized, but instead subject to a test for impairment at 
least annually.

Goodwill is allocated to AXA XL Re’s Reinsurance cash-generating unit (“CGU”) according to the smallest identifiable unit to which 
cash flows are generated and at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.  

The impairment process examines whether or not the carrying value of the goodwill attributable to individual CGUs exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Any excess of goodwill over the recoverable amount arising from this process indicates impairment. Any 
impairment charges are presented as part of operational expenses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. Impairment of goodwill is not reversible.

AXA XL Re performs an impairment test of goodwill by CGU, using valuation approaches that rely on parameters such as market 
indicators, market value of assets, market value of liabilities and future operating profits, derived on the basis of operational and 
economic assumptions in order to determine any significant adverse changes that might lead to the non-recoverability of the 
goodwill. Compliant with IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets, within each CGU, a comparison is made between net book value and the 
recoverable value (equal to the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use). Value-in-use consists of the net assets and the 
value placed on expected future earnings from existing and new business. 

The value-in-use approach is built upon cash flow projections based on the business plans approved by AXA XL Re management and 
discounted using a risk adjusted rate. Cash flows beyond that period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate and a terminal 
value.

2.6.2   Other intangible assets 

The Company's definite-lived intangibles consist primarily of acquired agency relationships, distribution networks, trade names, 
and internally-developed computer software.  These assets are deemed to have defined useful lives and are amortized on a 
straight- line basis over the assets' estimated useful lives. The amortization periods approximate the time over which the Company 
expects to generate future net cash inflows from the use of these assets, and range from three to twenty years depending on the 
nature of the asset. In accordance with IFRS, these assets are subject to impairment testing when events or conditions indicate that 
the carrying value of an asset may not be fully recoverable from future cash flows. If the carrying value of a definite-lived intangible 
asset is in excess of its fair value, the asset must be written down to its fair value through the recognition of an impairment charge to 
earnings.  The Company tests definite-lived intangible assets whenever events or circumstances indicate that carrying values may 
not be recoverable.
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2.7   INVESTMENTS FROM INSURANCE ACTIVITIES
Investments from insurance activities include investments in real estate properties and financial investments.  

2.7.1   Investments in real estate properties 

Investments in real estate properties, including investments in real estate funds, are recognized at cost. The properties components 
are amortized over their estimated useful lives, also considering their residual value if it may be reliably estimated.

In case of unrealized loss over 15%, an impairment is recognized for the difference between the net book value of the investment 
property and the fair value of the asset based on an independent valuation. Furthermore, at the level of each reporting entity, if the 
cumulated amount of unrealized losses under 15% (without offsetting with unrealized gains) represents more than 10% of the 
cumulated net cost of real estate assets, additional impairment is booked on a line-by-line approach until the 10% threshold is 
reached.

In subsequent periods, if the appraisal value rises to at least 15% more than the net carrying value, previously recorded impairment 
is reversed to the extent of the difference between (i) the net carrying value and (ii) the lower of the appraisal value and the 
depreciated cost (before impairment). 

The fair value of investments in real estate properties generally cannot be determined via reference to quotes of an active market 
from an exchange market or service provider. Instead, AXA XL Re real estate properties are valued by qualified independent 
appraisers with relevant professional qualification and experience in the locations and segments of the properties to be valued.

Three main valuation methods may apply to determine the fair value of AXA XL Re real estate assets (the first two ones being the 
most used):

• the discounted cash flow method determines the value of the real estate property from its potential to generate future income. 
Thus, the value is estimated by compiling the net present value of the future cash flows. Main inputs for the valuation are: 
projected rental income, projected operating expenses, capital expenditures requirements, discount rate and exit yield which 
corresponds to the rate used to capitalize the exit rent to determine the exit value of an asset. The Company provides external 
appraisers with all relevant information (notably detailed rent rolls, budget, etc.) to enable them to determine future cash 
flows, to which they also apply their own assumptions. The discount rate and exit yield applied vary from one property to 
another since they are combination of the risk-free rate and the risk premium attached to each property due to its location, 
quality, size, and technical specificities;

• the income capitalization method determines the value of the real estate property by applying a capitalization rate at the net 
operating income at perpetuity. The income capitalization method can notably be used when cash flows are stable and 
relatively certain, mainly where the real estate asset is fully leased (with limited number of tenants) and/or no occupancy 
changes are expected. In that case, it may not be necessary to consider an explicit forecast period such as used under the 
discounted cash flow methodology and a terminal value may form the only basis for value;

• the Hardcore method is a variation of the income capitalization method and determines the value of the real estate property by 
applying a different capitalization rate at the net operating income depending on the type of income.

Specific risks (such as climate, regulatory, legal risks) on real estate property are reflected in the exit yield or discount rate used in 
the modelling by the external appraiser.

2.7.2   Financial investments 

2.7.2.1 Classification of financial assets

Financial assets held by AXA XL Re include notably debt instruments, equity instruments, loans, receivables and investments in non-
consolidated investments funds. These instruments are held directly or through controlled investment funds.

The classification of financial assets reflects the way those assets are subsequently measured in the statement of financial position 
and how gains and losses generated by those assets are reported. The classification of financial assets (including the application of 
classification options) is assessed at initial recognition applying the guidance below and cannot be modified afterwards, unless if, in 
extremely rare cases, the business model in which those financial assets are held changes.

Financial assets held directly
Financial assets are classified in the three following measurement categories, based on the business model in which those financial 
assets are held and on the characteristics of their contractual cash flows:
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• a financial asset is measured at amortized cost if both (i) the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved 
by collecting contractual cash flows from the assets held, and (ii) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI”);

• if both (i) the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets (which is the major business model for AXA XL Re’s investments in debt instruments), and (ii) the contractual 
terms of cash flows are SPPI, the financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FV OCI”) and 
realized gains and losses are recycled through profit or loss upon sale;

• assets not fitting either of these categories are measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FV P&L”).

In addition to the general classification guidance above, the Company uses the following classification options:

• optional FV OCI designation for investments in equity instruments (other than those held for trading), also referred to as “FV 
OCI without recycling”. When applying this option, all subsequent changes in fair value on concerned equity instruments are 
presented in OCI and never recycled to profit or loss ; however, the corresponding cumulative gains or losses are transferred to 
retained earnings on de-recognition. Dividends received on those instruments are recognized in profit or loss. AXA XL Re 
applies this optional designation for most of equity securities held;

• optional FV P&L designation (Fair Value Option for financial assets). AXA XL Re applies this option for some financial assets that 
otherwise meet the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FV OCI, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.

Financial assets held through consolidated investment funds
Assets held through consolidated investment funds are classified:

• either as assets of the “Core Investment Portfolios” which include assets backing liabilities arising from insurance and 
investment contracts, managed in accordance with the AXA XL Re’s Assets and Liabilities Management (“ALM”) strategy;

• or as assets of the “Satellite Investment Portfolios”, reflecting the strategic asset allocation based on a dynamic asset 
management aiming at maximizing returns. Those portfolios are managed, and their performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis.

Financial assets held in the “Core Investment Portfolios” are classified on a line-by-line basis as if they were held directly. Debt 
instruments held in those funds are managed within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets and, by consequence, are measured at FV OCI to the extent that their contractual cash flows are 
SPPI on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets held in the “Satellite Investment Portfolios” are held within a business model whose objective is achieved neither 
by collecting contractual cash flows nor collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and are, therefore, accounted 
for at FV P&L.

2.7.2.2  Impairment of financial investments

The impairment applies to debt instruments, loans and receivables measured at amortized cost or at FV OCI and reflects Expected 
Credit Losses (“ECL”) on those financial assets.

The Company measures ECL allowances at an amount equal to:

• 12-month ECL resulting from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date and recognized for 
financial assets for which the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition (it is also assumed that the 
credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial asset has low credit risk at the reporting date); 
or

• lifetime ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial asset and calculated for financial 
instruments for which there have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition, as well as for financial asset 
for which a credit event has occurred since their initial recognition.

Financial assets for which 12-month ECL are recognized referred to as “Stage 1” financial assets. Financial assets for which lifetime 
ECL are recognized but for which no credit event has occurred are referred to as “Stage 2” financial instruments. Finally, financial 
assets for which a credit event has occurred since their initial recognition are referred to as credit-impaired, or “Stage 3” financial 
assets.

To perform the impairment stage allocation, at each reporting date, the Company assesses, for each financial asset within the scope 
of the ECL calculation:

• whether the financial asset has low credit risk;

• whether the credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition; 
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• whether the credit risk on the financial asset previously classified in Stage 2 has improved since the previous reporting date; 
and

• whether a credit event (default) has occurred.

The approach used by AXA XL Re to perform the impairment stage allocation relies on both:

• A quantitative assessment aimed at detecting, for all financial assets within the scope of ECL calculations, significant increases 
and decreases in credit risk. The Company assesses at each reporting date whether the credit risk has significantly deteriorated 
compared to initial recognition, a concept referred to as “Significant Increase in Credit Risk” (SICR). This concept triggers the 
shift from a 12-month expected credit loss to a lifetime expected credit loss for each instrument. The quantitative assessment 
is based on the “IFRS 9 rating” determined by the Company. This methodology has been developed internally by AXA XL Re’s 
financial risk management and investment department and captures all relevant information, including forwarding looking 
information. In the absence of this internal rating, external rating agencies are used. This methodology outlines three specific 
cases:

1. General case for corporate bonds, government agency, sub-sovereign, and quasi-sovereign bonds, with a methodology 
based on the issuer’s rating;

2. Specific cases for asset-backed securities (ABS), mortgage loans, and specific corporate bonds (SFT, secured debt, 
subordinated debt), with a methodology based on the instrument’s rating;

3. Specific case for government bonds, with a methodology based on the country’s rating.

• The quantitative assessment of the SICR takes into account specific rules such as a downgrade of 3 notches or more in the IFRS 
9 rating for instruments rated B- and above at the reporting date, and a downgrade of one notch for instruments rated CCC+ 
and below at the reporting date. Furthermore, the Company applies the practical expedient for low credit risk instruments, 
thereby limiting the quantitative analysis of credit risk deterioration to high-yield assets (rating below BBB-).

• A qualitative assessment based on expert judgment, carried out to confirm transfers between stage 1 and stage 2 or 3 for 
significant exposures identified through the quantitative assessment. This qualitative assessment only applies to instruments 
where the IFRS 9 rating does not result from an internal view of credit risk (namely, government bonds) and supplements the 
quantitative analysis to confirm the significant deterioration of credit risk.

ECL is defined at each financial reporting date based on the key inputs which are the probability of the default, the magnitude of the 
potential credit loss after any potential recovery and the exposure to the risk of default determined as the financial instrument’s 
gross carrying amount plus the accrued interests at the closing date. 

The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk on the concerned financial assets. Any increase 
in credit risk gives rise to an additional ECL allowance. Previously recognized ECL allowances are reversed when the corresponding 
credit risk improves. ECL allowances and reversals are recognized in profit or loss and, as a counterpart, affect:

• for the financial assets measured at amortized cost, their carrying value in the statement of financial position;

• for the financial assets measured at FV OCI, the amount of unrealized gains or losses on those instruments accumulated in the 
OCI.

2.7.3   Repurchase agreement and securities lending  

The Company is party to repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions under which financial assets are sold to a 
counterparty, subject to a simultaneous agreement to repurchase these financial assets at a certain later date, at an agreed price. 
Since substantially all of the risks and rewards of the financial assets remain with the Company over the entire lifetime of the 
transaction, the Company does not derecognize the financial assets. The liability in balance of the cash received is reported 
separately in the statement of financial position. Interest expense from repurchase and security lending transactions is accrued over 
the duration of the agreements.

Additionally, the Company is party to total return swaps under which financial assets are sold to a counterparty with a 
corresponding agreement. Cash flows equal to those of the underlying assets will be remitted to the Company in exchange for 
specified payments taking into account any increase or decline in the fair value of the assets. This results in substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of the financial assets remaining with the Company. As such, the Company does not derecognize the financial 
assets.
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2.8   DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at purchase date and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value at the 
reporting date. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss unless they relate to a qualifying hedge 
relationship as described below.

In the statement of financial position, derivatives are presented in separate line items, as an asset or a liability depending upon the 
fair value position at the reporting date, with no offsetting, regardless of whether these derivatives meet the criteria for hedge 
accounting.

The Company designates certain derivatives as either: (i) hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows attributable to a 
recognized asset or liability or a highly probable future transaction (cash flow hedge), or (ii) hedging the exposure to changes in fair 
value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (fair value hedge), or (iii) hedging net investments in 
a foreign operation (net investment hedges).

The Company formally documents, at inception of a designated hedging relationship, its risk management objectives and strategy 
for undertaking the hedge. This documentation includes (i) the identification of the hedged item and of the hedging instrument, (ii) 
the nature of the risk being hedged, (iii) the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including 
whether the changes in the value of the hedged item and the hedging instrument are expected to offset each other, (iv) and how the 
assessment of whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements will be performed, including its 
analysis of the sources of hedge ineffectiveness.

The hedging relationship documentation is updated on an ongoing basis.

The purpose and condition of the use of derivatives within the Company are detailed in Note 14.

2.8.1   Cash flow hedge 

A separate component of equity, referred to as cash flow hedge reserve, is adjusted through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) 
for the lower of the following amounts:

• gain or loss on the hedging instrument cumulated since inception of the hedge, and

• change in fair value of the hedged item cumulated since inception of the hedge (i.e. the present value of the cumulative change 
in the hedged expected future cash flows).

If the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument exceeds the change in fair value of the hedged item (sometimes referred to 
as an ‘over-hedge’), the related ineffectiveness is recognized in profit or loss. If the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is lower than the change in fair value of the hedged item (sometimes referred to as an ‘under-hedge’), no ineffectiveness 
appears.

Cumulative gain or loss in shareholders’ equity is recycled in the statement of profit or loss when the hedged underlying item 
impacts the profit or loss for the period (for example when the hedged future transaction is recognized). When a hedging instrument 
reaches its maturity date or is sold, or when a hedge no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, the cumulative gains or losses in 
shareholder’s equity are released in profit or loss when the initially hedged future transaction ultimately impacts the statement of 
profit or loss. If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gains or losses are immediately 
reclassified from shareholder’s equity to profit or loss.

Cash flow hedge relationships are by design highly effective as they generally rely on matching the critical terms of the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument. When the critical terms matching method cannot be used, some hedge ineffectiveness may occur due 
to basis or timing differences. Hedge ineffectiveness is measured using the dollar offset method and is recognized when required in 
profit or loss.

2.8.2   Fair value hedge 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying as fair value hedges of equity instruments designated at FV OCI 
are recorded in OCI, without recycling into profit or loss, together with changes in fair value of the hedged equity instrument.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying as fair value hedges of other financial instruments are recorded in 
the statement of profit or loss, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability. Therefore, the gain or loss 
relating to any ineffective portion is directly recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Hedged items involved in fair value hedge relationships are generally already measured at fair value through OCI. In this case, the 
hedge accounting consists in a remeasurement of the hedged item through the profit or loss instead of OCI.
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Fair value hedge relationships are designed to be highly effective. When sources of ineffectiveness in hedge relationships are 
identified, the hedge ineffectiveness is measured using the dollar offset method and are recognized in profit or loss.

2.8.3   Net investment hedge 

The accounting of net investments in foreign operations hedge is similar to the accounting of cash flow hedge. Any gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in shareholder’s equity; the gain or loss relating 
to the ineffective portion is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Cumulative gains and losses in shareholder’s equity impact 
the statement of profit or loss only on disposal of the foreign operations.

2.8.4   Cost of hedging approach 

When only part of a derivative is used as the hedging instrument, the Company applies the "cost of hedging approach" under IFRS 9 
to reduce profit or loss volatility. For example, if only changes in the intrinsic value of an option are designated as the hedging 
instrument, the changes in fair value of the time value of the option are deferred in other comprehensive income (OCI). This 
deferred amount is then recognized in profit or loss, depending on whether the hedged item is transaction-related or time-period 
related. 

The same approach applies to changes in forward points of a forward contract and changes in the foreign currency basis spread 
when excluded from the designation of the hedging instrument.

2.8.5  Derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting

Most of the derivatives used by the Company are purchased for hedging purposes or  as an alternative to gain exposure to certain 
asset classes through “synthetic positions”. However, given IFRS 9 constraints, only qualifying hedges are eligible to hedge 
accounting provisions described above. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

The Company holds financial instruments that also include embedded derivatives. A derivative embedded in a contract where the 
host is a financial asset in the scope of IFRS 9 is not separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for 
classification applying the guidance described in section 2.7.2.1. Conversely, if the host contract is a financial liability within the 
scope of IFRS 9 and is not measured at FV P&L, the embedded derivative is separated from the host contract to the extent that the 
impact is deemed material, unless the economic characteristics and risks of both the embedded derivative and the host contract 
are closely related. In this case, the host contract is accounted for as a financial liability within the scope of IFRS 9, and the 
separated derivative is accounted for at FV P&L and might be eligible as a hedging instrument.

2.9   ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use, and a sale is considered highly probable. The assets, particularly buildings, are measured at the lower of 
their carrying value and their fair value net of estimated selling costs and are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

2.10   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits while cash equivalents are short-term, liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to cash and which are subject to low volatility.

Investments normally qualify as cash equivalents only when they have a maturity of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition.
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2.11   SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

2.11.1   Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified in shareholder’s equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets to the holders.

Additional costs (net of tax) directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in shareholder's equity as a deduction 
to the proceeds.

2.11.2   Compound financial instruments

Any financial instrument issued by the Company with an equity component (for example certain options granted to convert the debt 
instrument into an equity instrument of the Company) and a liability component (a contractual obligation to deliver cash) is 
classified separately on the liability side of the consolidated statement of financial position with the equity component reported in 
Company shareholder’s equity and the liability component reported in financing debt. Gains and losses relating to redemptions or 
refinancing of the equity component are recognized as changes to shareholder’s equity.

2.11.3   Minority interests 

Minority interests in the Company’s shareholder's equity represent equity in subsidiary entities which is not directly or indirectly 
attributable to the Company’s controlling shareholder.

2.12   INSURANCE CONTRACTS  AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS HELD
In the consolidated statement of financial position, (i) insurance contracts and (ii) reinsurance contracts held are aggregated by 
portfolios and presented separately, depending on their balances at the end of the reporting period, leading to the four following 
categories:

• the carrying amount of portfolios of insurance contracts that are assets;

• the carrying amount of portfolios of insurance contracts that are liabilities;

• the carrying amount of portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are assets; and

• the carrying amount of portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities.

IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts applies to these contracts, such as detailed in sections 2.12 of this Note.

Significant judgments and estimates are made by the Company in applying IFRS 17. The judgments that have the most significant 
effects on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements relate to the classification of contracts, their level of 
aggregation and their measurement.

In particular, the Company makes significant judgments regarding inputs, assumptions concerning the future and other sources of 
uncertainty at the reporting date, and uses estimation techniques to measure the insurance contracts. These assumptions and 
estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis, based on changes in facts and circumstances (including market changes), which leads 
to adjustments in the measurement of contracts.

The Company uses notable assumptions to project future cash flows and ensures to design them to adequately reflect any 
uncertainty underlying the cash flows. Non-market assumptions, based on latest best estimate assumptions (historical data and 
expert judgment), include the following information: loss ratios, best estimate reserves, and payment patterns.

In respect of estimation techniques used to measure the Property & Casualty (P&C) insurance contracts, different actuarial 
projection models are applied, based on (i) the portfolios’ main features (in terms of risk drivers, underwriting and claims policies), 
(ii) quality, relevance and consistency over time of available statistical data, (iii) selection of relevant actuarial assumptions and 
models, and (iv) ability to economically interpret and justify the projected range of results, both quantitatively and qualitatively.

In respect of estimation techniques used to measure the Life contracts, they are based on projections of the key components of 
statutory financial statements, namely income or expenses that relate to policyholders and beneficiary obligations.

The main assumptions that may generate material changes in the estimate of the future cash flows relate to (i) mortality, morbidity, 
and longevity rates, (ii) policyholder behavior (due to lapse and surrender), and (iii) overhead expenses. 
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More specifically, assumptions made about the discount rates, the confidence level for risk adjustment for non-financial risk, the 
pattern of the Contractual Service Margin ("CSM") release are explained in paragraph 2.12.3 and quantitative information about 
these assumptions is disclosed in Note 11.5.

2.12.1 Definition and classification  

An insurance contract is a contract under which an issuer accepts significant insurance risk from a policyholder by agreeing to 
compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (an “insured event”) adversely affects this policyholder. The 
assessment whether a contract transfers a significant insurance risk considers all substantive rights and obligations (including those 
arising from law or regulation) and is based on the use of judgment.

2.12.1.1 Insurance contracts with direct participation features

The Company classifies as insurance contract with direct participation features (i.e. direct participating contract) a contract for 
which (i) the contractual terms specify that the policyholder participates in a share of a clearly identified pool of underlying items, 
(ii) the Company expects to pay to the policyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the fair value returns on the 
underlying items; and (iii) the Company expects a substantial proportion of any change in the amounts to be paid to the 
policyholder to vary with the change in fair value of the underlying items. In addition to the transfer of significant insurance risk to 
the issuer, a direct participating contract is therefore based on a substantially investment-related service under which an entity 
promises an investment return on underlying items (the link must be enforceable), as well as on a contractually specified 
participation. The underlying items determine some of the amounts payable to a policyholder and can comprise any items (e.g. a 
reference portfolio of assets, technical items, the net assets of the entity, or a specified subset of the net assets of the entity). The 
nature of underlying items mainly depends on local regulation and products' features. The Company assesses whether the 
conditions above are met using its expectations at inception of the contract and needs not reassess the conditions afterwards, 
unless the contract is modified. AXA XL Re does not have any insurance contracts with direct participation features.

2.12.1.2 Insurance contracts without direct participation features

The Company classifies as insurance contract without direct participation features an insurance contract that is not an insurance 
contract with direct participation features, namely:

• an insurance contract with indirect participation features (i.e. indirect participating contract) because the payment to 
policyholders depends upon the return on underlying items, without meeting the criteria defined for insurance contracts with 
direct participation features; or

• an insurance contract without any participation features (i.e. non-participating contract) as the payment to policyholders does 
not depend upon the return on underlying items.

2.12.2 Level of aggregation of insurance contracts

The insurance contracts are aggregated at inception to form a group, which is the basis for recognition, measurement and 
presentation. To define the level of aggregation to be used, the Company applies the process hereafter:

• first, portfolios of insurance contracts are identified, each of them only comprising contracts that are managed together and 
subject to similar risks:

◦ since the way insurance contracts are managed is based on the nature of service provided to the policyholder (e.g. 
Property and Casualty, Life, adverse development cover...), contracts for which the service provided to the 
policyholder is substantially similar are managed together. In assessing the nature of the service provided, the entity 
considers different factors such as the granularity at which the internal strategy is designed, the business units 
organization or the granularity of financial reporting;

◦ contracts are bearing similar risks when the nature of the risk drivers (death, longevity, liability, motor, property 
damage, etc.) at inception of contracts is similar,

• then, these portfolios are broken down by annual cohort (IFRS 17 as issued by the IASB preventing contracts issued more than 
one year apart from being included in the same group).

• finally, a further split is performed depending on the level of profitability, with notably a separate group for contracts that are 
onerous at initial recognition.

A group of insurance contracts should not be reconsidered after initial recognition.
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2.12.3 The General Measurement Model or “BBA”

IFRS 17 requires applying by default the General Measurement Model of insurance contracts, called the “Building Block 
Approach” (“BBA”) as it is based on the following building blocks:

• the Fulfillment Cash Flows (“FCF”), which comprise:

◦ the present value of future cash flows (“PVFCF”) corresponding to probability-weighted estimates of future cash 
inflows and outflows (forward looking) with an adjustment to reflect the time value of money (i.e. discounting) and 
the financial risks associated with those future cash flows (market consistent); and

◦ a risk adjustment (“RA”) for non-financial risk;

• the Contractual Service Margin (“CSM”), which is calculated at inception as the difference between the premium paid by the 
policyholder and the expected FCF, and corresponds to the present value of future expected profits.

The General Measurement Model is used for AXA XL Re Life business.

2.12.3.1 Insurance acquisition cash flows

The insurance acquisition cash flows (IACF) arise from the costs of selling, underwriting and starting a group of insurance contracts. 
When these IACF are incurred prior to the date of initial recognition of the group of insurance contracts, such IACF are recognized as 
an asset, which is deducted from the carrying amounts of insurance contracts. The recoverability of assets for IACF is assessed at the 
end of each reporting period, if facts and circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. If an impairment loss is identified, 
the carrying amount of the asset for IACF is adjusted and the impairment loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. When 
the group of insurance contract is recognized, the corresponding asset for IACF is derecognized and included in the measurement of 
that group. AXA XL Re does not have any IACF asset.

2.12.3.2 Estimates of future cash flows

The FCF notably include all the probability-weighted estimates of future cash flows within the boundary of each contract already 
recognized. Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from substantive rights and obligations that 
exist during the reporting period in which AXA XL Re can compel the policyholder to pay the premiums or in which the entity has a 
substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with services. A substantive obligation to provide services ends notably when AXA 
XL Re has the practical ability to reassess the insurance risks and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects 
those risks.

The unbiased estimate of the expected future cash flows within the boundary of insurance contracts, including the cost of options 
and guarantees, are based on a probability-weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes to factor the uncertainty about 
the timing and amounts of the cash flows, determined from the perspective of the Company, provided that the estimates are 
consistent with observable market prices for market variables reflecting conditions existing at the measurement date.

The cash flows attributable to the group of insurance contracts include premiums from the policyholders, claim payments 
(including reported, incurred and all the future claims for which AXA XL Re has a substantive obligation net of recoveries from 
claims), expenses, and commissions.

The following cash flows are not included in the contracts boundary: investment returns as they are recognized, measured and 
presented separately under other applicable IFRSs, costs of investment activities performed for the benefit of shareholders, 
payments or receipts that arise under reinsurance contracts held (as they are accounted for separately), those that may arise from 
future insurance contracts, overheads that do not provide any economic benefits to fulfilling insurance contracts, income tax 
payments and receipts AXA XL Re does not pay or receive in a fiduciary capacity, flows arising from components separated from the 
insurance contracts and accounted for using other applicable IFRSs.

If insurance premiums are first collected by an intermediary and then transferred to AXA XL Re at a later date, the premium 
receivables from the intermediary are accounted for as future cash flows within the boundary of insurance contracts included in the 
measurement of the corresponding group of insurance contracts applying IFRS 17.

2.12.3.3 Discount rate

AXA XL Re  has a defined methodology for the calibration and the generation of “IFRS 17 yield curves” used to discount the estimate 
of future cash flows within the boundary of contracts, consistent with the IFRS 17 requirements and applied homogeneously across 
all AXA XL Re entities.

If the standard does not impose a particular estimation technique to determine the yield curves, AXA XL Re  has chosen to adopt a 
bottom-up approach. This approach consists in using a Basic Risk-Free Rate (“RFR”), based on swap rates for most currencies and 
government bond raters for others, adjusted by adding on a Liquidity Premium (“LP”) allowance to reflect the remuneration of 
illiquidity observed on traded assets until the Last Liquid Point (“LLP”), meaning the longest maturity for which there are enough 
traded bonds. An Ultimate Forward Rate (“UFR”) macro-economically defined as the sum of the average of past real interest rates 
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and central bank’s target inflation is also considered. Discount rates between the LLP and the UFR maturities are obtained by 
extrapolation.

The yield curves used by AXA XL Re for main currencies are summarized in Note 11.5.

The Company has chosen to apply the “OCI option” to all portfolio of insurance contracts, allowing to recognize the impact of 
changes in discount rates through Other Comprehensive Income.

2.12.3.4 Risk adjustment for non-financial risk (“RA”)

The measurement of the RA reflects the compensation required by AXA XL Re for bearing the uncertainty around the amount and 
timing of the future cash flows that arises from non-financial risk as AXA XL Re fulfills insurance contracts. In this respect, the 
Company considers the 62.5th-67.5th percentile range as the adequate level of prudence on underlying insurance liabilities.

The determination of the risk adjustment follows a value-at-risk type approach, reflecting a retained confidence level with reference 
to the risk drivers of insurance liabilities. The value-at-risk is the maximum loss within a certain confidence level. The 
implementation is slightly different between Life and Property & Casualty businesses. For Life business, groups of contracts are first 
shocked, risk factor by risk factor, up to the retained confidence level to assess the change in the present value of future cash flows. 
Then, diversification benefits between risks implicit to the entity’s portfolio are considered by applying correlation factors between 
risks. For Property & Casualty liabilities for incurred claims, a direct value-at-risk calculation, reflecting the retained confidence 
level, is applied to the full probability distribution of the related liabilities. Finally, a diversification effect between AXA XL Re entities 
is considered to reflect the fact that a same risk is unlikely to impact all the Company's entities at the same time.

The changes in the RA are presented in the insurance service result (i.e. they are not disaggregated into an insurance service 
component and an insurance finance component).

2.12.3.5 Contractual Service Margin (“CSM”)

For a group of insurance contracts, the CSM represents the unearned profit attributable to the shareholders. At inception, the CSM is 
the amount that offsets the FCF, less the derecognition of any IACF (see above), or the value of AXA XL Re’s rights in excess of the 
value of its obligations under the insurance contracts. On the other hand, the CSM cannot be negative. Consequently, if the 
expected cash outflows exceed the expected cash inflows, the group of contracts is onerous and the loss, which corresponds to the 
expected net cash outflow, is expensed immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

At the end of each subsequent reporting period, AXA XL Re remeasures the liability for remaining coverage (“LRC”), which comprises 
the FCF related to future services and the CSM of the group of contracts at that date. Hence, the CSM is adjusted at each subsequent 
reporting period for changes in expected future cash flows driven by changes in technical assumptions (death, morbidity, longevity, 
surrenders, expenses, future premiums). Interest is also accreted on the CSM at rates locked in at initial recognition of a contract 
(i.e. discount rate used at inception to determine the present value of future cash flows).

Moreover, the CSM is progressively recognized and included in insurance revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
over the coverage period of insurance contracts (refer to paragraph 2.15.1). The portion of the CSM to be released as part of 
insurance revenue for a reporting period, which reflects the provision of insurance contract services, is based on coverage units. In 
practice, AXA XL Re:

• identifies the total number of coverage units for each group of contracts, which is the quantity of services provided for the 
insurance contracts belonging to the group over the expected coverage period;

• allocates the CSM at the end of the reporting period (before having recognized any amounts in the statement of profit or loss to 
reflect the services provided in the period) equally to each coverage unit provided in the current reporting period and expected 
to be provided in the future; and

• recognizes the amount of CSM allocated to the coverage units provided in the current reporting period in the statement of 
profit or loss.

Given the variety of insurance contracts, AXA XL Re exercises its judgment to define coverage units, considering both the level of 
coverage defined within the contract (e.g. a death benefit over a fixed term, the policyholders’ account value, or a combination of 
guarantees) and the expected coverage duration of the contract.

However, this release of CSM is not applicable if there are adverse changes in future cash flows greater than the remaining CSM. In 
this case, the group of contracts becomes onerous and the loss is immediately recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

When a group of insurance contracts is onerous, on initial recognition or subsequently, the LRC includes a loss component reflecting 
the loss recognized in profit or loss. As long as the group of contracts remains onerous, subsequent changes in the amount of loss 
component are immediately allocated to the statement of profit or loss.
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2.12.3.6 Liability for Incurred Claims (“LIC”)

After initial recognition of a group of insurance contracts, the carrying amount of the group at each reporting date is the sum of two 
different components: the LRC, that relates to the remaining coverage (see above) and the LIC, which corresponds to the FCF 
related to past services allocated to the group.

The LIC reflects AXA XL Re’s obligation to investigate and pay valid claims for insured events that have already occurred, including 
events that have occurred but for which claims have not been reported, and other incurred insurance expenses, as well as to pay 
amounts relating to other insurance contract services already provided or any investment components or other amounts that are 
not related to the provision of insurance contract services and that are not in the LRC.

2.12.4 Measurement with the Premium Allocation Approach

The Premium Allocation Approach (PAA) is used for AXA XL Re’s Property and Casualty business. 

This is a simplified model permitted for the measurement of the liability for remaining coverage (“LRC”) provided that the 
measurement of the LRC does not differ materially from the general measurement model (“BBA”) or the coverage period is one year 
or less. With the PAA, the LRC corresponds to premiums received at initial recognition less acquisition costs and amounts already 
recognized on a pro rata basis as insurance revenue at the closing date. However, the BBA remains applicable for the measurement 
of incurred claims.

2.12.5 De-recognition of insurance contracts

An insurance contract is de-recognized from the group of contracts to which it belongs in case of extinguishment, transfer, or a 
modification of its terms in a such a way that a new contract is recognized in a new group. The de-recognition of insurance contracts 
leads to the elimination of  the Fulfillment Cash Flows (“FCF”) and an adjustment to the Contractual Service Margin (“CSM”) of the 
group of contracts instead of generating a direct and immediate effect in profit or loss, unless the group of contracts becomes 
onerous or empty. Depending on the cause of de-recognition, the CSM of the group of contracts is adjusted:

• in case of extinguishment of an insurance contract, by the same amount eliminated from the FCF;

• in case of a portfolio transfer to a third party, by the difference between the amount eliminated from the FCF and the premium 
charged by the third party;

• in case of a modification of insurance contracts (requiring a de-recognition followed by a recognition in a new group of 
contracts), by the difference between the amount eliminated from the FCF and any additional premium charged to the 
policyholder as a result of the modification. This means that the global adjustments of CSM generated by the modification is 
split between the initial group of contracts and the new one, depending on the hypothetical premium that the entity would 
have charged had it entered into a contract with equivalent terms as the new contract at the date of the contract modification.

Finally, if an insurance contract is de-recognized because of its transfer to a third party or a modification, the remaining amount 
previously recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) is reclassified in the statement of profit or loss when the Building 
Block Approach applies.

2.12.6 Reinsurance contracts

The Company assumes and cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business. Assumed reinsurance refers to the Company’s 
acceptance of certain insurance risks that other companies have underwritten leading to the recognition of groups of reinsurance 
contracts issued. Ceded reinsurance refers to the transfer of insurance risks, along with the related premiums, to other reinsurers 
who will assume the risks as the Company seeks to reduce the potential amount of loss arising from claims events by reinsuring 
certain levels of risk underwritten, leading to the recognition of groups of reinsurance contracts held.

Both groups of reinsurance contracts issued and groups of reinsurance contracts held are subject to the Building Block Approach 
(“BBA”) or the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”) described in the previous paragraphs provided that there is a transfer of 
significant insurance risk; in any case, they are not eligible for the Variable Fee Approach as they are not insurance contracts with 
direct participation features. As the specificities of the treaties can affect their classification, each reinsurance contract is subject to 
a detailed analysis by AXA XL Re in order to determine the appropriate accounting treatment.

Whereas the recognition and measurement of reinsurance contracts issued are similar to insurance contracts issued, the 
reinsurance contracts held have some specificities which are described hereafter.
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Date of initial recognition
The recognition of groups of reinsurance contracts held depends on the type of coverage. When the reinsurance contract held 
provides proportionate coverage, the date of recognition of the group corresponds to the date when any underlying insurance 
contract is recognized by AXA XL Re. When the reinsurance contract held does not provide proportionate coverage, the group of 
reinsurance contracts is recognized at the earliest of the beginning of the coverage period of the group of underlying insurance 
contracts and the date when the entity recognizes an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts.

Boundary of contract
For reinsurance contracts held, the cash flows are within the boundary of the reinsurance contract if AXA XL Re has a substantive 
right to receive services from the reinsurer or a substantive obligation to pay premiums to the reinsurer. Depending on the 
relationship between the contract boundary of the direct insurance contracts and that of the reinsurance contracts held, in some 
cases, the reinsurance treaty might offer protection for underlying insurance contracts that AXA XL Re has not issued yet. However, 
the carrying amount of a reinsurance contract held is nil before any cash flows occur or any service is received.

Measurement
Similar to underlying insurance contracts, PAA is used for short term reinsurance coverages, while long term coverages are 
measured with the BBA.

The measurement of reinsurance contracts held follows a mirroring principle of the underlying insurance contracts leading to 
estimate the present value of the future cash flows of the reinsurance contract held using assumptions consistent with those used 
for the underlying insurance contracts. Thus, the reinsurance asset is derived using the same assumptions as those used by AXA XL 
Re for the underlying insurance contracts as these are the ones used to determine the expected reinsurance recoveries. In practice, 
some reinsurance contracts held by AXA XL Re provide cover for underlying contracts that are included in different groups.

However, using consistent assumptions does not imply the use of the same assumptions as those used for measuring the underlying 
contracts if those assumptions are not valid for the reinsurance contract held. In practice, the use of the same discount rate might 
not be appropriate, especially if the reinsurance contract is entered into during the coverage period of the underlying contracts. In 
addition, the cash flows from the reinsurance contract held include an adjustment for the effect of any risk of non-performance by 
the issuer of the reinsurance contract, including the effects of collateral and losses from disputes.

At inception, the reinsurance coverage, in exchange of a reinsurance premium, is measured as:

• the reinsurer’s share of the expected present value of the cash flows generated by the underlying insurance contracts, 
including an adjustment to reflect the fact that the reinsurer might dispute coverage or fail to satisfy its obligations under the 
contract (risk of non-performance / counterparty risk) ; and

• typically a “net cost” ( a “net gain” can however occur in some cases ), which is in substance a negative Contractual Service 
Margin (“CSM”) corresponding to the cost paid to the reinsurer, depending on the pricing of the reinsurance contract held and 
assessed independently of the CSM arising from the underlying insurance contracts.

The mechanics of the measurement models are the same for the underlying insurance contracts with the difference that the 
concept of CSM is replaced by the concept of net cost / net gain. This net loss or net gain is deferred and released in profit or loss 
throughout the coverage period, in line with the provision of reinsurance services. However, if the net cost of purchasing 
reinsurance relates to past events, i.e. retrospective reinsurance contracts covering such as adverse development covers for 
incurred claims, any net cost occurring at inception is immediately recognized in profit or loss.

Subsequently, at the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of the net deferred cost or gain for reinsurance contracts 
held is adjusted to reflect changes in estimates. However, if AXA XL Re recognizes losses in profit or loss on underlying contracts 
because of adverse changes in estimates of fulfillment cash flows, the corresponding changes in cash inflows for reinsurance 
contracts held are also recognized in profit or loss and therefore do not adjust the net deferred loss or gain of the group of 
reinsurance contracts held. As a result, there is no net effect in the profit or loss for the period to the extent that the change in the 
fulfillment cash flows of the underlying contracts is matched with a change in the fulfillment cash flows on the reinsurance 
contracts held.

2.12.7 Transition methods

The Company has been applying IFRS 17 as from January 1, 2023, with a transition date at January 1, 2022 corresponding to the 
beginning of the annual reporting period immediately preceding the date of initial application.
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The transition from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17 required applying the new standard fully retrospectively, as if it was applied from the inception 
of insurance contracts in force. However, if the application of this full retrospective approach (“FRA”) is impracticable, the two 
following options are possible:

• either the modified retrospective approach (“MRA”), which consists in applying certain modifications of general requirements, 
to the extent that the full retrospective application is impracticable, but still with the objective to achieve the outcome as close 
as possible to the retrospective application, based on reasonable and supportable information available without undue cost 
and effort;

• or the fair value approach (“FVA”), which consists in repricing the contracts in the light of actuarial and financial parameters 
seen at the transition date by calculating the CSM as the positive difference between (i) the fair value of liabilities determined in 
accordance with IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement, corresponding to the price that would be required by an external party to 
acquire the liabilities, and (ii) the fulfillment cash flows of insurance contracts.

In practice, the Company has applied the FRA only to the liabilities for remaining coverage (“LRC”) of the insurance contracts 
measured using the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”) and the liabilities for incurred claims (“LIC”) occurred since 2019. This 
date aligns with the acquisition of the Company by AXA, the ultimate parent.

For the other groups of insurance contracts, different factors (such as the impossibility of running models since the inception of the 
contracts, the unavailability of yield curves, the lack of historical data) have made the application of the FRA impracticable. For 
these groups of contracts, AXA XL Re has applied the FVA, namely:

• for long-term Life contracts, the FVA was the approach used; 

• for LIC occurred before 2019 related to non-direct participating contracts, in the absence of reasonable and supportable 
information (under IFRS 4, claims reserves are generally not discounted), the FVA was applied and the Company used the yield 
curve in force at the time of acquisition by AXA.

2.13   OTHER LIABILITIES

2.13.1   Deposit liabilities

Contracts entered into by the Company that are not deemed to transfer significant underwriting risk and/or timing risk are 
accounted for as deposits, whereby liabilities are initially recorded at an amount equal to the assets received. The Company uses a 
portfolio rate of return of equivalent duration to the liabilities in determining risk transfer. An initial accretion rate is established 
based on actuarial estimates whereby the deposit liability is increased to the estimated amount payable over the term of the 
contract.

The deposit accretion rate is the rate of return required to fund expected future payment obligations (this is equivalent to the “best 
estimate” of future cash flows), which are determined actuarially based upon the nature of the underlying indemnifiable losses.

The Company periodically reassesses the estimated ultimate liability. Any changes to this liability are reflected as adjustments to 
interest expense to reflect the cumulative effect of the period the contract has been in force, and by an adjustment to the future 
accretion rate of the liability over the remaining estimated contract term.

2.13.2   Income taxes 

The current income tax expense (benefit) is recorded in profit or loss on the basis of local tax regulations.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities emerge from temporary differences between the accounting and fiscal values of assets and 
liabilities, and when applicable from tax loss carry forwards. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available to offset the temporary differences taking into account the existence of tax groups and any 
legal or regulatory requirements on the limits (in terms of amounts or timing) relating to the carry forwards of unused tax credits. 
The recoverability of deferred tax assets recognized in previous periods is re-assessed at each closing.  

In particular, a deferred tax liability is recognized for any taxable temporary difference relating to the value of shares in a 
consolidated company held, unless the Company controls the date when the temporary difference is reversed and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. If an AXA XL Re company decides to sell its stake in 
another consolidated entity, the difference between the carrying value and the tax value of these shares for the company that holds 
them leads to the recognition of deferred tax.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets reflects the expected tax impact, at the end of the reporting 
period. That would follow the way the Company expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. When 
income taxes are calculated at a different rate if dividends are paid, deferred taxes are measured at the tax rate applicable to 
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undistributed profits. The income tax consequences of dividends are only accounted when a liability to pay the dividend is 
recognized.

The international tax reform released by Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), known as Pillar Two, 
aims to ensure that an effective taxation of 15% is reached in each jurisdiction where multinational groups operate. As a result, if 
the effective tax rate based on Pillar Two rules in a jurisdiction where the Group operates is lower than the minimum 15% rate, an 
additional tax has to be paid. Amendments to IAS 12 introduce a mandatory temporary exception, prohibiting both the recognition 
and disclosure of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities that arise from the implementation of the OECD Pillar Two model 
rules.

2.14   PROVISIONS FOR RISKS, CHARGES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2.14.1   Restructuring costs 

Restructuring provisions, other than those that may be recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position of an 
acquired company on the acquisition date, are recorded when the Company has a present obligation evidenced by a binding sale 
agreement or a detailed formal plan whose main features are announced to those affected or their representatives.

2.14.2   Other provisions and contingencies 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, when it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when the provision can be reliably estimated.  
Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 

Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate, at the end of the reporting period, of the expenditure required to settle 
the obligation, discounted at the risk-free rate of return for long term provisions.

2.15   REVENUES FROM ALL ACTIVITIES

2.15.1   Insurance revenues 

The insurance revenue reflects the insurance contract services provided by AXA XL Re over the period, which is derived from the 
reduction in the liability for remaining coverage (“LRC”) during the reporting period, subject to corrections (adjustment of 
premiums, loss components) and excluding investment components (i.e. amounts to be paid to a policyholder in all circumstances, 
regardless of whether an insured event occurs).

However, the way these changes are reflected in insurance revenue differs by measurement model.

For the contracts measured under the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”), the insurance revenue corresponds to the amount of 
expected insurance coverage during the period  (or passage of time if not significantly different), excluding any investment 
components.

For the contracts measured under the Building Block Approach (“BBA”), the insurance revenue corresponds to the release of the 
LRC, depending on the quantity of provided services, and an allocation of insurance acquisition cash flows (refer to paragraph 
2.12.3).

In substance, the amounts related to the provision of insurance contract services include:

• the expected claims, including expenses other than insurance acquisition cash flows, but excluding those not contributing to 
the fulfillment of insurance contracts (i.e. non-attributable expenses);

• the release of the risk adjustment for non-financial risk;

• the allocation of the Contractual Service Margin (“CSM”) to the period.

The allocation of insurance acquisition cash flows represents the portion of premiums that corresponds to the recovering of those 
cash flows to each reporting period in a systematic way based on the passage of time, the same amount being recognized as 
insurance service expenses. This mechanism allows the inclusion in revenue of the part of the premium corresponding to the 
coverage of insurance acquisition cash flows. This means that insurance acquisition cash flows are not recognized in the statement 
of profit or loss when the acquisition cash flows occur but when the CSM is released.
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2.15.2  Revenues from other activities

Revenues from other activities mainly include insurance companies revenues from non-insurance activities, notably commissions 
received on the sales or distribution of financial products.

2.15.3   Deposit accounting 

Contracts entered into by the Company that are not deemed to transfer significant underwriting risk and/or timing risk are 
accounted for as deposits (see section 2.13.1).

2.16   EXPENSES FROM ALL ACTIVITIES

2.16.1 Insurance service expenses 

Insurance service expenses arising from groups of contracts issued by AXA XL Re  are recognized in the statement of profit or loss as 
they are incurred, excluding amounts allocated to refunds of premiums and payment of policy loans. Symmetrically to insurance 
revenue, the payments relating to investment components are excluded from insurance service expenses.

All insurance service expenses correspond to actual cash outflows within the boundary of contracts identified when projecting and 
calculating the present value of future cash flows (refer to Note 2.12.3.2). These cash flows are:

• those that relate directly to the fulfillment of insurance contract; and

• those over which AXA XL Re has discretion over the amount or timing. In this respect, the change in discretionary cash flows is 
determined at inception of the contract (e.g. by identifying the minimum guarantees and defining its profit-sharing policy)

2.16.2 Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

In the consolidated statement of profit or loss, net expenses from reinsurance contracts held (net income in some cases) are 
presented separately from the insurance service expenses and included in a single aggregate, corresponding to the net between 
reinsurance service expenses and amounts recovered from the reinsurers.

2.16.3 Expenses from other activities

The expenses from other activities include the expenses that are the twin of revenues from other activities, namely acquisition costs 
and administrative expenses relating to other non-insurance activities (i.e. those incurred by insurance entities and holding 
entities). 

2.17   FINANCIAL RESULT (EXCLUDING FINANCING EXPENSES)

2.17.1 Investment return 

The investment return recognized through profit or loss consists of:

• net investment income from investments, including net of interest expenses and depreciation expense; this item includes 
interest received calculated using the effective interest method for debt instruments and dividends received on equity 
instruments;

• realized gains and losses relating to investments at amortized cost and at fair value through other comprehensive income (with 
recycling in profit or loss), net of releases of impairment following sales;

• realized gains and losses and change in fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss; and

• change in impairment on investments.
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2.17.2 Net finance income or expenses from insurance and reinsurance contracts held

Net finance income or expenses from insurance and reinsurance contracts is presented in the AXA XL Re consolidated statement of 
profit or loss with a split between insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held.

This aggregate comprises the changes in the carrying amount of the groups of contracts that relate to financial risk arising from 
both (i) the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money and, (ii) the effect of financial risk and changes 
in financial risk (i.e. effect of changes in discount rates, exchange rate, the time value of options and guarantees).

However, the option to disaggregate insurance (and reinsurance) financial income or expense between the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and the Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) is applied by AXA XL Re in order to limit the volatility in profit or loss 
(considering that many of the supporting financial assets are measured at fair value through OCI under IFRS 9).

Under this option, for contracts without direct participation features, the difference between the valuation of the liabilities at 
locked-in rates (used for the unwind in the finance income or expenses) and their valuation at current rates is recognized by AXA XL 
Re in OCI. In the same way, when changes in liabilities arise from a contractual link (indexation) between inflation and the payments 
to policyholders, the changes due to inflation that relate to future services shall also be considered as resulting from a financial risk 
and therefore are recognized by AXA XL Re through OCI with a release over the duration of the payments to the policyholders. The 
amount included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is determined by a systematic allocation of the expected total 
insurance (and reinsurance) finance income or expenses over the duration of the group of contracts. This systematic allocation is 
based on the characteristics of the contracts, depending on whether the changes in assumptions relating to financial risk have a 
substantial effect on the amount paid to the policyholder or not:

• when the changes in financial risk assumptions do not have a substantial effect on amounts paid to the policyholders, the 
systematic allocation is determined using the discount rates at the date of initial recognition of the groups of contracts 
measured with the Building Block Approach and at the date of the incurred claims for groups of contracts applying  the 
Premium Allocation Approach;

• when the changes in financial risk assumptions do have a substantial effect on amounts paid to policyholder, the systematic 
allocation is determined by using a rate that allocates the remaining revised expected finance income or expenses over the 
remaining duration of the group of contracts at a constant rate (i.e. the effective yield approach) or a crediting rate based on 
the amounts credited to the policyholders in the period and expected to be credited in future periods (i.e. the projected 
crediting approach).

2.18   OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES
Other income and expenses notably include other insurance expenses, which correspond to overheads assessed as being not 
attributable to the fulfillment of insurance contracts (refer to paragraph 2.12.3).

2.19   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent events relate to events that occur between the end of the reporting period date and the date when the Consolidated 
Financial Statements are issued:

• such events lead to an adjustment of the consolidated financial statements if they provide evidence of conditions that existed 
at the end of the reporting period;

• such events result in additional disclosures if indicative of conditions that arose after the end of the reporting period, and if 
relevant and material.

See Note 21 for further details.
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Note 3    Scope of Consolidation
3.1   CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

3.1.1   Main fully consolidated companies 

Below is a list of the main fully consolidated companies of AXA XL Re, excluding consolidated investment funds and real estate 
entities. Each of the below are wholly owned by AXA XL Re.

AXA XL Re Entities Jurisdiction

AXA XL Reinsurance Ltd Bermuda
XL Re Europe SE Ireland
Catlin Re Switzerland Ltd Switzerland
XL Reinsurance America Inc United States

3.1.2   Main investments in companies accounted for using the equity method 

Companies accounted for using the equity method are discussed in Note 8 with the exception of equity-method investment funds. 
As of December  31, 2024, investment funds accounted for using the equity method amounted to $203.9 million invested assets 
($215.0 million at the end of 2023). See Note 2.7.2.1 for further details.

3.2   NON-CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
Structured entities are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who 
controls the entity, such as when relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements. Structured entities often 
have a narrow and well-defined objective or restricted activities.

The Company holds interests in investment funds including real estate companies. These funds are accounted for using the equity 
method (see Note 2.3.1). Other funds are not consolidated because they are not controlled or under significant influence. By nature, 
and notably because of the power of decision usually given to the asset managers (internal or external to AXA XL Re), most of these 
funds are structured entities.

As an investor, AXA XL Re’s interests in non-consolidated funds are limited to the investments held which are fully recognized in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. Depending on the nature of its investment, AXA XL Re receives interests or dividends 
and can realize capital gains or losses when sold. These investments are subject to impairment testing as any financial asset.

Information on these non-consolidated investment funds are provided in different sections of these financial statements:

• Note 7   Investments, with the breakdown of investments and detail on non-consolidated investment funds in Note 7.7.

• Note 16   Net Financial Result Excluding Financing Expenses.
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Note 4    Acquisitions & Disposals
4.1   COMMON CONTROL ACQUISITIONS & DISPOSALS

A number of transactions, accounted for under common control, were undertaken by XL Group Ltd. through XL Bermuda Ltd (“XLB”) 
and XL Reinsurance America Inc. ("XLRA") to develop the Company as a reinsurance specific reporting entity. 

During 2024 and 2023, the Company and its subsidiaries continued to enter into certain transactions to transfer reinsurance 
business among the other AXA entities. 

4.1.1   Accounting method 

The below transactions are classified as common control transactions, as the combining entities are ultimately controlled by the 
same party (or parties) both before and after the combination. Common control combinations are outside the scope of IFRS 3 and 
as explained in Note 2.3.2, AXA XL Re has accordingly applied the predecessor value method to account for these business 
combinations retroactively from the date these entities came under common control.

4.1.2  Disposal of XL Reinsurance (China) Limited

Effective April 1, 2024, XLRA sold its share of XL Reinsurance (China) Limited ("XL Re China") to AXA China Region Insurance 
Company (Bermuda) Limited ("ACRIB").  XL Re China was 51% owned by XLRA and 49% owned by XL Insurance Company SE 
("XLICSE"). Consideration received for this transaction was $17.0 million. XL Re China is now consolidated within ACRIB, which is a 
direct subsidiary of the ultimate parent company, AXA. 

The table below provides details of the assets and liabilities that were disposed of.

(US Dollars in thousands)

Intangible assets 291
Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held 39,259
Receivables 30,120
Cash and cash equivalents 33,268
Total carrying value of assets disposed 102,938
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts 39,312
Provisions for risks and charges 283
Deferred tax liabilities 1,062
Payables 43,497
Total carrying value of liabilities disposed 84,154
Carrying value of net assets acquired 18,784
Total consideration received 17,000
Difference between net assets acquired and consideration paid (1,784)
Group share (910)
Minority interest share (874)

4.1.3  Disposal of AXA XL Resseguros S.A.

Effective June 30, 2024, Catlin Re Switzerland Ltd ("CRCH") sold AXA XL Resseguros S.A. to AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd, the 
parent company of AXA XL Re. Consideration received for this transaction was $78.8 million. 

The table below provides details of the assets and liabilities that were disposed of.
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(US Dollars in thousands)

Intangible assets 55
Investments 118,429
Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held 33,932
Receivables 26,099
Cash and cash equivalents 8,559
Total carrying value of assets disposed 187,074
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts 51,726
Deferred tax liabilities 16,560
Payables 20,999
Total carrying value of liabilities disposed 89,285
Carrying value of net assets acquired 97,789

Total consideration received 78,835
Difference between net assets acquired and consideration paid (18,954)

4.1.4    Acquisition of XL Reinsurance America Inc.

During 2023, XLB contributed all shares of XL Reinsurance America Inc. (“XLRA”) to AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd, with no 
consideration paid. Prior to the effective date, XL America Inc., a subsidiary of XLB, was the sole shareholder of XLRA, with a carrying 
value of $856.8 million. The Company and XLB are ultimately controlled by the same parent company, AXA.

Immediately subsequent to the initial contribution, AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd contributed all assets to the Company, which 
is a direct subsidiary of AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd. As a result, XLRA is now a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company.

The table below provides the details of the assets and liabilities acquired, net of reserves and translation reserves assumed of 
$544.3 million, prior to any consolidation adjustments including the elimination of intercompany reinsurance agreements. Refer to 
Note 18 for detail regarding the intercompany reinsurance agreements.

Reserves and translation reserves were comprised mainly of retained earnings and other comprehensive income relating to 
unrealized gains on investments. A total of $544.3 million assumed share consideration equal to the share capital of XLRA, was 
contributed by XLB to AXA XL Re, via AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd, on acquisition. The balances presented below have been 
restated for the implementation of IFRS 9 and IFRS 17, which were adopted on January 1, 2023.

 

(US Dollars in thousands)

Intangible assets 4,467
Investments 1,741,002
Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held 672,428
Receivables 846,595
Cash and cash equivalents 90,115
Total carrying value of assets acquired 3,354,607
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features 2,118,449

Provisions for risks and charges 1,313
Payables 378,075
Total carrying value of liabilities assumed 2,497,837
Carrying value of net assets acquired 856,770
Less: reserves and translation reserves assumed (544,267)
Carrying value of net assets acquired net of reserves and translation reserves assumed 312,503
Total consideration received in shares 312,503
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Note 5      Financial and Reinsurance Risk 
Management

5.1   RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL ORGANIZATION
The Company faces strategic, financial and operational risks related to, among others: underwriting activities, financial reporting, 
changing macroeconomic conditions, investments, reserving, changes in laws or regulations, information systems, business 
interruption and fraud. An enterprise view of risk is required to identify and manage the consequences of these common risks and 
risk drivers on the Company's profitability, capital strength and liquidity. This is managed by the Risk Management ("RM") function, 
an integrated part of all business processes, who define and deploy the Risk Management Framework (“RMF”).

The Company RMF consists of a set of risk policies and standards. These are reviewed and approved by the Board, at least annually. 
The RMF would be reviewed more regularly if the Company was subject to a major change in regulatory requirements, strategy or 
organizational structure. 

The aim of the RMF is to:

• Support business objectives and strategy;

• Provide management information to facilitate the identification and understanding of material risks including related 
mitigants;

• Contribute to the Company's overall internal control framework by helping to manage the inherent complexity within the 
business;

• Maintain the desired credit rating which is applicable to the Company;

• Support regulatory risk management requirements.

The Board meets regularly and oversees the implementation and embedding of the RMF and monitoring of Company performance 
against its risk appetite. The Board also has responsibility for capital monitoring. The Board ensures that material and emerging 
risks are identified and reported and that appropriate arrangements are in place to manage and mitigate those risks effectively. The 
Company's stress testing framework and outputs are reviewed by the Board and support understanding of the risk profile.

The AXA XL Division ("AXA XL") and the Company are required by AXA Group to comply with AXA Group policies and standards. The 
AXA Group Standards form part of the overall risk management framework including Compliance, Internal Audit, Internal Control 
and Risk Management. AXA Group Standards have specifically identified Divisional and Company standard owners. The Group 
Solvency II Policies have been implemented and adapted to AXA XL Division’s specificities as described in the AXA XL Division’s 
Solvency II Policies. These policies are also implemented at legal entity level with local addenda. The Solvency II Policies implement 
AXA’s risk strategy throughout the AXA XL Division and the Company, facilitate control mechanisms and consider the nature, scope 
and time horizon of the business and the associated risks.

The AXA standards include Risk Management Second Opinions, the Internal Control Framework and the Risk Appetite Framework 
which are outlined below.

5.1.1   Risk management Second Opinions 

The AXA Standards require Risk Management to provide formal "Second Opinions" in certain key areas of risk to ensure that the 
viewpoint of Risk Management is formally documented within any related concerns and mitigation plans. The "Second Opinions" 
are provided by Risk Management "Centers of Excellence" at the divisional level and cover the following areas:

• New products and loss-making portfolios;

• Reserves;

• New investments and changes to the Strategic Asset Allocation (“SAA”);

• Strategic business plan;

• Ceded reinsurance (outwards) program; 

• Major projects; and

• Mergers and acquisitions
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5.1.2   Internal control framework 

The AXA XL Internal Control team, within the Risk Management function, manages the AXA Internal Control Framework at AXA XL 
Division and monitors the overall system of controls, covering all AXA XL departments and processes, ensuring all controls are 
performed. The AXA Internal Control Framework provides a robust and effective approach by: 

• Implementing a risk-based approach to focus on risks that really matter; 

• Promoting management accountability for controls; 

• Introducing a common set of tools and techniques to be consistently used across the Group;

• Improving coordination between the different control functions.

The AXA XL framework covers a total of 30 macro-processes for AXA XL that constitute the AXA XL value chain for the insurance and 
reinsurance business. For each macro-process, key risks are defined and for each key risk, control objectives are defined to cover 
them. For each control objective, controls are designed and operated locally to efficiently meet control objectives and mitigate the 
related key risk. 

The AXA XL Internal Control team is also responsible for the Internal Financial Control framework, looking at key controls around 
financial reporting and Solvency II across the Division. This framework has been in place at AXA XL for many years and provides 
reasonable assurance to legal entities within the Division that financial reporting is reliable and compliant with applicable laws and 
regulations and provides comfort over the completeness, accuracy and appropriateness of data. 

5.1.3   Risk appetite framework ("RAF") 

The Company's RAF is a key dimension of the risk management strategy and is derived from the AXA Group RAF. The RAF 
distinguishes between 'Risk Appetite Statements' which apply to multiple risk types, and 'Risk Appetite Exposures' which apply to 
single risk types. In addition, there exists the potential for additional 'Risk Indicators' which are not explicitly specified in the scope 
of the RAF but are identified as required by the Company. The RAF is used to provide governance for setting new monitoring 
requirements, as well as reviewing and updating existing risk appetite statements, tolerances and limits, so that these are aligned 
with business and risk management strategies. The Company's RAF and indicators focus on regulatory capital at risk, tolerances to 
risks from material individual events (e.g. natural catastrophes, realistic disaster scenarios that cross multiple lines of business, 
etc.), liquidity standards, and tolerance to specific investment related risks. The Board approved risk appetites and risk tolerances 
were reviewed during the 2025 business planning process and it was determined that all statements and tolerances were 
appropriate to allow the Company to execute the 2025 business plan. 

5.1.4   Risk management strategy 

The risk management strategy is overseen by the Board and supports the delivery of the overall business strategy. To support the 
Board, the RM function oversees detailed risk management activity and monitoring against the Board approved risk appetites.

The risk management strategy is to ensure that risk implications, as well as reward, are considered in both setting and 
implementing the Company's strategic and business objectives, and risks associated with the strategic direction of the business are 
appropriately monitored. The strategy is articulated in the risk policies and is achieved by incorporating risk processes, information 
and decisions in the day to day running of the business.

The Company's strategy involves taking on risk to generate return. Risks are selected and controlled or traded off through the risk 
strategy that focuses on:

• Retaining risk within an approved risk appetite that is consistent with our strategic objectives while maintaining appropriate 
levels of capital;

• A diversified portfolio of underwriting and financial markets risks;

• Managing excessive aggregation risk via a limit framework;

• Exercising consistency and transparency of risk management and control across the Company;

• Risk mitigation on key underwriting and financial market risks to protect capital from the impact of extreme events; and

• Risk reporting to the Board and other stakeholders (e.g. regulators).

The risk management strategy and risk appetite frameworks are supported by the following:

• Risk Governance - a clear and cost-effective organizational structure for risk management, including clear roles and 
responsibilities. The Company operates a ‘Three Lines of Defense’ governance structure, at a functional level and at a 
management committee level.
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• Risk Definition and Categorization - provides a common taxonomy and language for risk to allow for categorization of all risks 
in a way which facilitates links between the business and risk management processes.

• Risk Cycle and Processes - the approach taken to top down, bottom up and process led risk identification, quantification and 
management and control.

• Risk Management Information and Reporting, including Commercial Insurer Solvency Self-Assessment ("CISSA") Production - 
ensuring timely and accurate information is reviewed in line with the governance structure.

• Risk-Based Decision Making - the results of the CISSA and the insights gained in the CISSA process are considered for a range of 
business decisions.

• Skills, Resources and Risk Culture; Organizational Learning; Change Management Governance - all enable a mature risk culture 
throughout the Company.

5.1.5   Risk management and solvency self-assessment systems implementation 

The CISSA process includes all the material risks, processes and procedures employed to identify, assess, monitor, manage, and 
report the short and long term risks the Company faces or may face and to determine capital necessary to ensure that the 
Company's overall solvency needs are met at all times.

The Regulatory Capital Requirement is derived using the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement (“BSCR”) standard formula. The 
results are presented to the Board to provide richer insights on risk exposures, and to inform and drive risk and capital-based 
decision making.

The processes for the CISSA and production of the CISSA Report are tailored to fit into the Company's organizational structures in a 
proportionate manner with techniques to assess the overall solvency needs and taking into consideration the nature, scale and 
complexity of the risks inherent to the business.

The risk management cycle is set for key aspects of the risk management process that are deemed to be part of the CISSA process 
and that will support the production of the Company's CISSA Report. The CISSA process includes procedures that enable the 
Company to monitor its compliance with its risk appetites, and regulatory capital requirements whilst considering potential future 
changes in the risk profile and considering stressed situations.

5.1.6   Relationship between the solvency self-assessment, solvency needs, and capital and risk 
management systems 

The Company's RMF is designed to be comprehensive and to provide a sound basis for the set of risk appetites, and the capacity to 
identify, manage and report on key risks facing the Company on a timely basis. From this, we can see that the Company’s risk profile 
can be managed in line with its Board approved limit and risk appetite framework.

The Company uses the BSCR to calculate the required CISSA capital to support its business plans based on risks facing the business. 
AXA XL also maintains its own internal model which is used to determine its contribution to the AXA Group consolidated solvency 
position and to assist the Company with its portfolio shaping decisions and return metrics.

5.1.7   Internal financial control ("IFC") 

The Internal Control function is committed to promoting a robust Internal Control Framework, including Internal Financial Control, 
for the Audit Committee of key legal entities within the AXA XL Division, executive management, and external stakeholders to rely on 
for financial and regulatory reporting purposes.   

The IFC’s core strategic objectives include:

• Conducting an effective and efficient assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over financial 
reporting;

• Identifying areas in which the inherent risk of financial misstatement is high so that management can address these risks 
before they manifest themselves in an actual misstatement;

• Providing executive management, the Company's Board and AXA Group reasonable assurance over AXA XL's financial reporting 
processes; and

• Adding value by helping management promote a robust control environment.

The Internal Control team performs a regular assessment of the control framework which includes risk identification, risk 
assessment and planning, documenting business processes, evaluation and validation of key risks, testing of controls and 
identification and management of issues. For the Internal Financial Control Framework, this cycle is annual and well established.
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The team is also responsible for monitoring remediation plans until closure and for making regular reporting on controls results to 
AXA Group, the Reinsurance Audit Risk and Compliance Committee ("Re ARCC"), the Audit Committee of key legal entities, executive 
management and  external auditors and regulators.

5.1.8   Compliance function 

The compliance function is responsible for advising the Company’s management and Board on compliance with applicable laws, 
regulations and administrative provisions adopted in accordance with the Insurance Act 1978 and other local laws and regulations, 
and on the impact of changes in the legal and regulatory environment applicable to the Company’s operations. The function 
provides expertise, advice and support to various departments of the Company to assess situations and compliance matters, 
analyze compliance risk and contribute to design solutions to mitigate those risks to which the Company is exposed.

The compliance function has a direct reporting line to the Global Chief Compliance Officer and to regional Chief Executive Officers. 
The compliance function manages a wide range of compliance related matters including (i) regular reporting on significant 
compliance and regulatory matters to senior management and to regulators, (ii) financial crime matters (which include anti-
corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering programs as well as international sanctions/embargo compliance), (iii) data 
privacy, (iv) Employee Compliance & Ethics Guide and, (v) the monitoring of compliance and regulatory risks. 

The compliance function undertakes an annual Compliance Risk Assessment to identify the most significant compliance risks to 
which the business is exposed. Based on this assessment, an Annual Compliance Plan is developed at the end of each year for the 
following year. 

The compliance activities within the Company are articulated around a number of AXA Group Standards and Policies which set the 
minimum requirements expected to be covered by the Company. The AXA XL Code of Conduct (the “Code”) contains standards and 
policies on significant risks affecting the compliance activities as well as the high-level control and monitoring principles to which 
the Company must adhere. Both the standards and policies contained in the Code (e.g. compliance governance, anti-money 
laundering, sanctions, anti-bribery, etc.) are mandatory. In addition, the compliance function has adapted the AXA XL requirements 
and developed local policies to align with the relevant laws and regulations in the jurisdiction in which the Company operates and 
conducts business.  These local policies are reviewed on a regular basis with recommendations being made for adoption to the 
Board or the Executive Committee.

On a regular basis, the compliance function reports directly to the Audit Committee on significant compliance matters. These 
include major regulatory changes that have compliance implications, results of the Compliance Risk Assessment, the Annual 
Compliance Plan, and any other significant issues that require escalation.

5.1.9   Internal audit function 

AXA XL Internal Audit provides the Board and Executive Management with independent and objective assurance on the 
effectiveness of the overall control environment to help protect the assets and reputation of the organization and help improve its 
operations.

AXA XL Internal Audit sets an annual plan of work, approved and monitored by the Audit Committee, based on an assessment of 
both the inherent risk and the adequacy of controls as well as consideration of cyclical coverage.

A report is issued at the conclusion of each audit assignment to relevant senior management, with the results and resolution status 
of internal audit issues presented regularly to the Audit Committee and management.

The AXA XL internal audit function has an audit charter to document its purpose, independence, scope, accountabilities, 
responsibilities, authorities and standards. The charter is approved by the Audit Committee each year. 

The head of the AXA XL internal audit function has a direct and unfettered reporting line directly to his/her respective Audit 
Committee Chairman and reports functionally through to the Group Head of Internal Audit.
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5.2   MARKET RISK
Market risk represents the potential for loss due to adverse changes in the fair value of financial and other instruments. The 
Company is principally exposed to the following market risks:

Component Definition

Interest rate and spread 
risk

Financial loss or volatility of profits due to the combined sensitivity of the economic value of the 
investment portfolio and reinsurance liability cash flows and issued debt securities  to changes in 
the level or volatility of benchmark interest rates and credit spreads.

Market risk concentrations
Financial loss or volatility of profits due to the increased sensitivity of the market value of the 
investment portfolio to other risks specifically due to concentrations of investments such as in 
specific geographical region, industry or company.

Foreign exchange risk Financial loss due to volatility in the value of the Company’s assets and liabilities following 
changes in currency exchange rates.

Equity price risk Financial loss or volatility of profits due to the sensitivity of the value of the investment portfolio 
to changes in the level or in the volatility of market prices of equities.

For further details of the Company's investment portfolio which is subject to the risks above, see Note 7.

The Company identifies and manages market risk through the following processes:

Process Definition

Business planning As part of the annual planning process, a review is undertaken of the nature of assets required to 
support the business plan and the expected liabilities.

Investment risk appetite The Company Risk Appetite Framework sets maximum risk tolerances and is reviewed annually.

Risk reporting and 
processes

The risk reporting process assists in identifying if there are any changes to market risks already 
identified in the previous assessment.

The Strategic Asset Allocation ("SAA") process establishes a target allocation for the investment portfolio that is constructed to 
maximize enterprise value, subject to various considerations and constraints. It is subject to the risk tolerances recommended by 
Risk Management and is approved annually by the Board.

• Authorities Framework / Risk Appetite Framework
In conjunction with the SAA, the Company has a Risk Appetite Framework modeled off the AXA Group and AXA XL Divisional 
framework which limits exposure to various asset classes (with tighter limits for higher risk asset types), as well as duration and 
FX mismatches. The Company also benefits from AXA XL Division centralized investment risk monitoring through the 
Investment Authorities and Guidelines, which further monitors exposures by average credit quality, corporate industry sector, 
region (for municipal securities, emerging markets and developed sovereigns), BBB exposure and below, and leverage. These 
controls are implemented through regular compliance monitoring and reporting.

The Risk Appetite Framework and associated market risk limits address the key market risk factors and are commensurate with 
the volume and complexity of activity undertaken by the Company. The framework is designed to capture investment risks and 
to consistently and objectively measure, assess, manage and report such risks on an ongoing basis.

• Service Level Agreement
A service level agreement is in place between XL Group Investments Ltd. and the Company. This includes guidance on type of 
investments and the weighted average credit ratings of the portfolio that can be made on behalf of the Company. Adherence to 
policies and limits are monitored on a regular basis and reported to the Board.

5.2.1   Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign currency exposures represent all net assets and liabilities held in currencies other than US dollars that generate foreign 
exchange volatility. The Company's foreign currency exposure is dominated by the Euro, British Pound and Canadian Dollar. The 
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majority of our exposure relates to subsidiaries of the Company which are denominated in the currencies below with our foreign 
currency exposure reported as translation reserves in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  

The Company seeks to mitigate the risk by matching the estimated foreign currency denominated liabilities with assets 
denominated in the same currency. Asset liability management analysis is run regularly to adjust surplus and shortfall currencies, 
ensuring that the entity exposures are broadly matched. 

The table below outlines the Company's year-end adjusted net asset exposure.

(Foreign currency - US Dollars in  thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Euro  712,798  893,874 
British Pound  114,292  214,780 

 Canadian Dollar  199,026  210,694 

5.2.2   Stress testing and sensitivity analysis on the investment portfolio 

An embedded Stress Testing framework is used to understand possible impacts of major risks, including market risks. The following 
stress and scenario tests are used to identify risk exposures:

• Interest rate and credit spread sensitivity testing: by re-valuing current portfolio holdings assuming various changes in the 
levels of interest rates and credit spreads;

• FX stress tests on assets and liabilities;

• Ad hoc scenario stress testing as deemed appropriate by Risk Management;

• Predefined stress tests in accordance with the BMA framework. 

The Company performs sensitivity analyses to estimate its exposure to movements in interest rates and equity markets. These 
analyses quantify the potential impact on the Company of positive and adverse changes in financial markets.

The sensitivities of shareholder's equity to changes in major economic assumptions were calculated as follows for year-end 2024:

• upward/downward shift of 50 basis points in reference interest rates simulates an instantaneous shock to the initial conditions; 

• upward/downward shift of 50 basis points in credit spreads in similar fashion to interest rates;

• 25% higher/lower value of equity markets simulates a shock to the initial conditions for equities only. Listed equities and 
private equity values including the impact of equity hedges are shocked (i.e., changes to current market values of all these 
equities excluding hedge funds).

Investment Portfolio Sensitivities December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
(US Dollars in thousands) Amount As a Percentage Amount As a Percentage

Shareholder's Equity  2,876,050  100.0 %  3,517,083  100.0 %

Interest rates +50bps  (56,361)  (2.0) %  (75,894)  (2.2) %

Interest rates -50bps  57,332  2.0 %  78,102  2.2 %

Credit spreads +50bps  (58,015)  (2.0) %  (66,545)  (1.9) %

Credit spreads -50bps  59,851  2.1 %  68,697  2.0 %

Equity Markets +25%  25,814  0.9 %  12,589  0.4 %

Equity Markets -25%  (25,814)  (0.9) %  (12,589)  (0.4) %

Note: All sensitivities are presented net of tax. 

5.3   CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from migration and default.  The Company is exposed to five sources of credit risk: (i) 
underwriting businesses with products with embedded credit risk exposures, (ii) Investments, (iii) Treasury, (iv) Unsecured 
Reinsurance Recoverables and (v) Broker Premium Receivables. Credit risk arising from country specific exposures is captured as 
part of the country risk framework.  
Each source of credit risk is further defined as follows:
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Component Description

Reinsurance counterparty 
risk Risk of losses due to the default of a reinsurer or a deterioration of its credit worthiness.

Investment counterparty 
risk

Counterparty default risk is the risk of possible losses due to the unexpected default, or 
deterioration in the credit standing of investment counterparties.

Premium counterparty risk
Premium counterparty default risk is the risk of possible losses due to unexpected default, or 
deterioration in the credit standing of the premium debtors in relation to reinsurance contracts 
written.

Underwriting counterparty 
risk

Exposure to obligor credit risk default or deterioration of obligor that the Company is exposed 
to through certain credit sensitive underwriting activities which include, Trade Credit, 
Commercial and Construction Surety, and Professional Lines.

Treasury counterparty risk
Exposure to the risk of default or to the risk of credit deterioration of counterparty banks used by 
the company in its day-to-day Treasury operations (deposits, cash balances and foreign 
exchange transactions).  

5.3.1   Credit risk framework 

The Company benefits from the Credit Risk Framework of the AXA XL Division, which is managed with four sets of limits: 

1. The Systemic Credit Clash Scenario is an enterprise view of portfolio risk to a systemic credit event that incorporates all 
relevant risk sources that could be impacted by a credit risk event.

2. The Systemic Financial Institutions Realistic Disaster scenario ("FI RDS") is an underwriting view of portfolio risk to a defined 
global financial crisis.

These scenarios (Systemic Credit Clash and FI RDS) reflect an "instantaneous" view of the ultimate risk. The scenarios 
conservatively assume that the entirety of the losses, which are expected to be multiyear in nature, all occur on day one. The 
risk sources are diverse in terms of how they are expected to manifest themselves, thus creating a form of "time 
diversification". The scenarios are expressed in Probable Maximum Loss (PML) terms with methodologies aligned to tail events.

3. Obligor idiosyncratic concentration risk is managed with alerts and limits set as a function of obligor credit quality. Alerts and 
limits are in USD net notional terms representing the amount at risk and assuming no recovery. Exposures are from the 
functional sources (Reinsurance Recoverables, Treasury, and Investments) and from the reinsurance underwriting businesses 
with embedded credit risk activities. Credit quality ratings are derived from AXA Group. When an obligor is not in the AXA Group 
universe, AXA XL applies its own credit rating methodology.

4. Country risk limits are set to manage obligor concentration aggregated at their country of risk level with limits by country 
expressed in PML terms and with methodologies aligned to tail events. 

Guidelines are used to manage concentration to brokers and issuers of incoming letters of credit and surety bonds.

In addition, obligor exposures are also required to align to the AXA Group Global Issuer Framework which can constrain AXA XL 
obligor deployment even if AXA XL credit risk framework capacity exists. Constraints from Group come in various forms:

• Names on Ban list due to default risk, reputational risk, or high level of deployment;

• Names on Watch list due to high deployment where available capacity has already been allocated to other AXA entities;

• Names with specific risk allocations to the credit sensitive businesses and/or to Treasury.

Credit risk arising from credit sensitive underwriting activities is managed via the underwriting limit framework. Credit risk in the 
investment portfolio is managed through various frameworks applied at AXA XL and Company including Authorities & Guidelines, 
and Fixed Income Concentration. These address the credit quality of obligors and counterparties, diversification, and exposure 
versus limits by rating, term, and seniority.
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5.3.2   Investment portfolio 

Credit risk is also managed through the credit research performed by external investment management service providers, AXA 
Group Risk Management, and the in-house portfolio management team.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the breakdown of the investment portfolio by credit rating category was as follows:

Percentage of Total
Investment Portfolio by Credit Rating Category December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

AA & above  52.2 %  50.9 %

A  25.7 %  29.5 %

BBB  21.9 %  19.0 %

BB and below / other  0.2 %  0.6 %

TOTAL  100.0 %  100.0 %

5.3.3   Reinsurance recoverables 

The Company manages its credit risk in its external reinsurance relationships by transacting with reinsurers that it considers 
financially sound, and if necessary, collateral in the form of funds withheld, trust accounts and/or irrevocable letters of credit may 
be held. 

The following table sets forth the ratings profile of the reinsurers that support the unpaid loss and loss expense recoverable and 
reinsurance balances receivable, net of collateral, at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Percentage of Total
Reinsurer Financial Strength Rating December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
AA & above  84.7 %  87.9 %
A  13.2 %  9.7 %
BBB  0.7 %  1.3 %

BB and below  0.6 %  0.9 %
Captives  0.8 %  0.2 %
TOTAL  100.0 %  100 %

5.3.4   Stress testing 

There is an embedded stress testing framework that is used to understand possible impacts of major risks, including credit risks. 
AXA XL stress tests the impact of downgrades against the obligor credit and country risk appetites. The Company initiates corrective 
actions by restricting any further capacity deployment in case of a high probability of downgrade that would breach the company 
credit or country risk limits.
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5.4   INSURANCE RISK
Insurance risk is defined using the following categories:

Component Definition

Underwriting 
risk

Underwriting risk derives from reinsurance policies written for the current period and from unearned 
exposure from prior periods. The risk is that the corresponding premium will be insufficient to cover future 
claims and other costs or more generally that the underwriting profitability from this tranche of business will 
be less than expected; underwriting risk includes man-made catastrophe events and natural catastrophe 
events.

Reserve risk

Reserve risk relates to policy liabilities (corresponding to business written in prior periods where the 
exposure has already been earned at the opening financial position date) being insufficient to cover the cost 
of claims and associated expenses until the time horizon for the solvency assessment. Additional risks are 
that the timing or amount of actual claims pay outs do not align with the timing or amounts of the estimated 
claims pay outs and that there are changes in the valuation of the market value margin (risk margin) during 
the time horizon for solvency assessment.

Underwriting and loss experience is reviewed regularly for, among other things, loss trends, emerging exposures, changes in the 
regulatory or legal environment as well as the efficacy of policy terms and conditions. Underwriting risk is also identified through:

Process Description

Business planning
Analysis is undertaken of the underwriting portfolio, exposures, loss experience and changes to the 
external environment (including market cycle, economic environment) to identify any changes to 
the insurance risk profile for the forthcoming period of the budget/business plan.

Underwriting processes 
(including guidelines and 
escalation authorities) 

Each individual contract written is assessed, through the underwriting process (which is subject to 
granular underwriting guidelines and escalation authorities) for the nature and level of insurance 
risk that it brings to the business including consideration of the exposure by nature of the limit, the 
risks insured, the location of the risks and other underwriting criteria.

Reserving and claims 
process

On an ongoing basis, claims trends are monitored and analyzed for any indications of change to the 
underlying insurance risk.

Risk assessment and 
process

Through the risk assessment processes, the Company quantifies existing risks and identifies new 
risks. This is reinforced by a Top Risk Review, which is conducted across all major products  
collaboratively between Underwriting and Risk Management. The review scope includes risk 
scenarios that may materially impact the performance of the Company. These scenarios are 
assessed by specialists in terms of potential frequency and severity and reviewed annually.

Development of Realistic 
Disaster Scenarios (RDS) 
and other scenarios

Used to monitor exposure to the defined scenarios and monitor compliance with underwriting risk 
tolerances and limits.

Independent 
underwriting reviews Conducted on a risk-based approach by the Underwriting Governance team.

5.4.1   Mitigation strategies 

5.4.1.1   Reinsurance purchase 

The Company manages its outwards third party reinsurance risk transfer program to support the Company's underwriting strategy 
within risk appetite and to ensure efficient use of capital. AXA XL collaborate with AXA SA on the outwards reinsurance strategy 
placements, especially for placements where there is an AXA Group Risk Appetite in place.   Business ceded varies by location and 
line of business based on a number of factors, including market conditions. The goals of the outwards reinsurance risk transfer 
program include reducing exposure on individual risks, protecting against catastrophic risks, maintaining acceptable capital ratios 
and enabling the writing of additional business. The overall goal of the program is to reduce volatility and enhance overall capital 
efficiency.

AXA XL REINSURANCE LTD
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

49



In addition, the Company considers reinsurance arrangements with affiliates within the AXA XL Division. The two most significant 
arrangements involve Syndicate 2003 and XL Bermuda Ltd and amounts related to these contracts are detailed in Note 18.

The Company's reinsurance strategy is considered as part of the annual business planning process. The impact of that strategy is 
monitored quarterly by management.

5.4.1.2   Actuarial function 

To mitigate the risk of significant changes in reserves from one period to the next, which are due to internal (not external) factors 
such as human errors, the reserving process performed by the Actuarial function is highly structured, strictly defined and controlled, 
and includes several layers of oversight.

5.4.1.3 Reserve 2nd Opinion 

To have an independent opinion on the level of technical reserves, and on the risks and uncertainties related to the reserve 
valuation process, AXA XL conducts two reserve assessments, performed by independent reporting lines: The 1st Opinion 
assessment is performed by Actuarial Financial Reporting (reporting to the CEO Reinsurance), and the 2nd Opinion assessment is 
performed by Risk Management (reporting to the AXA XL CRO). The two assessments are developed separately and presented to the 
Management Review Committee of Reserves, which determines the level of booked reserves based on the two views. The results are 
also presented to the Board of Directors.

5.4.1.4   Rating adequacy 

Underwriters are supported by dedicated teams of claims personnel and pricing actuaries. Technical prices are determined using a 
blend of both experience and exposure rating methodologies including industry recognized catastrophe models where available.  A 
technical price is assessed and compared to the actual price for all business written and reflects the mean losses expected to arise 
from a contract with appropriate loads for expenses and the cost of capital. Underwriting guidelines and policy forms differ by 
product offering as well as by legal jurisdiction. Pricing tools are specialized and generally operate by line of business. Pricing is 
overseen by the Chief Pricing Actuary who reports to the CEO Reinsurance and is a member of the Reinsurance Leadership Team.

5.4.1.5   Underwriting authorities and guidelines 

All underwriters are assigned individual underwriting authorities with the objective of preserving the capital base and controlling 
earnings volatility. Authorities within the business units are delegated through the underwriting management structure, and the 
annual review of underwriting limits is part of the business planning process. Authorities are also set in line with individual 
underwriter experience level, agreed risk appetites and risk tolerances for material individual events, RDS’ that cross multiple lines 
of business, and from risks related to some or all the above that may occur concurrently.

The Company underwrites and prices most risks individually following a review of the exposure and in accordance with its 
underwriting guidelines. The Company seeks to serve our clients while controlling our exposure both on a portfolio basis and on 
individual reinsurance contracts through terms and conditions, policy limits and sub-limits, attachment points and ceded 
reinsurance (outwards) arrangements on certain types of risks.

 

5.5   LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is defined as the inability to meet cash and collateral posting obligations when they come due.   Liquidity risk arises 
from three principal areas: operating, financing, and investing cash flows. The RMF addresses how the Company manages liquidity 
both under a normal and a stressed environment.

5.5.1   Mitigation strategy 

One of the principal objectives of liquidity risk management is to ensure that there is readily available access to funds with which to 
settle large or multiple unforeseen claims. It is generally expected that positive cash flow from operations (underwriting activities 
and investment income) will be sufficient to cover cash outflows under most future loss scenarios.

Cash requirements include all possible claims on cash from policyholders, and operations. Some of these cash outflows are 
scheduled while others are known with much less certainty. The goal is to ensure sufficient liquidity in the asset portfolio, together 
with secured external cash sources, to provide for timely payment of potential cash demands under both normal business 
conditions and under extreme conditions resulting from unforeseen events over multiple time horizons. AXA XL Treasury has 
responsibility to identify and monitor concentration risk of cash at banks, along with funding requirements.

Liquidity risk is managed through Treasury conducting detailed Asset-Liability Managment analysis to match the currency mix of its 
liabilities with appropriate assets. Investments manages the Duration Gap of assets and liabilities within a pre-defined range.
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The major source of liquidity risk within underwriting contracts is the exposure to Downgrade Clauses/Special Termination Clauses 
linked to the assuming entity’s credit rating, which are commonly included in inwards reinsurance contracts. These triggers 
typically necessitate the cancellation of the policy and the return of the cedant’s unearned premium in the event of being 
downgraded below a certain rating level, which has the potential to be a material liquidity event when aggregated. The risk is 
mitigated by a variety of means such as the tracking and monitoring of exposure, training to Legal staff on the topic, and by 
enforcing a mandatory authorization process if a Clause includes a trigger above a certain threshold. AXA XL’s key operating entities 
benefit from a credit rating linked to the ultimate parent company, and the AXA Group’s balance sheet strength further reduces the 
likelihood of the risk materializing.

The AXA XL Treasury and Risk Management departments serve as the focal point for liquidity monitoring, drawing on the expertise 
of other internal functions, as well as managing cash held at bank accounts covering day-to-day cash requirements, typically 
referred to as operating cash. Operating cash balances, together with cash managed within the investment portfolio, comprise the 
primary sources of liquidity for the Company. The Company has several credit facilities in place which are detailed in Note 19.1. 

The state of the Company's liquidity is routinely reported to the Board and monitored as part of the RAF. 

5.5.2   Stress testing 

There is an embedded stress testing framework that is used to understand possible impacts of major risks, including liquidity risks. 
A stressed liquidity analysis report is prepared on a quarterly basis by Treasury and Risk Management, which includes the 
Company’s own view of the stressed sources and uses of liquidity over 12 months. Entities must maintain appropriate excess 
liquidity post simultaneous stresses on market risk, credit risk, P&C risk and operational risk.

5.6 OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal controls and/or processes, from people and systems, 
or from external events. This includes legal risk and excludes risks arising from strategic decisions. In line with business objectives, 
the Company does not take on operational risk with a view to achieving enhanced return. Rather, it accepts operational risk as a 
consequence of writing (re)insurance business and having operations to support the writing of that business. The Company 
identifies, measures and manages operational risk through its annual risk assessment process, OPERA (internal loss incident and 
risk event) reporting, Internal Control testing and governance processes.  

5.6.1 Mitigation Strategies

The Company’s risk register takes into account the controls in place that mitigate specific risks. The nature of the controls and the 
strength of control exercised are based upon the: 

• Potential severity of the risk.  

• Frequency of the risk occurring.

• Cost of implementing controls relative to the significance of the risk; and 

• Appetite and tolerance for the risk. 

An annual risk assessment is performed for all risks on the risk register. The assessment involves capturing the risk owner’s view of 
the potential severity should an incident occur relating to the risk, and the likelihood of such incident occurring. Together this 
establishes the profile of each risk, allowing identification of top risks, thereby facilitating appropriate risk-based monitoring.

The controls are subject to review and testing by the Internal Control and Internal Financial Control teams as noted in Note 5.1.2 
and Note 5.1.7 and Internal Audit as described in Note 5.1.9.

It is also recognized that while the Company may buy insurance with the aim of reducing the monetary impact of certain 
operational risk events (e.g. physical damage), non-monetary impacts may remain (including impact on the Company’s reputation). 
This is considered in the risk assessment process and risk register. 

The risks are monitored and managed through the risk framework and the operational loss and risk event reporting process.  

5.6.2 Stress and scenario testing

To support the identification and quantification of operational risks within the business, AXA XL has a stress and scenario testing 
framework.  The stress testing includes multiple operational risk scenarios developed from the top risks assessed during the annual 
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risk assessment, which are then evaluated over multiple return periods for each scenario. While the stress testing is performed at 
the AXA XL Division level, it is also relevant to the Company for certain risks, such as transversal risks that are centrally managed. 

5.7 OTHER RISKS

5.7.1 Strategic

A strategic risk is the risk that a negative impact (current or prospective) on earnings or capital, material at the Company level, 
arises from a lack of responsiveness to industry changes or adverse business decisions regarding:

• Significant changes in footprint, including through mergers and acquisitions.

• Product offering and client segmentation.

• Distribution model (channel mix including alliances/partnerships, multi-access and digital distribution).

Strategic risk management is based on the following guiding principles:

• Provide a comprehensive perspective on Company forecasted evolution. 

• Maintain a deep understanding of the competitive landscape and a comprehensive perspective of long-term trends to define a 
strategy; and

• Ensure the strategic rationale of the portfolio evolution within the Company and Division.

5.7.2 Reputational

Reputation risk is the risk that an event will negatively influence the stakeholders’ perceptions of the company. AXA XL maintains a 
Reputational Risk Framework which encompasses a set of planned actions and established policies to reduce the probability and/or 
the expected costs if the latent reputational problems become actual.

5.7.3 Emerging

Emerging risks are risks which may develop in the future, or which already exist and are continuously evolving. They are marked by 
a high degree of uncertainty, and some of them may even never emerge. Emerging risks may be difficult to quantify and can have 
potentially serious consequences if they are not anticipated in a timely manner. To assess the impact of emerging risks at AXA XL, 
there is a well-established emerging risks framework in place, which is supported by all relevant Risk Committees at both divisional 
and legal entity level. The Emerging Risks Team works in collaboration with the Emerging Risks Expert Network to identify, analyze, 
prioritize, quantify, monitor, and report on emerging risks that could have an impact on existing and future product offerings and 
business operations. All Risk Committees and the Emerging Risks Expert Network work together to undertake both strategic and 
risk management processes, assisting in identifying potential opportunities in the market and providing thought leadership around 
emerging risk issues to optimize underwriting and strategic decisions.

5.7.4 Regulatory

The Company operates in multiple jurisdictions across multiple legal entities, which increases the potential exposure to regulatory 
risk. Local Compliance presence ensures a full understanding of local regulatory issues, supported by wider training and 
communication to ensure local requirements are understood by all AXA XL underwriters. A robust Compliance Framework is 
implemented across all entities and regions.

5.7.5 Geopolitical and macroeconomic risk

The Company is currently facing increased geopolitical and macroeconomic risks stemming from ongoing conflicts such as the 
Ukraine war and instability in the Middle East to policy changes from the current U.S. administration. These actions have escalated 
global tensions and protectionism. In response to geopolitical risk, the Company developed hypothetical stress scenarios to assess 
potential exposures and implemented key risk indicators to track war and civil unrest risks by country. The Company is also 
monitoring the impact of varying economic conditions across regions, particularly the U.S. and Europe, as well as challenges in the 
commercial real estate sector in the U.S. Robust risk management frameworks are in place to ensure solvency and liquidity, 
alongside regular assessments and updates to respond to changing market conditions.
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5.7.6 ESG risk (including climate change)

ESG Risk refers to the potential impact on the Company’s long-term viability from an environmental, social, or (corporate) 
governance event. The Company is exposed to climate change risk, as further described below, but also to social issues such as 
ensuring a decent workplace for all and to potential inadequate (corporate) governance which could have a reputational impact 
and other effects.  The Company’s Sustainability team conducts materiality assessments to identify the most significant ESG risks. 
The Company’s Sustainability strategy includes incorporating ESG considerations into our products, services and own operations, 
as well as defining our vision and position as a “corporate citizen”. 

The identification and tagging of ESG risks are included within AXA XL’s Operational Risk Framework. Divisional Key Risk Indicators 
("KRIs"), including those related to ESG risks, were developed during 2022 and 2023 and have been aligned to the AXA XL 2023-2026 
Sustainability Strategy. In line with regulatory expectations, further focus is being placed on specific climate metrics and longer-
term targets. Reputational risk is also considered across all operational risks as an impact criterion, as part of the annual 
operational risk assessment process, with regular reporting to AXA Group on any potential upcoming risks and an annual reporting 
summary including lessons learned.

Climate change, and consequently climate change risk, is a key area of consideration to the Company. AXA XL is committed to 
taking a leading role in working with our clients and business partners to raise awareness of climate issues, help them manage risk 
and develop solutions to create a more sustainable society. 
The Company is exposed to all forms of climate and climate change risk, namely:

• Physical Risks: Refers to the direct impact of climate change on persons and property. For example, risks such as those arising 
from increasingly frequent and severe extreme weather events, wildfires, rising sea-levels, rising temperature, and changes in 
exposure to vector borne diseases. 

• Transition Risks: Refers to risks that stem from changes in behaviors and strategies of industrial actors, market participants 
and customers in response to climate change, as well as the implementation of climate-related policy or regulatory and 
technological developments. 

• Liability Risks:  Refers to the risk of those seeking compensation for climate change-related losses or damages. This includes 
legal proceedings seeking damages for contribution to climate change or for inaccurate or insufficient disclosure around 
material financial or operational risks. 

Mitigation Strategies
Climate change risks have potential impacts on our underwriting, investments, and company operations. Therefore, dedicated 
groups of colleagues are working to ensure that the transversal nature of this risk is duly considered and appropriately managed 
and mitigated. 
Climate change risk is managed through the Risk Management Framework (“RMF” and the Climate Change Risk Framework (CCRF). 
Through this process risks are identified, reported and managed. Risks pertaining to climate change including physical, transition 
and litigation risks have been long standing items in our emerging risks identification process. As these risks develop, they are 
assessed and monitored for each risk type. For example, the potential physical risk impacts on our natural catastrophe risks are 
considered within our underwriting risk framework. This ensures that each element of climate risk is managed by those with the 
most expertise, relevant stakeholders are informed and these risks can be cross-compared to others with similar characteristics. 

In addition, AXA XL has established a Climate Change Risk & Stress Testing Working Group to ensure that information is relayed 
across risk types and a transversal approach is taken. Controls in relation to these risks are documented in the applicable risk 
policies where relevant.

Climate Key Risk Indicators ("KRIs") have been developed and reported on. These include metrics relating to physical, transition 
and litigation risk and span insurance, financial, operational, reputational and strategic risk pillars. They are updated quarterly or 
yearly, depending on the metric, and are reported to the Reinsurance Audit Risk and Compliance Committee (" Re ARCC").

Stress Testing 
AXA XL has an established Climate Change Risk & Stress Testing Working Group to facilitate a comprehensive understanding of 
climate risks across various domains. The overarching goal is to advance our understanding of climate impacts across all risk pillars 
and to create integrated scenarios that encompass all risks under a unified climate framework.

For underwriting risk, stress testing has been developed to consider the impact of Physical Risk on our natural catastrophe 
exposures. In addition, an initial analysis on impacts of "sea level risk tipping point" on our portfolio has been developed.   

Additionally, within market risk, there is a stress test in place to consider a disorderly transition based on a European Insurance and 
Occupational Pensions Authority (“EIOPA”) scenario.
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5.8   MATERIAL RISK CONCENTRATIONS

Material concentrations can occur within and across risk categories. Our RAF is intended to address both. The RAF and expected 
exposures are reviewed annually and tested through our stress testing framework.

The RAF has two key components, high level risk appetite statements and a set of risk exposure limits linked to specific risk types.  
The Risk Appetite Framework is reviewed and approved annually by the Reinsurance Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and 
the Board, with the latest review in April 2025, reflecting the risk profile of the Company and the 2025 business plan. 

There are two components to the high-level risk appetite statements:

• Solvency - This considers the buffer that would be held in excess of regulatory capital. The factors considered in setting the 
solvency target included the ability of the Company to withstand the largest of a 1 in 20 years financial event or insurance event 
without the need to call on AXA XL Division for support.

• Liquidity - This considers ability to pay claims resulting from a stress event. 

The risk exposure limits cover market, credit, reserve and underwriting risks.

• Market risk - indicators exist for exposures per asset class, duration gap and foreign exchange mismatch.

• Credit risk - the Company benefits from indicators that exist at the AXA XL Division level for sovereign exposure, fixed income 
concentration, and global issuer exposure.

• Reserve risk -  deterioration in gross held reserves (o/s plus IBNR) are to be no more than 5% over a 12-month calendar period. 

• Underwriting risk:
◦ Underwriting limits are spread across Credit & Surety (where the limit is based on Probable Maximum Loss ("PML")), 

Marine, Aviation, Casualty and Property lines. The limits are based on exposures to a single original insured the 
company cover through cedants and equal the sum of the corresponding exposed limits net of reinsurance. 

◦ Natural catastrophe limits are set for Probable Maximum Losses ("PMLs") net of reinsurance at worldwide 1-in-10 
Aggregate Exceedance Probability ("AEP"), worldwide 1-in-20 AEP, and the largest peril-region 1-in-200 Occurrence 
Exceedance Probability ("OEP").

◦ The Cyber per event appetite monitors affirmative cyber exposure per guarantee (first party and third party).  

Alert levels are set by AXA XL Re generally at 80% of the risk appetite level and are monitored on a regular basis. Reporting against 
the risk appetites is undertaken through the Risk Dashboard that is produced for the Reinsurance AXA XL Risk and Compliance 
Committee (Re ARCC) on a quarterly basis. The frequency of update of the exposure positions is as follows:

• Over-arching risk appetite statements (solvency  and liquidity) - quarterly

• Risk appetite exposures:

◦ Market risk - quarterly

◦ Credit risk - quarterly for the AXA XL Division 

◦ Reserve risk - quarterly

◦ Underwriting per risk - semi-annually

◦ Natural catastrophe exposures - quarterly

◦ Cyber per event - semi-annually 

Loss exposure estimates for all event risks are derived from a combination of commercially available and internally developed 
models together with the judgement of management, as overseen by the Board. Actual incurred losses may vary materially from our 
estimates. Factors that can cause a deviation between estimated and actual incurred losses may include: 

• Inaccurate assumptions of event frequency and severity;

• Inaccurate or incomplete data;

• Changing climate conditions that may add to the unpredictability of frequency and severity of natural catastrophes in certain 
parts of the world and create additional uncertainty as to future trends and exposures;

• Future possible increases in property values and the effects of inflation that may increase the severity of catastrophic events to 
levels above the modelled levels;

• Natural catastrophe models that incorporate and are critically dependent on meteorological, seismological and other earth 
science assumptions and related statistical relationships that may not be representative of prevailing conditions and risks, and 
may therefore misstate how particular events actually materialize, causing a material deviation between forecasted and actual 
damages associated with such events; and
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• A change in the legislative, regulatory and judicial climate.

For the above and other reasons, the incidence, timing and severity of catastrophes and other event types are inherently 
unpredictable, and it is difficult to estimate the amount of loss any given occurrence will generate. Consequently, there is material 
uncertainty around our ability to measure exposures associated with individual events and combinations of events. This uncertainty 
can cause actual exposures and losses to deviate from those amounts estimated, which in turn can create a material adverse effect 
on our financial condition and results of operations and may result in substantial liquidation of investments, possibly at a loss, and 
outflows of cash as losses are paid.
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Note 6    Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
6.1   GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(US Dollars in thousands) 2024 2023

BEGINNING OF YEAR, TOTAL  45,925  43,319 

Additions (a)  —  4,467 

Disposals (b)  (346)  — 

Amortization  (1,745)  (1,901) 

Foreign currency translation  209  40 

END OF YEAR, TOTAL  44,043  45,925 

(a) Additions are related to the acquisition of XLRA. Refer to Note 4.1.4 for more detail.

(b) Disposals are related to the disposal of XL Re China and AXA XL Resseguros S.A. Refer to Note 4.1.2 and Note 4.1.3 for more detail. 

6.1.1   Goodwill 

The recoverability of goodwill is assessed using the value in use approach, as described in Note 2.6.1. The fair value is then 
compared to the carrying amount to assess the goodwill recoverability. The results of the cash flow projections exceeded the 
carrying amounts of the CGU. 

6.1.2   Other Intangible Assets 

The Company tests definite-lived intangible assets whenever events or circumstances indicate that carrying values may not be 
recoverable. For further details regarding the Company's impairment process, see Note 2.6.2. During 2024 and 2023, no 
impairments were recorded. 
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Note 7    Investments
It should be noted that the amounts disclosed in the present Note as impacting the Company’s consolidated comprehensive income 
do not consider the induced effects relating to insurance liabilities, notably those arising from contracts with direct participating 
features (refer to Note 11 and Note 16) and, therefore, do not represent net ultimate gains or losses recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

7.1   BREAKDOWN OF INVESTMENTS
The tables below present the fair value and the carrying value of the Company’s investments, broken down by (i) class of 
investments, (ii) classification category according to IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (namely, investments measured at amortized 
cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FV OCI”) or at fair value through profit or loss (“FV P&L”)):

December 31, 2024
(US Dollars in thousands) Fair value Carrying value % (of Total Investments)
Investment in real estate properties at amortized cost (A)  102,034  102,876  1.5 %

Debt instruments at FV OCI  5,911,466  5,911,466  89.0 %

Debt instruments at FV P&L - Mandatory  34,297  34,297  0.5 %

Debt Instruments (B)  5,945,763  5,945,763  89.5 %
Equity instruments at FV OCI without recycling to P&L  44,156  44,156  0.7 %
Equity Instruments (C)  44,156  44,156  0.7 %
Non consolidated investment funds at FV P&L (D)  551,307  551,307  8.3 %
Total Financial investment (E=B+C+D)  6,541,226  6,541,226  98.5 %
 INVESTMENTS (F=A+E)  6,643,259  6,644,102  100.0 %

December 31, 2023
(US Dollars in thousands) Fair value Carrying value % (of Total Investments)

Investment in real estate properties at amortized cost (A)  230,181  182,212  2.7 %
Debt instruments at FV OCI  6,131,497  6,131,497  89.4 %
Debt instruments at FV P&L - Mandatory  58,670  58,670  0.9 %
Debt Instruments (B)  6,190,168  6,190,168  90.2 %
Equity instruments at FV OCI without recycling to P&L  41,192  41,192  0.6 %
Equity Instruments (C)  41,192  41,192  0.6 %
Non consolidated investment funds at FV P&L (D)  446,333  446,333  6.5 %
Total Financial investment  (E=B+C+D)  6,677,692  6,677,692  97.3 %
 INVESTMENTS (F=A+E)  6,907,874  6,859,904  100.0 %
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7.2   INVESTMENT IN REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES
Investment in real estate properties includes buildings owned directly and through consolidated real estate entities.

Real estate properties held by AXA XL Re are measured at amortized cost. The table below presents the carrying value (disclosing 
separately cumulated amortization and impairment).

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Gross 
value Amortization Impairment Carrying 

Value
Fair 

value
Gross 
value Amortization Impairment Carrying 

Value
Fair 

value

Total investments in real 
estate properties  117,431  (14,555)  —  102,876  102,034  203,942  (21,729)  —  182,212  230,181 

The following table provides a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the cumulated amounts of 
impairment and amortization on investment in real estate properties:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Impairment Amortization 
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023
Balance as of January 1  —  —  (21,729)  (9,862) 

Increase  —  —  (4,569)  (5,043) 

Write back following sale or reimbursement  —  —  10,810  — 

Write back following recovery in value  —  —  —  — 

Others(a)  —  —  934  (6,825) 

Balance as of December 31  —  —  (14,555)  (21,729) 

(a) Includes impacts of changes in scope of consolidation and movements in exchange rates.

7.3   UNREALIZED GAINS AND LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
The tables below disclose unrealized capital gains and losses not reflected in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (“P&L”), 
that are related to financial investments measured at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI (“FV OCI”). These unrealized 
capital gains and losses are broken down by class of financial instruments and IFRS 9 classification category:

(US Dollars in 
thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Amortized 

cost Fair value Carrying 
value

Unrealized 
gains

Unrealized 
losses

Amortized 
cost Fair value Carrying 

value
Unrealized 

gains
Unrealized 

losses

Debt instruments 
at FV OCI 6,365,273 5,911,466 5,911,466 27,653  (481,460)  6,513,606  6,131,497  6,131,497  73,818  (455,927) 

Equity instruments 
at FV OCI without 
recycling to P&L

49,955 44,156 44,156 2,292  (8,092)  49,955  41,192  41,192  1,685  (10,448) 
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7.4   DEBT INSTRUMENTS

7.4.1   Debt instruments by type of issuer

The table below presents the composition of the Company’s debt instruments portfolio by type of issuer:

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Fair value Carrying value Fair value Carrying value

Corporate debt instruments(a)  3,069,843  3,069,843  3,191,599  3,191,599 
Government and government-like debt instruments  1,601,854  1,601,854  1,881,658  1,881,658 
Other debt instruments issued by government related issuers  1,274,066  1,274,066  1,116,911  1,116,911 

TOTAL DEBT INSTRUMENTS  5,945,763  5,945,763  6,190,168  6,190,168 

(a)   Includes debt instruments issued by companies in which a State holds interests.

7.4.2   Debt instruments by contractual maturity and exposure to interest rate risk

The table below sets out the carrying value of debt instruments and loans held by the Company broken down by their contractual 
maturity. Effective maturities may differ from those presented, mainly because some debt instruments and loans include early 
redemption clauses, with or without penalty, or duration extension features. Furthermore, the effect of derivative instruments (refer 
to Note 14.3) may modify the maturity profile of assets presented below.

Debt instruments whose fair value is exposed to interest rate risk, i.e. fixed-rate instruments, are disclosed separately. Most of debt 
instruments held by the Company fall within this category.

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

12 months 
or less

More than 1 
year up to 5 

years
More than 5 

years
Total 

Carrying 
value

12 months 
or less

More than 1 
year up to 5 

years
More than 5 

years
Total 

Carrying 
value

Debt instruments  428,620  1,986,953  3,530,190  5,945,763  300,241  2,241,852  3,648,075  6,190,168 

Total Financial 
investments exposed 
to interest rate risk

 428,620  1,986,953  3,530,190  5,945,763  300,241  2,241,852  3,648,075  6,190,168 

of which financial 
investments whose fair 
value is exposed to 
interest rate risk

 428,205  1,625,740  3,060,364  5,114,308  294,459  1,907,138  3,155,679  5,357,276 
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7.5   EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

7.5.1   Equity instruments by issuer industry and exposure to price risk

The table below sets out the portfolio of equity instruments held by the Company at the closing date and exposed to equity prices 
fluctuations, broken down by issuer’s industry, presenting those designated at fair value through OCI (“FV OCI”) without recycling to 
P&L applying the IFRS 9 classification option. The carrying value of those investments is equal to their fair value.

The table also discloses the amount of dividends recognized in profit or loss over the period on FV OCI equity instruments still in the 
portfolio at the closing date:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
(US Dollars in thousands) Financial Financial

Equity instruments at FV OCI without recycling to P&L  44,156  41,192 

Total carrying value of equity instruments  44,156  41,192 

Dividends recognized in the period on equity instruments at FV OCI without recycling to P&L 
held as of the reporting date  5,899  1,755 

7.5.2 Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI derecognized during the period
The following tables display, for equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI (“FV OCI”) without recycling to profit or loss 
and derecognized during the period, their fair value at the date of derecognition, dividends received in the period and recognized in 
profit or loss, as well as the cumulative amounts of capital gains or losses at the date of derecognition (not recycled to profit or loss 
but transferred to retained earnings on derecognition), all broken down by issuer’s industry.

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
(US Dollars in thousands) Financial Financial

Fair value at the date of derecognition  —  — 

Dividend related to instruments derecognized during the period  —  — 

Cumulative gains or losses at the date of derecognition  —  — 

7.6   TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT QUALIFYING FOR DERECOGNITION
The Company participates in repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions under which financial assets are sold to a 
counterparty, subject to a simultaneous agreement to repurchase these financial assets at both a certain later date and agreed 
price. As substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial assets remain with the Company over the entire lifetime of the 
transaction, they are not derecognized.

Additionally, the Company is party to total return swaps where financial assets are sold to a counterparty with an agreement in 
which the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial instruments. Therefore, these financial assets are not 
derecognized.

Proceeds from the sales are reported separately in the line item Payables of the consolidated statement of financial position, and 
interest expense is accrued over the duration of the agreements.

The following table presents the carrying value of transferred financial assets not qualifying for derecognition, broken down by their 
IFRS 9 classification category, and of corresponding liabilities:

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Carrying value of assets  306,466  165,825 

of which debt instruments at FV OCI  306,466  165,825 

Carrying value of associated liabilities(a)  307,397  156,589 

(a) Amounts do not include securities received as collateral to securities lending transactions if such collateral is not recognized under the terms of the 
agreement because the risks and rewards have not been transferred to the Company.
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7.7   NON-CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT FUNDS
The table below sets out the portfolio of non-consolidated investment funds held by the Company broken down by type of 
underlying financial assets. These investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Fair value  Fair value

Non-consolidated investment funds mainly holding debt instruments  247,952  181,121 

Other non-consolidated investment funds  203,937  214,993 

Non-consolidated investment funds mainly holding equity instruments  99,418  50,219 

TOTAL  551,307  446,333 

7.8   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SUBJECT TO IMPAIRMENT

7.8.1   Breakdown of financial investments subject to impairment 

The tables below set out the Company’s portfolio of financial investments subject to impairment, namely debt instruments 
measured at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI (“FV OCI”), broken down by class of financial investments, IFRS 9 
classification category and IFRS 9 impairment stage (refer to Note 2.7.2.2 ), namely:

• Stage 1: financial investments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition, and the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12 months expected credit losses;

• Stage 2: not credit-impaired financial investments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, and 
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses;

• Stage 3: financial investments which were not purchased or originated credit impaired but became credit impaired since their 
initial recognition, and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
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(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024
Cost before 

impairment and 
revaluation to fair 

value 
Impairment

Cost after 
impairment but 

before revaluation 
to fair value 

Revaluation to fair 
value Carrying value

Stage 1
Debt instruments at FV OCI  6,351,869  (1,176)  6,350,692  (449,500)  5,901,193 
Debt instruments  6,351,869  (1,176)  6,350,692  (449,500)  5,901,193 
Total Stage 1  6,351,869  (1,176)  6,350,692  (449,500)  5,901,193 

Stage 2 
Debt instruments at FV OCI  2,236  (38)  2,198  7  2,205 
Debt instruments  2,236  (38)  2,198  7  2,205 
Total Stage 2  2,236  (38)  2,198  7  2,205 

Stage 3
Debt instruments at FV OCI  19,957  (7,574)  12,383  (4,314)  8,068 
Debt instruments  19,957  (7,574)  12,383  (4,314)  8,068 
Total Stage 3  19,957  (7,574)  12,383  (4,314)  8,068 

Debt instruments at FV OCI  6,374,062  (8,789)  6,365,273  (453,807)  5,911,466 
Total debt instruments  6,374,062  (8,789)  6,365,273  (453,807)  5,911,466 
Total financial investments 
subject to
impairment 

 6,374,062  (8,789)  6,365,273  (453,807)  5,911,466 
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(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2023
Cost before 

impairment and 
revaluation to fair 

value
Impairment

Cost after 
impairment but 

before revaluation 
to fair value

Revaluation to fair 
value Carrying value

Stage 1
Debt instruments at FV OCI  6,501,677  (1,263)  6,500,414  (377,714)  6,122,700 
Debt instruments  6,501,677  (1,263)  6,500,414  (377,714)  6,122,700 
Total Stage 1  6,501,677  (1,263)  6,500,414  (377,714)  6,122,700 

Stage 2 
Debt instruments at FV OCI  675  (2)  673  (26)  648 
Debt instruments  675  (2)  673  (26)  648 
Total Stage 2  675  (2)  673  (26)  648 

Stage 3 
Debt instruments at FV OCI  20,260  (7,741)  12,519  (4,369)  8,150 
Debt instruments  20,260  (7,741)  12,519  (4,369)  8,150 
Total Stage 3  20,260  (7,741)  12,519  (4,369)  8,150 

Debt instruments at FV OCI  6,522,612  (9,006)  6,513,606  (382,109)  6,131,497 
Total debt instruments  6,522,612  (9,006)  6,513,606  (382,109)  6,131,497 
Total financial investments 
subject to
impairment 

 6,522,612  (9,006)  6,513,606  (382,109)  6,131,497 

7.8.2   Change in impairment on financial investments 

7.8.2.1 Change in impairment of financial investments measured at fair value through OCI

The following tables provide a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the carrying amount of debt 
instruments measured at fair value through OCI (“FV OCI”) and for the cumulated amount of Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) 
allowance on those debt instruments, broken down by IFRS 9 impairment stage:
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(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross 
Carrying 

Amount(a)
ECL 

allowance
Gross 

Carrying 
Amount(a)

ECL 
allowance

Gross 
Carrying 

Amount(a)
ECL 

allowance
Gross 

Carrying 
Amount(a)

ECL 
allowance

Balance at January 1  6,501,677  1,263  675  2  20,260  7,741  6,522,612  9,006 

Transfers to Stage 1  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Transfers to Stage 2  (2,011)  (38)  2,011  38  —  — 

Transfers to Stage 3  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Acquisitions and originations  1,096,561  160  1,096,561  160 

Derecognitions  (1,164,349)  (211)  —  —  (303)  (163)  (1,164,651)  (375) 

Other changes(b)  (80,009)  4  (451)  (2)  —  (3)  (80,460)  (2) 

Balance as of December 31  6,351,869  1,176  2,236  38  19,957  7,574  6,374,062  8,789 

(a) Includes related accumulated amortization, premiums/discount and accrued interests, when applicable.
(b) Mainly includes impacts of changes in scope of consolidation and movements in exchange rates.

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross 
Carrying 

Amount(a)
ECL 

allowance
Gross 

Carrying 
Amount(a)

ECL 
allowance

Gross 
Carrying 

Amount(a)
ECL 

allowance
Gross 

Carrying 
Amount(a)

ECL 
allowance

Balance at January 1  4,277,125  752  1,898  31  152  5  4,279,175  788 

Transfers to Stage 1  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Transfers to Stage 2  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Transfers to Stage 3  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Acquisitions and originations  2,157,581  248  —  —  —  —  2,157,581  248 

Derecognitions  (1,818,767)  (209)  (1,391)  (22)  (123)  —  (1,820,281)  (232) 

Other changes(b)  1,885,738  472  168  (7)  20,231  7,736  1,906,138  8,202 

Balance as of December 31  6,501,677  1,263  675  2  20,260  7,741  6,522,612  9,006 

(a) Includes related accumulated amortization, premiums/discount and accrued interests, when applicable.
(b) Mainly includes impacts of changes in scope of consolidation and movements in exchange rates.
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7.9   FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENTS

The table below presents the breakdown of the fair value of financial investments measured at fair value through either profit or 
loss (“FV P&L”) or OCI (“FV OCI”) by fair value hierarchy level as set in IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement (refer to Note 2.5). The 
carrying value of those financial investments is equal to their fair value:

Debt instruments  —  5,911,466  —  5,911,466  —  6,131,497  —  6,131,497 

Equity instruments  —  —  44,156  44,156  —  —  41,192  41,192 

Financial assets at FV OCI 
(A)  —  5,911,466  44,156  5,955,622  —  6,131,497  41,192  6,172,689 

Debt instruments  —  34,297  —  34,297  —  58,670  —  58,670 

Non-consolidated 
investment funds  —  267,612  283,696  551,307  —  284,707  161,626  446,333 

Financial assets at FV P&L 
(B)  —  301,908  283,696  585,604  —  343,377  161,626  505,003 

Total financial 
instruments at fair value 
(C = A + B)

 —  6,213,374  327,851  6,541,226  —  6,474,874  202,818  6,677,692 

Investment in real estate 
properties  —  —  102,034  102,034  —  —  230,181  230,181 
Total investments at 
amortized cost (D)  —  —  102,034  102,034  —  —  230,181  230,181 
TOTAL (C+D)  —  6,213,374  429,885  6,643,260  —  6,474,874  432,999  6,907,873 

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Financial 

assets 
quoted in 
an active 
market

Financial assets not 
quoted in an active 
market or no active 

market
Total

Financial 
assets 

quoted in 
an active 
market

Financial assets not 
quoted in an active 
market or no active 

market
Total 

Level 1 (a) Level 2 (b) Level 3 (c) Level 1 (a) Level 2 (b) Level 3 (c)

The Company applies the IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy as described in Note 2.5 to categorize financial assets it holds, based on the 
characteristics of the market in which financial assets are traded and on the nature of inputs used to determine their fair value.

LEVEL 1 FAIR VALUES
Financial assets are categorized in level 1 of the IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy when their fair value is determined directly by reference 
to an active market (see Note 2.5.1). 

As of December 31, 2024, the net transfer between level 1 and level 2 was nil.

LEVEL 2 AND LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUES
The common characteristic of assets categorized in levels 2 and 3 of the IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy is that they are not quoted in an 
active market (see Note 2.5.2). Their fair value may be either provided by external parties or measured using valuation techniques. 
The classification of those assets between levels 2 and 3 depends on the proportion of inputs used to determine their fair value: if 
those inputs are mainly supported by market transactions and other observable market data, the assets are classified in level 2, 
otherwise, they are classified in level 3.

Financial assets categorized in levels 2 and 3 represent a variety of circumstances. A financial instrument is regarded as not quoted 
in an active market if there is little observation of transaction prices as an inherent characteristic of the instrument, when there is a 
significant decline in the volume and level of trading activity, in case of significant illiquidity or if observable prices cannot be 
considered as representing fair value because of dislocated market conditions. Characteristics of inactive markets can therefore be 
very different in nature, inherent to the instrument or be indicative of a change in the conditions prevailing in certain markets.

The identification of level 3 assets among assets not quoted in an active market involves a significant level of judgment. The 
following are considered as observable inputs: inputs provided by external pricing services, information obtained from specialized 
data providers, rating agencies, external surveys. The extent to which such data are external to the Company and not assessed by 
internal valuation teams is one of the main criteria applied in assessing whether data are observable or not. Should those data be 
significantly adjusted or would they be outdated because of the lack of newly available factors, such inputs would be deemed 
unobservable. Another area of judgment is the assessment of the significance of an input against the fair value measurement in its 
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entirety. As a result, a different cut between observable and unobservable data and variances in the weighting of the significance of 
each input against the fair value measurement in its entirety could produce a different categorization.

Assets such as certain unquoted debt instruments, some instruments issued on private markets such as private equity instruments 
or private loans, have always been considered as not quoted in active markets as an inherent characteristic of these investments 
and included as assets not quoted in active markets or for which there is no active market in all periods presented. Valuations are 
based either on external pricing providers or internal models using techniques commonly used by market participants. Valuation 
teams make the maximum use of current transaction prices (if any) and observable data, but some of the underlying sectors to 
which the investments relate may be so particular that significant adjustments are performed or unobservable data are used. 
Private equity funds of funds are measured on the basis of the latest net asset values of funds provided to the Company.

The fair values of investments in real estate properties generally cannot be determined via reference to quotes of an active market 
from an exchange market or service provider, and no real estate property is therefore categorized in level 1 of the IFRS 13 fair value 
hierarchy.

TRANSFERS IN AND OUT OF THE LEVEL 3 CATEGORY AND OTHER MOVEMENTS 
From January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024, the amount of level 3 assets decreased by $(3.1) million to $429.9 million, representing 
6.0% of the total assets at fair value ($433.0 million, representing 6.0% in 2023). The main movements related to level 3 assets to be 
noted were the following:

• $(171.6) million of asset sales, redemptions and settlements mainly of non-consolidated investment funds accounted as fair 
value through profit or loss and Investment in real estate properties at amortized cost;

• $(14.6) million of net asset transfers in and out of level 3 and foreign exchange fluctuation impact; 

• $11.4 million of change in fair value related to investments accounted for at fair value and amortized cost; and

• $171.7 million of new investments mainly in alternative assets and real estate properties.

A majority of assets classified in level 3 correspond to real estate and private investments, in particular private credit and private 
equity assets.
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Note 8    Investments Accounted for using the 
Equity Method 

Non-consolidated investment funds under significant influence are accounted for as assets at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized through profit or loss (see Note 2.7.2.1).
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Note 9    Receivables

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Gross value Impairment
Carrying 

Value Fair value Gross value Impairment
Carrying 

Value Fair value
Current tax receivables  22,208  —  22,208  22,208  25,506  —  25,506  25,506 

Other deposits  1,574  —  1,574  1,574  2,149  —  2,149  2,149 
Others  5,581  —  5,581  5,581  36,342  —  36,342  36,342 

Other receivables  7,155  —  7,155  7,155  38,491  —  38,491  38,491 
TOTAL  29,363  —  29,363  29,363  63,997  —  63,997  63,997 
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Note 10    Shareholder's Equity and Minority 
Interests 

10.1   IMPACT OF TRANSACTIONS WITH SHAREHOLDER
The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is presented as a primary financial statement.

Note 10.1.1   Change in shareholder’s equity Company share in 2024 

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL IN EXCESS OF NOMINAL VALUE 
The authorized share capital of AXA XL Re is 10.0 billion shares, par value $0.01 each, and the total issued and outstanding shares as 
at December 31, 2024 was 10.0 billion representing $100.0 million of share capital. 

DIVIDENDS PAID 
In 2024, the Company paid a dividend of $1.1 billion to AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd. 

Note 10.1.2   Change in shareholder’s equity Company share in 2023 

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL IN EXCESS OF NOMINAL VALUE
The authorized share capital of AXA XL Re is 10.0 billion shares, par value $0.01 each, and the total issued and outstanding shares as 
at December 31, 2023 was 10.0 billion  representing $100.0 million  of share capital. 

During 2023, the following transactions had an impact on the Company’s share capital and capital in excess of nominal value:

• a capital distribution of $100.0 million to AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd.

DIVIDENDS PAID 
in 2023, the Company paid a dividend of $150.0 million to AXA XL Reinsurance (Holdings) Ltd.

10.2   COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD
The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, presented as a primary financial statement, includes the net income for the 
period and the other comprehensive income, the latter reflecting the changes relating to other reserves recognized through other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”) in accordance with IFRS 9 and IFRS 17, and translation reserves.

Note 10.2.1   Other comprehensive income for 2024 

OTHER RESERVES RECOGNIZED THROUGH OCI IN ACCORDANCE WITH IFRS 9 AND IFRS 17
The table below gives detailed information on changes in other reserves recognized through OCI during the year 2024:
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(US Dollars in thousands)

Fair value 
reserves relating 

to financial 
instruments (a)

Fair value 
reserves relating 

to cash flow 
hedge 

derivatives

Reserves relating 
to the cost of 

hedging

Reserves relating 
to finance 
income or 

expenses from 
insurance and 

reinsurance 
contracts Total

Balance at 1 January 2024(b)  (315,277)  2,010  —  205,491  (107,776) 
Change in OCI without recycling in Profit or 
Loss  2,964  —  —  —  2,964 
Change in OCI with recycling in Profit or Loss  (61,001)  (6,679)  —  (6,489)  (74,169) 
Others (including effect of changes in scope of 
consolidation)  (4,635)  —  —  (2,269)  (6,904) 
Other comprehensive income  (62,672)  (6,679)  —  (8,758)  (78,109) 
Balance at 31 December 2024(b)  (377,949)  (4,669)  —  196,733  (185,885) 

(a) including the fair value hedge of equity instruments
(b) Reported on Company share basis. 

In accordance with IFRS 17, AXA XL Re applies the option to disaggregate insurance and reinsurance financial income or expenses 
between the statement of profit or loss and the OCI to limit the volatility in profit or loss considering that many of supporting 
financial assets are measured at fair value through OCI under IFRS 9.

When equity instruments without recycling in Profit or Loss are sold, their related net unrealized gains and losses previously 
recognized in OCI without recycling in Profit or Loss are transferred to retained earnings. In 2024, there was no realized capital gains 
or losses on these equity instruments, net of tax.

Note 10.2.2   Other comprehensive income for 2023 

OTHER RESERVES RECOGNIZED THROUGH OCI IN ACCORDANCE WITH IFRS 9 AND IFRS 17
The table below gives detailed information on change in other reserves recognized through OCI during the year 2023:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Fair value 
reserves relating 

to financial 
instruments (a)

Fair value 
reserves relating 

to cash flow 
hedge 

derivatives

Reserves relating 
to the cost of 

hedging

Reserves relating 
to finance 
income or 

expenses from 
insurance and 

reinsurance 
contracts Total

Balance at 1 January 2023 (b)  (376,799)  —  —  303,534  (73,265) 
Change in OCI without recycling in Profit or 
Loss  1,207  —  —  —  1,207 

Change in OCI with recycling in Profit or Loss  220,681  2,010  —  (144,002)  78,689 
Others (including effect of changes in scope of 
consolidation)  (160,366)  —  —  45,959  (114,407) 

Other comprehensive income  61,522  2,010  —  (98,043)  (34,511) 
Balance at 31 December 2023 (b)  (315,277)  2,010  —  205,491  (107,776) 

(a) including the fair value hedge of equity instruments
(b) Reported on Company share basis. 

When equity instruments without recycling in Profit or Loss are sold, their related net unrealized gains and losses previously 
recognized in OCI without recycling in Profit or Loss are transferred to retained earnings. In 2023, the realized capital gains or losses 
on these equity instruments was $90.4 thousand, net of tax. 

10.3   CHANGE IN MINORITY INTERESTS
As of December 31, 2024, the Company no longer owns subsidiaries in which other AXA Group companies own a minority interest.  

10.3.1 Change in minority interests for 2024

The Company sold its interest in XL Re China during the year (refer to note 4.1.2), as such the Company no longer holds minority 
interests as of December 31, 2024.
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10.3.2 Change in minority interests for 2023

The $7.4 million increase in minority interests was driven by the acquisition of XLRA during the year, described in Note 4.1.2, which 
includes ownership of 51% of XL Re China. The remaining 49% is owned by an affiliated company.
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Note 11 Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts 
11.1 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS

This note highlights the effects of contracts within the scope of IFRS 17 on the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Information relating to other investment contracts within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments is disclosed in paragraph 11.2.

As described in Note 2.12, IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts applies to insurance and reinsurance contracts issued, investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features, and reinsurance contracts held. Note 2.12 also describes accounting principles 
applying to these contracts and defines the terms used in the following paragraphs of Note 11 as follows:

• DPF: Discretionary participation features

• LRC: Liability for remaining coverage

• LIC: Liability for incurred claims

• ARC: Asset for remaining coverage

• AIC: Asset for incurred claims

• CSM: Contractual Service Margin

• OCI: Other comprehensive income

• MRA: Modified retrospective approach

• FVA: Fair value approach

• PVFCF: Present value of future cash flows

• RA: Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

• BBA: Building block approach

• VFA: Variable fee approach

• PAA: Premium allocation approach

11.1.1   Reconciliation with the consolidated statement of financial position

The tables below enable to reconcile the consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss with information disclosed in the next paragraphs.

These reconciliations consist in excluding the amounts of both insurance and reinsurance receivables and payables, as well as the 
assets for insurance acquisition cash flows, included in the consolidated statement of financial position on one hand, and the 
related amounts affecting the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the other hand.

11.1.1.1 Reconciliation with the consolidated statement of financial position

The reconciliation of amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position with the "carrying amount of insurance 
contracts and investment contracts with DPF", as disclosed below in section 11.2, is formalised as follows:
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(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Amounts reported in the consolidated statement of financial position

Liabilities arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts with 
discretionary participation features 6,139,517 6,106,972

Assets arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary 
participation features — —

Net position 6,139,517 6,106,972
Receivables arising from direct insurance and inward reinsurance operations 3,288,820 3,419,236

Payables arising from direct insurance and inward reinsurance operations (367,431) (401,132)

Assets relating to insurance acquisition cash flows — —

Carrying amount of insurance contracts and investment contracts with 
discretionary participation features, as disclosed hereinafter 9,060,906 9,125,076

Of which Life & Savings contracts  40,583  70,873 

Of which Property & Casualty contracts  9,020,323  9,054,203 

The reconciliation of amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position with the carrying amount of 
reinsurance contracts held as disclosed below in section 11.3, is formalised as follows:

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Amounts reported in the consolidated statement of financial position

Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held  2,028,682 2,080,951

Liabilities arising from reinsurance contracts held  — —

Net position  2,028,682 2,080,951

Receivables arising from outward reinsurance operations  (269,874) (413,830)

Payables arising from outward reinsurance operations  833,828 1,080,966

Carrying amount of reinsurance contracts held, as disclosed hereinafter  2,592,636 2,748,087

Of which Life & Savings contracts  34,675  62,078 

Of which Property & Casualty contracts  2,557,961  2,686,009 

11.1.1.2 Reconciliation with the consolidated statement of profit or loss

The reconciliation of amounts presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to both the “Insurance service expenses” 
and the “Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts recognised in profit or loss”, as disclosed below in section 11.2, is 
formalised as follows:
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(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Insurance service expenses  reported  in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss  (1,883,000) (1,656,993)

Increase in impairment relating to receivables arising from direct insurance and 
inward reinsurance operations  — —

Write back of impairment relating to receivables arising from direct insurance 
and inward reinsurance operations  — —

Increase in impairment of assets relating to insurance acquisition cash flows  — —

Write back of impairment of assets relating to insurance acquisition cash flows  — —

Insurance service expenses, as disclosed hereinafter  (1,883,000) (1,656,993)

of which Life & Savings contracts  (28,726)  (14,468) 

of which Property & Casualty contracts  (1,854,274)  (1,642,525) 

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts reported in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss  (146,333)  (192,951) 

Interest income on receivables arising from direct insurance and inward 
reinsurance operations  — —

Interest expenses on payables arising from direct insurance and inward 
reinsurance operations  — —

Foreign exchange unrealized losses or  gains  relating to receivables and 
payables arising from direct insurance and inward reinsurance operations  (14,118)  48,979 

Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts recognized in 
profit or loss, as disclosed in notes to the consolidated financial statements  (160,451)  (143,972) 

of which Life & Savings contracts  9,914  (491) 

of which Property & Casualty contracts  (170,365)  (143,481) 

The reconciliation of amounts presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to both the “Net (expenses)/recoveries from 
reinsurance contracts held” and the “Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts recognised in profit or loss”, as 
disclosed below in section 11.3, is formalised as follows:
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(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held reported  in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss  (205,204)  (395,274) 

Increase in impairment relating to receivables arising from outward reinsurance 
operations  —  — 

Write back of impairment relating to  receivables arising from outward 
reinsurance operations  —  — 

Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held, as disclosed 
hereinafter  (205,204)  (395,274) 

of which Life & Savings contracts  12,298  (1,494) 

of which Property & Casualty contracts  (217,502)  (393,780) 

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held reported in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss  43,899  25,253 

Interest income on receivables arising from outward reinsurance operations — —

Interest expense on payables arising from outward reinsurance operations — —

Foreign exchange unrealized (losses)/gains  relating to receivables and payables 
arising from direct insurance and inward reinsurance operations  (7,537)  3,270 

Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts, as disclosed 
hereinafter   36,362  28,523 

of which Life & Savings contracts  (8,680)  413 

of which Property & Casualty contracts  45,042  28,110 

11.1.2 Carrying amount of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF, gross and net of 
reinsurance contracts held

The carrying amount of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF, gross and net of reinsurance contracts held, is 
allocated by line of business as follows 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

(US Dollars in thousands)
Life & 

Savings
Property & 

Casualty Total
Life & 

Savings
Property & 

Casualty Total
Assets and liabilities for remaining coverage  30,796  1,479,542  1,510,338  56,871  1,340,497  1,397,368 
Assets and liabilities for incurred claims  9,787  7,540,781  7,550,568  14,002  7,713,706  7,727,708 
Carrying amount of insurance contracts and 
investment contracts with DPF  40,583  9,020,323  9,060,906  70,873  9,054,203  9,125,076 

Assets and liabilities for remaining coverage  30,766  402,566  433,332  53,529  456,698  510,227 
Assets and liabilities for incurred claims  3,909  2,155,395  2,159,304  8,549  2,229,311  2,237,860 
Carrying amounts of reinsurance contracts held  34,675  2,557,961  2,592,636  62,078  2,686,009  2,748,087 
Carrying amount of insurance contracts and 
investment contracts with DPF, net of reinsurance 
contracts held

 5,908  6,462,362  6,468,270  8,795  6,368,194  6,376,989 
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11.2   MOVEMENTS IN BALANCES OF INSURANCE CONTRACTS AND INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITH DPF

11.2.1   Changes in the carrying amount of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF, split between remaining coverage and incurred claims 
components 
The following tables provide an analysis of movements in the carrying amount of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF, split between the Liability for Remaining 
Coverage (“LRC”) and the Liability for Incurred Claims (“LIC”).

The analysis of movements highlights how this carrying amount is affected by (i) the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI), 
(ii) the cash flows, (iii) the effect of movements in exchange rates, (iv) and the effect of changes in scope of consolidation and other changes.

The amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss reconcile to insurance revenue as well as to insurance service expenses and net finance income or expenses as disclosed 
above (see section Note 11.1.1.2). In respect of insurance revenue, the tables below show their breakdown between those coming from contracts measured under the Modified 
Retrospective Approach (MRA) and the Fair Value Approach (FVA) at transition on one hand, and other contracts on the other hand, the latter combining both new contracts and 
contracts measured under the full retrospective approach at transition as well contracts not applying the annual cohort requirement at transition (refer to Note 2.12.7).
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The following changes occurred during the year ended December 31, 2024:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Analysis of changes occurred in the course of 2024, split between LRC and LIC

Liability for Remaining Coverage (LRC) 
Liability for Incurred Claims (LIC)

Total

of which

LIC related
to non PAA
contracts

LIC related to PAA contracts

Total LIC Life P&C

Excluding 
loss 

component
Loss 

component
Total LRC

Estimates 
of the 
PVFCF RA Total

Opening assets — — — — —  —  — — — — —

Opening liabilities 1,397,106 262 1,397,368 14,002 7,530,474 183,232 7,713,706 7,727,708 9,125,076 70,873 9,054,203

Net opening balance (A) 1,397,106 262 1,397,368 14,002 7,530,474 183,232 7,713,706 7,727,708 9,125,076 70,873 9,054,203

Insurance revenue coming from contracts under the MRA — — — — — — — — — — —

Insurance revenue coming from contracts under the FVA (18,478) — (18,478) — — — — — (18,478) (18,478) —

Insurance revenue coming from other contracts (2,557,974) — (2,557,974) — — — — — (2,557,974) — (2,557,974)

Insurance revenue (B) (2,576,452) — (2,576,452) — — — — — (2,576,452) (18,478) (2,557,974)

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses — — — 28,726 1,735,124 24,736 1,759,860 1,788,586 1,788,586 28,726 1,759,860

Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 73,625 — 73,625 — — — — — 73,625 — 73,625

Losses and reversal of losses on onerous contracts — (147) (147) — — — — — (147) — (147)

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims — — — — 34,895 (13,959) 20,936 20,936 20,936 — 20,936

Insurance service expenses (C) 73,625 (147) 73,478 28,726 1,770,019 10,777 1,780,796 1,809,522 1,883,000 28,726 1,854,274

Investment components (D) — — — — — — — — — — —

Insurance service result (E=B+C+D) (2,502,827) (147) (2,502,974) 28,726 1,770,019 10,777 1,780,796 1,809,522 (693,452) 10,248 (703,700)

Net finance income or expenses recognized in profit or loss (9,914) — (9,914) — 170,365 — 170,365 170,365 160,451 (9,914) 170,365

Net finance income or expenses recognized in OCI 13,622 — 13,622 — 21,748 — 21,748 21,748 35,370 13,622 21,748

Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts (F) 3,708 — 3,708 — 192,113 — 192,113 192,113 195,821 3,708 192,113

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and in OCI (G = E+F) (2,499,119) (147) (2,499,266) 28,726 1,962,132 10,777 1,972,909 2,001,635 (497,631) 13,956 (511,587)

Premiums received 2,766,843 — 2,766,843 — — — — — 2,766,843 29,334 2,737,509

Claims and other insurance service expenses paid — — — (32,441) (1,862,241) — (1,862,241) (1,894,682) (1,894,682) (32,441) (1,862,241)

Insurance acquisition cash flows paid (132,268) — (132,268) — — — — — (132,268) (1,818) (130,450)

Total cash flows (H) 2,634,575 — 2,634,575 (32,441) (1,862,241) — (1,862,241) (1,894,682) 739,893 (4,925) 744,818

Effect of movements in exchange rates (I) (9,337) (19) (9,356) (500) (188,199) (2,647) (190,846) (191,346) (200,702) (39,321) (161,381)

Change in scope of consolidation, and other changes (J) (12,673) (310) (12,983) — (91,110) (1,637) (92,747) (92,747) (105,730) — (105,730)

Closing assets — — — — — — — — —

Closing liabilities 1,510,552 (214) 1,510,338 9,787 7,351,056 189,725 7,540,781 7,550,568 9,060,906 40,583 9,020,323

Net closing balance (K=A+G+H+I+J) 1,510,552 (214) 1,510,338 9,787 7,351,056 189,725 7,540,781 7,550,568 9,060,906 40,583 9,020,323

of which Life 30,796 — 30,796 9,787 — — — 9,787 40,583

of which Property & Casualty 1,479,756 (214) 1,479,542 — 7,351,056 189,725 7,540,781 7,540,781 9,020,323
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The following changes occurred during the year ended December 31, 2023:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Analysis of changes occurred in the course of 2023, split between LRC and LIC
Liability for Remaining Coverage (LRC) Liability for Incurred Claims (LIC)

Total

of which

Excluding 
loss 

component
Loss 

component Total LRC

LIC related
to non PAA
contracts

LIC related to PAA contracts

Total LIC Life P&C

Estimates
of the
PVFCF RA Total

Opening assets — — — — — — — — — — —

Opening liabilities 1,031,128 3,164 1,034,292 12,331 6,580,409 199,468 6,779,877 6,792,208 7,826,500 74,048 7,752,452

Net opening balance (A) 1,031,128 3,164 1,034,292 12,331 6,580,409 199,468 6,779,877 6,792,208 7,826,500 74,048 7,752,452

Insurance revenue coming from contracts under the MRA — — — — — — — — — — —

Insurance revenue coming from contracts under the FVA (16,507) — (16,507) — — — — — (16,507) (16,507) —

Insurance revenue coming from other contracts (2,393,936) — (2,393,936) — — — — — (2,393,936) — (2,393,936)

Insurance revenue (B) (2,410,443) — (2,410,443) — — — — — (2,410,443) (16,507) (2,393,936)

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses — — — 14,856 1,723,720 (5,308) 1,718,412 1,733,268 1,733,268 14,856 1,718,412

Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 80,793 — 80,793 — — — — — 80,793 — 80,793

Losses and reversal of losses on onerous contracts — (3,797) (3,797) (388) — — — (388) (4,185) (388) (3,797)

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims — — — — (92,124) (60,759) (152,883) (152,883) (152,883) — (152,883)

Insurance service expenses (C) 80,793 (3,797) 76,996 14,468 1,631,596 (66,067) 1,565,529 1,579,997 1,656,993 14,468 1,642,525

Investment components (D) — — — — — — — — — — —

Insurance service result (E=B+C+D) (2,329,650) (3,797) (2,333,447) 14,468 1,631,596 (66,067) 1,565,529 1,579,997 (753,450) (2,039) (751,411)

Net finance income or expenses recognized in profit or loss 491 — 491 — 143,481 — 143,481 143,481 143,972 491 143,481

Net finance income or expenses recognized in OCI 210 — 210 — 138,549 — 138,549 138,549 138,759 210 138,549

Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts (F) 701 — 701 — 282,030 — 282,030 282,030 282,731 701 282,030

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and in OCI (G = E+F) (2,328,949) (3,797) (2,332,746) 14,468 1,913,626 (66,067) 1,847,559 1,862,027 (470,719) (1,338) (469,381)

Premiums received 2,441,895 — 2,441,895 — — — — — 2,441,895 11,925 2,429,970

Claims and other insurance service expenses paid — — — (13,703) (2,324,583) — (2,324,583) (2,338,286) (2,338,286) (13,703) (2,324,583)

Insurance acquisition cash flows paid (96,642) — (96,642) — — — — — (96,642) (2,034) (94,608)

Total cash flows (H) 2,345,253 — 2,345,253 (13,703) (2,324,583) — (2,324,583) (2,338,286) 6,967 (3,812) 10,779

Effect of movements in exchange rates (I) 25,403 30 25,433 906 167,596 1,021 168,617 169,523 194,956 1,975 192,981

Change in scope of consolidation, and other changes (J) 324,271 865 325,136 — 1,193,426 48,810 1,242,236 1,242,236 1,567,372 — 1,567,372

Closing assets — — — — — — — — — — —

Closing liabilities 1,397,106 262 1,397,368 14,002 7,530,474 183,232 7,713,706 7,727,708 9,125,076 70,873 9,054,203

Net closing balance (K=A+G+H+I+J) 1,397,106 262 1,397,368 14,002 7,530,474 183,232 7,713,706 7,727,708 9,125,076 70,873 9,054,203

of which Life 56,871 — 56,871 14,002 — — — 14,002 70,873

of which Property & Casualty 1,340,235 262 1,340,497 — 7,530,474 183,232 7,713,706 7,713,706 9,054,203
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11.2.2   Changes in the carrying amount of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF, broken down by measurement 
component 

The following tables provide an analysis of movements in the carrying amount of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF broken down by measurement 
component, namely (i) the estimate of the Present Value of Future Cash Flows (“PVFCF”), (ii) the risk adjustment for non-financial risk (“RA”), and (iii) the Contractual Service Margin 
(“CSM”). It should be noted that the carrying amount of insurance contracts measured under the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”) is also reported to match with the opening 
and closing balances of financial statements.

In this respect, the total amount of risk adjustment for non-financial risk gross of reinsurance (including contracts measured under the PAA) was $191.0 million at end December 
2024 and $185.2 million at end December 2023. The percentile was stable at 65th comprised within the 62.5th -67.5th percentile range considered by the Company as the adequate 
level of prudence on underlying insurance liabilities.
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The following changes occurred during the year ended December 31, 2024:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Analysis of changes occurred in the course of 2024, broken down by measurement component (only for non PAA contracts)

Estimates
of the
PVFCF RA

Contractual Service Margin (CSM) of which

Contracts
measured

at
transition
under the

MRA

Contracts
measured

at
transition
under the

FVA
Other

contracts Total CSM

Carrying
amount
of non

PAA
contracts Life

Property
&

Casualty

Carrying
amount
of PAA

contracts Total

Opening assets — — — — — — — — — — —

Opening liabilities 61,283 1,993 — 7,597 — 7,597 70,873 70,873 — 9,054,203 9,125,076

Net opening balance (A) 61,283 1,993 — 7,597 — 7,597 70,873 70,873 — 9,054,203 9,125,076

CSM recognized in profit or loss for services provided — — — (6,048) — (6,048) (6,048) (6,048) — — (6,048)

Release of RA — (106) — — — — (106) (106) — — (106)

Experience adjustments 16,402 — — — — — 16,402 16,402 — — 16,402

Changes that relate to current services (B) 16,402 (106) — (6,048) — (6,048) 10,248 10,248 — — 10,248

Contracts initially recognized in the period — — — — — — — — — — —

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (1,282) (511) — 1,793 — 1,793 — — — — —

Changes in estimates that result in losses and reversal of 
losses on onerous contracts — — — — — — — — — — —

Changes that relate to future services (C) (1,282) (511) — 1,793 — 1,793 — — — — —

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims — — — — — — — — — — —

Changes that relate to past services (D) — — — — — — — — — — —

Insurance service result (E=B+C+D) 15,120 (617) — (4,255) — (4,255) 10,248 10,248 — (703,700) (693,452)
Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts 
recognized in profit or loss (9,993) — — 79 — 79 (9,914) (9,914) — 170,365 160,451

Net finance income or expenses recognized in OCI 13,622 — — — — — 13,622 13,622 — 21,748 35,370

Net finance income or expenses from insurance 
contracts (F) 3,629 — — 79 — 79 3,708 3,708 — 192,113 195,821

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and in 
OCI  (G=E+F) 18,749 (617) — (4,176) — (4,176) 13,956 13,956 — (511,587) (497,631)

Premiums received 29,334 — — — — — 29,334 29,334 — 2,737,509 2,766,843

Claims and other insurance service expenses paid (32,441) — — — — — (32,441) (32,441) — (1,862,241) (1,894,682)

Insurance acquisition cash flows (1,818) — — — — — (1,818) (1,818) — (130,450) (132,268)

Total cash flows (H) (4,925) — — — — — (4,925) (4,925) — 744,818 739,893

Effect of movements in exchange rates (I) (39,175) (59) — (87) — (87) (39,321) (39,321) — (161,381) (200,702)

Change in scope of consolidation, and other changes (J) — — — — — — — — — (105,730) (105,730)

Closing assets — — — — — — — — — — —

Closing liabilities 35,932 1,317 — 3,334 — 3,334 40,583 40,583 — 9,020,323 9,060,906

Net closing balance (K=A+G+H+I+J) 35,932 1,317 — 3,334 — 3,334 40,583 40,583 — 9,020,323 9,060,906

of which Life 35,932 1,317 — 3,334 — 3,334 40,583 40,583 — — 40,583

of which Property & Casualty — — — — — — — — — 9,020,323 9,020,323
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The following changes occurred during the year ended December 31, 2023:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Analysis of changes occurred in the course of 2023, broken down by measurement component (only for non PAA contracts)

Estimates
of the
PVFCF RA

Contractual Service Margin (CSM)

Contractual 
Service 
Margin 
(CSM)

Carrying
amount
of non

PAA
contracts

of which

Carrying 
amount of 
contracts 
measured 
under PAA Total

Contracts
measured

at
transition
under the

MRA

Contracts
measured

at
transition
under the

FVA
Other

contracts Life
Property & 

Casualty

Opening assets — — — — — — — — — — —

Opening liabilities 63,344 2,219 — 8,485 — 8,485 74,048 74,048 — 7,752,452 7,826,500

Net opening balance (A) 63,344 2,219 — 8,485 — 8,485 74,048 74,048 — 7,752,452 7,826,500

CSM recognized in profit or loss for services provided — — — (1,204) — (1,204) (1,204) (1,204) — — (1,204)

Release of RA — (141) — — — — (141) (141) — — (141)

Experience adjustments (306) — — — — — (306) (306) — — (306)

Changes that relate to current services (B) (306) (141) — (1,204) — (1,204) (1,651) (1,651) — — (1,651)

Contracts initially recognized in the period — — — — — — — — — — —

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 277 (149) — (128) — (128) — — — — —

Changes in estimates that result in losses and reversal of 
losses on onerous contracts (385) (3) — — — — (388) (388) — — (388)

Changes that relate to future services (C) (108) (152) — (128) — (128) (388) (388) — — (388)

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims — — — — — — — — — — —

Changes that relate to past services (D) — — — — — — — — — — —

Insurance service result (E=B+C+D) (414) (293) — (1,332) — (1,332) (2,039) (2,039) — (751,411) (753,450)
Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts 
recognized in profit or loss 357 — — 134 — 134 491 491 — 143,481 143,972

Net finance income or expenses recognized in OCI 210 — — — — — 210 210 — 138,549 138,759

Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts 
(F) 567 — — 134 — 134 701 701 — 282,030 282,731

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and in OCI
(G=E+F) 153 (293) — (1,198) — (1,198) (1,338) (1,338) — (469,381) (470,719)

Premiums received 11,925 — — — — — 11,925 11,925 — 2,429,970 2,441,895

Claims and other insurance service expenses paid (13,703) — — — — — (13,703) (13,703) — (2,324,583) (2,338,286)

Insurance acquisition cash flows (2,034) — — — — — (2,034) (2,034) — (94,608) (96,642)

Total cash flows (H) (3,812) — — — — — (3,812) (3,812) — 10,779 6,967

Effect of movements in exchange rates (I) 1,598 67 — 310 — 310 1,975 1,975 — 192,981 194,956

Change in scope of consolidation, and other changes (J) — — — — — — — — — 1,567,372 1,567,372

Closing assets — — — — — — — — — — —

Closing liabilities 61,283 1,993 — 7,597 — 7,597 70,873 70,873 — 9,054,203 9,125,076

Net closing balance (K=A+G+H+I+J) 61,283 1,993 — 7,597 — 7,597 70,873 70,873 — 9,054,203 9,125,076

Of which Life 61,283 1,993 — 7,597 — 7,597 70,873 70,873 — — 70,873

Of which Property & Casualty — — — — — — — — — 9,054,203 9,054,203
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11.3   MOVEMENTS IN BALANCES OF REINSURANCE CONTRACTS HELD
11.3.1   Changes in the carrying amount of reinsurance contracts held, split between remaining coverage and incurred claims components
The two following tables provide an analysis of movements in the carrying amount of reinsurance contracts held split between the component for remaining coverage and the 
component for incurred claims.

The analysis of movements highlights how this carrying amount is affected by (i) the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI),
(ii) the cash flows, (iii) the effect of movements in exchange rates, (iv) and the effect of changes in scope of consolidation and other changes.

The amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss reconcile to net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held and net finance income or expenses as disclosed 
above (see paragraph 11.1.1.2).
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The following changes occurred during the year ended December 31, 2024:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Analysis of changes occurred in the course of 2024, split between ARC and AIC

Assets for Remaining Coverage (ARC) Asset for Incurred claims (AIC)

Total AIC Total

of which

Excluding 
loss 

recovery 
component

Loss 
recovery 

component Total ARC

AIC related 
to non PAA 
contracts

AIC related to PAA contracts

Estimates 
of

the PVFC RA Total Life
Property & 

Casualty

Opening assets 510,290 (63) 510,227 8,549 2,181,762 47,549 2,229,311 2,237,860 2,748,087 62,078 2,686,009

Opening liabilities — — — — — — — — — — —

Net opening balance (A) 510,290 (63) 510,227 8,549 2,181,762 47,549 2,229,311 2,237,860 2,748,087 62,078 2,686,009

Expenses from reinsurance contracts (691,276) (691,276) — — — — — (691,276) (14,841) (676,435)

Changes in estimates that relate to losses and reversal of losses on 
underlying onerous contracts — 12 12 — — — — — 12 — 12

Amount recovered from the reinsurers — — — 27,139 450,127 8,339 458,466 485,605 485,605 27,139 458,466

Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held (B) (691,276) 12 (691,264) 27,139 450,127 8,339 458,466 485,605 (205,659) 12,298 (217,957)

Investment component (C) — — — — — — — — — — —

Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts 
recognized in profit or loss (8,680) — (8,680) — 45,042 — 45,042 45,042 36,362 (8,680) 45,042

Net finance income or expenses recognized in OCI 12,310 — 12,310 — 9,364 2 9,366 9,366 21,676 12,310 9,366

Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held 
(D) 3,630 — 3,630 — 54,406 2 54,408 54,408 58,038 3,630 54,408

Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers (E) — — — — 455 — 455 455 455 — 455

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and in OCI 
(F=B+C+D+E) (687,646) 12 (687,634) 27,139 504,988 8,341 513,329 540,468 (147,166) 15,928 (163,094)

Premiums paid (net of commissions related to premiums) 649,676 — 649,676 — — — — — 649,676 18,250 631,426

Amount received (net of commissions related to claims) — — — (31,660) (465,599) — (465,599) (497,259) (497,259) (31,660) (465,599)

Total cash flows (G) 649,676 — 649,676 (31,660) (465,599) — (465,599) (497,259) 152,417 (13,410) 165,827

Effect of movements in exchange rates (H) (32,901) 30 (32,871) (119) (44,398) (730) (45,128) (45,247) (78,118) (29,921) (48,197)

Change in scope of consolidation, and other changes (I) (6,066) — (6,066) — (76,338) (180) (76,518) (76,518) (82,584) — (82,584)

Closing assets 433,353 (21) 433,332 3,909 2,100,415 54,980 2,155,395 2,159,304 2,592,636 34,675 2,557,961

Closing liabilities — — — — — — — — — — —

Net closing balance (J=A+F+G+H+I) 433,353 (21) 433,332 3,909 2,100,415 54,980 2,155,395 2,159,304 2,592,636 34,675 2,557,961

of which Life 30,766 — 30,766 3,909 — — — 3,909 34,675

of which Property & Casualty 402,587 (21) 402,566 — 2,100,415 54,980 2,155,395 2,155,395 2,557,961
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The following changes occurred during the year ended December 31, 2023:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Analysis of changes occurred in the course of 2023, split between ARC and AIC

Assets for Remaining Coverage (ARC) 

AIC related 
to

non PAA
contracts

Incurred claims component

Total AIC Total

of which

Excluding 
loss 

recovery 
component

Loss 
recovery 

component Total ARC

Contracts measured under Premium 
Allocation Approach

Life
Property & 

Casualty

Estimates 
of

the PVFCF RA Total

Opening assets 466,320 796 467,116 6,395 2,114,302 58,488 2,172,790 2,179,185 2,646,301 63,901 2,582,400

Opening liabilities — — — — — — — — —

Net opening balance (A) 466,320 796 467,116 6,395 2,114,302 58,488 2,172,790 2,179,185 2,646,301 63,901 2,582,400

Expenses from reinsurance contracts (844,950) — (844,950) — — — — — (844,950) (15,841) (829,109)

Changes in estimates that relate to losses and reversal of losses on 
underlying onerous contracts — (1,019) (1,019) — — — — — (1,019) (425) (594)

Amount recovered from the reinsurers — — — 14,771 450,915 (14,610) 436,305 451,076 451,076 14,772 436,304

Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held (B) (844,950) (1,019) (845,969) 14,771 450,915 (14,610) 436,305 451,076 (394,893) (1,494) (393,399)

Investment component (C) — — — — — — — — — — —

Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts 
recognized in profit or loss 413 — 413 — 28,110 — 28,110 28,110 28,523 413 28,110

Net finance income or expenses recognized in OCI 770 — 770 — 53,326 (17) 53,309 53,309 54,079 770 53,309

Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held 
(D) 1,183 — 1,183 — 81,436 (17) 81,419 81,419 82,602 1,183 81,419

Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers (E) — — — — (381) — (381) (381) (381) — (381)

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and in OCI 
(F=B+C+D+E) (843,767) (1,019) (844,786) 14,771 531,970 (14,627) 517,343 532,114 (312,672) (311) (312,361)

Premiums paid (net of commissions related to premiums) 832,621 — 832,621 — — — — — 832,621 — 832,621

Amount received (net of commissions related to claims) — — — (12,805) (612,943) — (612,943) (625,748) (625,748) (12,805) (612,943)

Total cash flows (G) 832,621 — 832,621 (12,805) (612,943) — (612,943) (625,748) 206,873 (12,805) 219,678

Effect of movements in exchange rates (H) 19,867 108 19,975 188 19,875 1,282 21,157 21,345 41,320 11,293 30,027

Change in scope of consolidation, and other changes (I) 35,249 52 35,301 — 128,558 2,406 130,964 130,964 166,265 — 166,265

Closing assets 510,290 (63) 510,227 8,549 2,181,762 47,549 2,229,311 2,237,860 2,748,087 62,078 2,686,009

Closing liabilities — — — — — — — — — — —

Net closing balance (J=A+F+G+H+I) 510,290 (63) 510,227 8,549 2,181,762 47,549 2,229,311 2,237,860 2,748,087 62,078 2,686,009

of which Life 53,529 — 53,529 8,549 — — — 8,549 62,078

of which Property & Casualty 456,761 (63) 456,698 — 2,181,762 47,549 2,229,311 2,229,311 2,686,009
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11.3.2   Changes in the carrying amount of reinsurance contracts held, broken down by measurement component
The two following tables provide an analysis of movements in the carrying amount of reinsurance contracts broken down by measurement component, namely (i) the estimate of 
the Present Value of Future Cash Flows (“PVFCF”), (ii) the risk adjustment for non-financial risk (“RA”), and (iii) the Contractual Service Margin (“CSM”).

As such, this second reconciliation is presented only for reinsurance contracts not measured under the PAA. However, the carrying amount of reinsurance contracts measured 
under the PAA is also reported to match with the opening and closing balances of financial statements.

The following changes occurred during the year ended December 31, 2024:
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(US Dollars in thousands)

Analysis of changes occurred in the course of 2024, broken down by measurement component (only for non PAA contracts)

Estimates
of the
PVFCF RA

Contractual Service Margin (CSM) of which
Contracts
measured

at
transition
under the

MRA

Contracts
measured

at
transition
under the

FVA
Other

contracts CSM

Carrying
amount
of non

PAA
contracts Life

Property & 
Casualty

Carrying
amount
of PAA

contracts Total

Opening assets  52,993  1,865  —  7,220  — 7,220 62,078 62,078 — 2,686,009 2,748,087

Opening liabilities  —  —  —  —  — — — — — — —

Net opening balance (A) 52,993 1,865 — 7,220 — 7,220 62,078 62,078 — 2,686,009 2,748,087

CSM recognized for services received  —  —  —  (2,802)  — (2,802) (2,802) (2,802) — — (2,802)

Release of RA  —  (102)  —  —  — — (102) (102) — — (102)

Experience adjustments  15,202  —  —  —  — — 15,202 15,202 — — 15,202

Changes that relate to current services (B) 15,202 (102) — (2,802) — (2,802) 12,298 12,298 — — 12,298

Contracts initially recognized in the period  —  —  —  —  — — — — — — —

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM  1,491  (387)  —  (1,104)  — (1,104) — — — — —

Changes in estimates that relate to losses and reversal from losses on 
underlying onerous contracts  —  —  —  —  — — — — — — —

Other changes in estimates that relate to future services  —  —  —  —  — — — — — — —

Changes that relate to future services (C) 1,491 (387) — (1,104) — (1,104) — — — — —

Adjustments to incurred claims  —  —  —  —  — — — — — — —

Changes that relate to past services (D) — — — — — — — — — — —

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts (E=B+C+D) 16,693 (489) — (3,906) — (3,906) 12,298 12,298 — (217,957) (205,659)

Net finance income or expenses recognized in profit or loss  (8,756)  —  — 76  — 76 (8,680) (8,680) — 45,042 36,362

Net finance income or expenses recognized in OCI  12,310  —  —  —  — — 12,310 12,310 — 9,366 21,676

Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held (F) 3,554 — — 76 — 76 3,630 3,630 — 54,408 58,038

Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers (G) — — — — — — — — — 455 455

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and in OCI (H=E+F+G) 20,247 (489) — (3,830) — (3,830) 15,928 15,928 — (163,094) (147,166)

Premiums paid (net of commissions related to premiums)  18,250  —  — 0  — — 18,250 18,250 — 631,426 649,676

Amount received (net of commissions related to claims)  (31,660)  —  —  —  — — (31,660) (31,660) — (465,599) (497,259)

Total cash flows (I) (13,410) — — — — — (13,410) (13,410) — 165,827 152,417

Effect of movements in exchange rates (J) (29,776) (59) — (86) — (86) (29,921) (29,921) — (48,197) (78,118)

Change in scope of consolidation, and other changes (K) — — — — — — — — — (82,584) (82,584)

Closing assets 30,054 1,317 — 3,304 — 3,304 34,675 34,675 — 2,557,961 2,592,636

Closing liabilities — — — — — — — — — — —

Net closing balance (L=A+H+I+J+K) 30,054 1,317 — 3,304 — 3,304 34,675 34,675 — 2,557,961 2,592,636

of which Life 30,054 1,317 — 3,304 — 3,304 34,675 34,675 — — 34,675

of which Property & Casualty — — — — — — — — — 2,557,961 2,557,961
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The following changes occurred during the year ended December 31, 2023:

(US Dollars in thousands)

Analysis of changes occurred in the course of 2023, broken down by measurement component (only for non PAA contracts)

Estimates
of the
PVFCF RA

Contractual Service Margin (CSM)

CSM

Carrying
amount
of non

PAA
contracts

of which

Carrying
amount of

PAA
contracts Total

Contracts 
measured 

at 
transition 
under the 

MRA

Contracts
measured

at
transition
under the

FVA
Other

contracts Life
Property & 

Casualty

Opening assets 53,862 2,049 — 7,990 — 7,990 63,901 63,901 — 2,582,400 2,646,301

Opening liabilities — — — — — — — — — — —

Net opening balance (A) 53,862 2,049 — 7,990 — 7,990 63,901 63,901 — 2,582,400 2,646,301
CSM recognized for services received — — — (1,154) — (1,154) (1,154) (1,154) — — (1,154)

Release of RA — (130) — — — — (130) (130) — — (130)

Experience adjustments 215 — — — — — 215 215 — — 215

Changes that relate to current services (B) 215 (130) — (1,154) — (1,154) (1,069) (1,069) — — (1,069)
Contracts initially recognized in the period — — — — — — — — — — —

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 172 (123) — (49) — (49) — — — — —
Changes in estimates that relate to losses and reversal from losses on 
underlying onerous contracts (425) — — — — — (425) (425) — — (425)

Other changes in estimates that relate to future services — — — — — — — — — — —

Changes that relate to future services (C) (253) (123) — (49) — (49) (425) (425) — — (425)
Adjustments to incurred claims — — — — — — — — — — —

Changes that relate to past services (D) — — — — — — — — — — —
Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts (E=B+C+D) (38) (253) — (1,203) — (1,203) (1,494) (1,494) — (393,399) (394,893)
Net finance income or expenses recognized in profit or loss 288 — — 125 — 125 413 413 — 28,110 28,523

Net finance income or expenses recognized in OCI 770 — — — — — 770 770 — 53,309 54,079
Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held 
(F) 1,058 — — 125 — 125 1,183 1,183 — 81,419 82,602
Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers (G) — — — — — — — — — (381) (381)
Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and in OCI 
(H=E+F+G) 1,020 (253) — (1,078) — (1,078) (311) (311) — (312,361) (312,672)
Premiums paid (net of commissions related to premiums) — — — — — — — — — 832,621 832,621

Amount received (net of commissions related to claims) (12,805) — — — — — (12,805) (12,805) — (612,943) (625,748)

Total cash flows (I) (12,805) — — — — — (12,805) (12,805) — 219,678 206,873
Effect of movements in exchange rates (J) 10,916 69 — 308 — 308 11,293 11,293 — 30,027 41,320
Change in scope of consolidation, and other changes (K) — — — — — — — — — 166,265 166,265
Closing assets 52,993 1,865 — 7,220 — 7,220 62,078 62,078 — 2,686,009 2,748,087

Closing liabilities — — — — — — — — — — —

Net closing balance (L=A+H+I+J+K) 52,993 1,865 — 7,220 — 7,220 62,078 62,078 — 2,686,009 2,748,087
of which Life  52,993  1,865  —  7,220  —  7,220 62,078 62,078 — — 62,078

of which Property & Casualty  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 2,686,009 2,686,009
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11.4   INSURANCE REVENUE AND CSM 

11.4.1   Insurance revenue

The analysis of insurance revenue arising from PAA and non PAA contracts, is as follows:
(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Amounts relating to changes in liabilities for remaining coverage
CSM recognized in profit or loss for services provided  6,048  1,204 
Release of risk adjustment for non-financial risk for risk expired  106  141 
Release of expected incurred claims and other insurance service expenses  11,806  14,268 
Experience adjustments  518  894 
Other  —  — 
Insurance revenue arising from non PAA contracts 18,478 16,507
Insurance revenue arising from PAA contracts 2,557,974 2,393,936
Total insurance revenue 2,576,452 2,410,443

11.4.2   Contractual Service Margin ("CSM")

As of December 31, 2024, the total amount of CSM net of reinsurance contracts reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position was $30 thousand ($0.4 million as of December 31, 2023)

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF  3,334  7,597 
Liabilities arising from reinsurance contracts held — —
Amount of CSM included in liabilities 3,334 7,597
Assets arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF  —  — 
Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held 3,304 7,220
Amount of CSM included in assets 3,304 7,220
Total CSM 30 377

of which CSM arising from insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF  3,334  7,597 

of which CSM arising from reinsurance contracts held  (3,304)  (7,220) 
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11.5   DISCOUNT RATES

As explained in Note 2.12.3.3, the estimates of future cash flows are discounted based on yield curves determined in a “risk-neutral” 
environment. The yield curves used as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, for the main currencies are disclosed below.

Spot discount rates used at end of December
EUR USD GBP JPY CHF HKD

Maturity 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

1 2.7% 3.7% 4.8% 5.4% 4.9% 5.2% 0.4% (0.1)% —% 1.1% 4.1% 4.5%
2 2.5% 3.0% 4.7% 4.7% 4.7% 4.5% 0.5% —% —% 1.1% 4.0% 3.9%
3 2.5% 2.8% 4.7% 4.4% 4.6% 4.2% 0.6% —% 0.1% 1.1% 3.9% 3.7%
5 2.6% 2.7% 4.6% 4.2% 4.4% 3.9% 0.7% 0.2% 0.2% 1.1% 3.9% 3.5%
7 2.6% 2.7% 4.7% 4.1% 4.4% 3.8% 0.8% 0.3% 0.3% 1.1% 3.9% 3.5%

10 2.7% 2.8% 4.7% 4.1% 4.5% 3.8% 1.1% 0.6% 0.4% 1.2% 3.9% 3.5%
15 2.8% 2.8% 4.7% 4.2% 4.6% 3.9% 1.6% 1.1% 0.5% 1.2% 4.0% 3.6%
20 2.7% 2.8% 4.7% 4.1% 4.7% 3.9% 1.9% 1.4% 0.7% 1.3% 3.9% 3.6%
25 2.6% 2.7% 4.6% 4.0% 4.7% 3.9% 2.1% 1.6% 0.9% 1.5% 3.9% 3.6%
30 2.6% 2.7% 4.4% 3.9% 4.6% 3.9% 2.3% 1.7% 1.1% 1.6% 3.8% 3.6%

As explained in Note 2.12.3.3, discount rates are based on swaps for most currencies and government bonds for others, adjusted by 
adding a liquidity premium net of credit risk adjustment. For the main currencies, these adjustments are disclosed in the table 
below:

Liquidity Premium, net of credit risk adjustment, used at end of December (in bps)
EUR USD GBP JPY CHF HKD

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
33 25 57 65 39 49 -5 -6 0 0 15 10
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11.6   P&C CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT TABLE

The following table shows the development for the gross ultimate cost of claims and the cumulative gross claim payments by 
underwriting year from 2021 to 2024. All contracts concerned are insurance contracts as defined by IFRS. 

The first line labelled “Estimate of net undiscounted ultimate claim costs, including claims expenses” includes outstanding reserves 
on reported losses, estimated reserves for IBNR claims, allocated loss adjustment expenses and net payments. For example, the 
amount of $1,055.1 million appearing in accident year 2021 column represents the undiscounted net ultimate costs for that 
accident year which is developed in the subsequent years, being $1,849.7 million in 2024.

The line labelled “Cumulative net payments to date” shows, for a given Accident Year Y (column), the cumulative amount of 
payments related to years of occurrence after to and including Y, made since December 31 of year Y-1.

The line labelled “Estimate of net liabilities from year 2021 to 2024” represents the difference between the net undiscounted 
ultimate cost of claims and the cumulative net payments to date, disclosing the claims reserved by underwriting year from 2021 to 
2024.

The reconciliation with the total Liability for incurred claims (see note 11.1.2) includes components that are not developed such as:

• “Estimate of gross liabilities not developed” corresponding to the estimate of gross liabilities of incurred claims prior to 2020 
and of claims incurred before the acquisition date of acquired entities ($3,881.0 million).

• Discounting impact ($(1,054.7) million).

• Risk adjustment for non-financial risk ($136.9 million).

The claims development takes into consideration the changes in scope that occurred throughout the development period.

• For acquisitions, the claims are only developed after the acquisition date, disclosing the non-developed piece, if any, in the line 
item “Estimate of net liabilities not developed”.

The claim development table is net of intercompany transactions.

11.6.1 Net claims development table by underwriting year 

(US Dollars in thousands) 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total
Estimate of net undiscounted ultimate claim costs, 
including claims expenses
At end of underwriting year  1,055,149  676,450  491,705  764,453 
One year later  1,844,317  1,136,756  977,728 
Two years later  1,866,590  1,158,317 
Three years later  1,849,658 

Four years later
Five years later
Six years later
Cumulative net payments to date  (1,581,906)  (516,061)  (198,521)  (31,439) 
Estimate of net liabilities from 2021 to 2024  267,752  642,256  779,207  733,014  2,422,229 
Estimate of net liabilities not developed  3,880,984 
Effect of discounting  (1,054,712) 
RA  136,885 
TOTAL LIC NET OF REINSURANCE  5,385,386 
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Note 12    Payables
12.1   BREAKDOWN OF PAYABLES

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Current tax payable  39,987 31,045
Debts relating to investments under total return swap agreement  —  — 
Other debt instrument issued and bank overdraft  —  — 
Collateral debts relating to investments under lending agreements or equivalent  307,397  156,589 
Other payables  85,350  106,591 

12.2   EXPOSURE TO INTEREST RATE RISK AND CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES

The table below sets out the contractual maturities of other debt instruments and collateral debts relating to investments under 
lending agreements or equivalent, which are exposed to interest rate risk. Effective maturities may differ from those presented, 
mainly because some instruments include clauses allowing early redemption, with or without penalty.

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Carrying value of other debt instrument 
by contractual maturity

Total 
carrying 

value

Carrying value of other debt instrument 
by contractual maturity

Total 
carrying 

value
12 months 

or less

More than 
1 year up 
to 5 years

More than 
5 years

12 months 
or less

More than 
1 year up 
to 5 years

More than 
5 years

Collateral debts relating to 
investments under a lending 
agreement or equivalent

 307,397  —  —  307,397  156,589  —  —  156,589 
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Note 13    Tax
13.1   TAX EXPENSE

13.1.1   Breakdown of tax expense between current and deferred tax 

The income tax charge/(benefit) was split as follows:

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Current income tax  56,925 36,497
Deferred income tax  14,704  43,107 
TOTAL INCOME TAX CHARGE/(BENEFIT)  71,629  79,604 

13.1.2   Tax proof 

The notional tax charge/(benefit) is calculated using the pre-tax accounting income (loss) in each jurisdiction multiplied by that 
jurisdiction’s applicable statutory tax rate. A reconciliation of the difference between the notional tax charge (benefit) and the 
effective tax charge (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is provided below.

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Income/(loss) from operating activities, gross of tax expenses  
(excluding result from investments consolidated using equity method) 653,501 452,931
Notional tax rate  5.7 %  4.1 %
Notional tax charge/(benefit) 37,024  18,794 
Impact of change in tax rates 2,611  1,442 
Impact of differences in tax rate and impact of taxes not linked to pre-tax income 3,603  24,684 
Impact of differences in tax rates and tax bases 6,214  26,126 
Impact of permanent differences 18,658  34,694 
Adjustments on tax relating to prior years - Current Tax 2,389  (5,724) 
UTP gross amount (Unrecognized Tax Position) 8,700  12,858 
Derecognition/(recognition) of DTA on temporary differences (1,356)  (7,143) 
Impact of adjustments, decrease in value and other items 9,733  (9) 
EFFECTIVE TAX CHARGE/(BENEFIT) 71,629  79,604 
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE (%)  11.0 %  17.6 %

Effective tax rate decreased from 17.6% in 2023 to 11.0% in 2024. The decreased in the effective tax rate is primarily driven by the 
following items:
• The absence of the prior year rate impact on the non-deductible interest in Luxembourg.

• The favorable tax impact in Ireland of branch losses in 2024 as compared to branch profits in 2023.

• Partially offset by the Notional tax rate increase due to the distribution of profits/losses as well as the unfavorable impact due 
to the increase in tax on notional investment income allocations.

• The Uncertain Tax Position ($8.7 million) primarily relates to the recognition of Permanent Establishment tax risk due to 
underwriting activity in Colombia.

13.2   DEFERRED TAX
In the table below, the net deferred tax position corresponds to the difference between Deferred Tax Assets (DTA) and Deferred Tax 
Liabilities (DTL) carried on the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position. Note that the breakdown of DTA/DTL 
disclosed in these tables corresponds to the deferred tax before the netting that occurs for financial position presentation purposes 
as required by IAS 12. Net deferred tax balances are broken down as follows:
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(US Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023
Deferred acquisition costs  —  — 
Other intangible assets (including Goodwill)  5,974  (2,411) 
Real estate  59  18 
Financial assets  45,310  51,637 
Technical reserves  (80,352)  (76,090) 
Pensions and other employee benefits  1,399  2,341 
Tax losses carried forward  91,369  104,645 
Other  11,970  (7,645) 
TOTAL DEFERRED TAX BY NATURE  75,729  72,495 
of which deferred tax through Profit and Loss  32,238  40,000 
of which Deferred tax through OCI with P&L recycling  43,491  32,495 

As of December 31, 2024, the $75.7 million net DTA related primarily to entities located in the United States ($22.3 million), France 
($18.1 million), and Ireland ($48.5 million), offset by net DTLs in Switzerland ($(15.4) million).

(US Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023
Deferred tax assets 96,691  97,895 
Deferred tax liabilities 20,962  25,400 
Net deferred tax position 75,729  72,495 

The net deferred tax asset position remained relatively flat when comparing $72.5 million in 2023 to $75.7 million in 2024.

13.2.1   Recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets (DTA) by expiration date 

The tables below provide the total recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets, as well as the corresponding tax loss 
carryforward with the expiration date (i.e. the latest possible date available for use).

(US Dollars in 
thousands)

2024

DTA 
maturity 

date 
1 year

DTA 
maturity 

date 
2 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
3 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
4 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
5 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
6 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
between 7 

and 
11 years

DTA 
maturity 

date > 
11 years

No 
maturity 

date Total

Recognized DTA
Recognized DTA - Tax 
loss carryforwards  —  —  2,308  3,134  2,069  326  —  —  83,532  91,369 

Recognized DTA - 
Other items not 
related to tax losses

 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  64,712  64,712 

Total recognized DTA  —  —  2,308  3,134  2,069  326  —  —  148,244  156,081 

Corresponding carry 
forward losses  —  —  10,992  14,925  10,503  1,656  —  —  485,951  524,027 

Unrecognized DTA
Unrecognized DTA - 
Tax loss carryforwards  —  —  —  17,541.43  19,792  —  —  14,581  30,353  82,267 

Unrecognized DTA - 
Other items not 
related to tax losses

 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  64,671  64,671 

Total unrecognized 
DTA  —  —  —  17,541.43  19,792  —  —  14,581  95,024  146,938 

Corresponding carry 
forward losses  —  —  —  89,042.79  100,466  —  —  58,463  133,002  380,973 
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(US Dollars in 
thousands)

2023

DTA 
maturity 

date 
1 year

DTA 
maturity 

date 
2 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
3 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
4 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
5 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
6 years

DTA 
maturity 

date 
between 7 

and 
11 years

DTA 
maturity 

date > 
11 years

No 
maturity 

date Total

Recognized DTA
Recognized DTA - Tax 
loss carryforwards  —  —  —  —  —  —  27,203  —  77,442  104,645 

Recognized DTA - 
Other items not 
related to tax losses  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  75,267  75,267 

Total recognized DTA  —  —  —  —  —  —  27,203  —  152,709  179,912 
Corresponding carry 
forward losses  —  —  —  —  —  —  138,086  —  398,008  536,094 

Unrecognized DTA
Unrecognized DTA - 
Tax loss carryforwards  —  —  —  —  268  16,270  18,441  —  20,129  55,108 

Unrecognized DTA - 
Other items not related 
to tax losses  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  57,064  57,064 

Total unrecognized 
DTA  —  —  —  —  268  16,270  18,441  —  77,193  112,172 
Corresponding carry 
forward losses  —  —  —  —  1,072  82,588  77,027  —  81,640  242,327 

13.3   UNCERTAIN TAX POSITIONS
Uncertain tax treatments are determined separately at the entity level. For those positions considered as not probable to be 
accepted by the tax authorities without adjustment, the assessment of the uncertainty is determined based on the most likely 
outcome.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $30.0 million and $21.0 million, 
respectively. The 2024 net increase primarily relates to the recognition of Permanent Establishment risk related to Colombia and 
additional reserves on transfer pricing risk.

The Company does not currently anticipate any significant change in the unrecognized tax benefits in 2025.
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Note 14    Derivative Instruments 
All derivative instruments are carried at fair value; in the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position, they are 
presented in the line item Derivative assets when their fair value at the reporting date is positive, and in the line item Derivative 
liabilities when their fair value is negative.

In the following paragraphs of the present Note, notional amounts of derivative instruments are displayed, by convention, in 
absolute value, and exclude any potential netting out.

14.1   DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS: MATURITIES, NOTIONAL VALUES AND CARRYING 
VALUES

The following table shows notional amounts (including the split of those amounts by maturity) and carrying values of derivative 
instruments held by the Company, broken down by risk category. It includes all derivative instruments, regardless of whether they 
relate to a qualifying hedging relationship under IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments. 

(US Dollars in thousands)

Notional amounts by maturity on
 December 31, 2024 Notional amount Carrying value – Asset

Carrying value - 
Liability Net carrying value

< 1 year
1 to 

5 years > 5 years
December 

31, 2024
December 

31, 2023
December 

31, 2024
December 

31, 2023
December 

31, 2024
December 

31, 2023
December 

31, 2024
December 

31, 2023

Interest rates 
derivatives  98,000  100,000  —  198,000  98,000  —  2,010  (4,669)  —  (4,669)  2,010 

TOTAL  98,000  100,000  —  198,000  98,000  —  2,010  (4,669)  —  (4,669)  2,010 

14.2   DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS BY RISK CATEGORY AND HEDGING RELATIONSHIP
As stated in Note 2.8, the Company designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships under 
IFRS 9 which are either (i) hedges of the exposure to variability in cash flows attributable to a recognized asset or liability or a highly 
probable expected future transaction (cash flow hedges), or (ii) hedges of the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognized asset 
or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (fair value hedges), or (iii) hedges of net investments in a foreign operation (net 
investment hedges). The accounting for those hedging relationships is explained in Note 2.8.

The following tables display notional amounts and carrying values of derivative instruments held by the Company, broken down by 
risk category and by IFRS 9 hedging relationship, showing separately (i) derivative instruments qualifying for IFRS 9 hedge 
accounting, by type of hedging relationship, and (ii) derivative instruments used in macro hedges under IAS 39 and other derivative 
instruments not qualifying for hedging accounting under IFRS 9 but generally used as economic hedges. 

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024
Derivative instruments used in IFRS 9 qualifying hedging 

relationship
Cash flow hedges Total

Carrying value
Notional amount Assets Liabilities Notional amount Fair value

Interest rates derivatives  198,000  —  (4,669)  198,000  (4,669) 

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2023
Derivative instruments used in IFRS 9 qualifying hedging 

relationship
Cash flow hedges Total

Carrying value
Notional amount Assets Liabilities Notional amount Fair value

Interest rates derivatives  98,000  2,010  —  98,000  2,010 

As of December 31, 2024, the notional amount of all derivative instruments totaled $198.0 million (2023: $98.0 million). Their net fair 
value amounted to $(4.7) million as of December 31, 2024 (2023: $2.0 million).
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The Company enters into derivative instruments for both risk management and investment purposes. The Company is exposed to 
potential loss from various market risks and manages its market risks based on the Authorities Framework (see Note 5.2). The 
Authorities Framework is intended to align the risk profile of the Company's investment portfolio to be consistent with the 
Company's risk tolerance, and other guidelines established by the Board of Directors.

The Company, either directly or through third party investment managers, may use derivative instruments within its investment 
portfolio, including interest rate swaps and options on interest rate swaps, total return swaps, credit derivatives (including single 
name and index credit default swaps and options on credit default swaps), equity options, forward contracts and futures (including 
foreign exchange, bond and stock index, interest rate and commodity futures), primarily as a means of reducing investment risk by 
economically hedging exposures to interest rate, credit spread, equity price changes and foreign currency risk or, in limited 
instances, for efficient portfolio management. When using exchange traded or cleared over-the-counter derivatives, the Company is 
exposed to the credit risk of the applicable clearing house and of the Company's futures commission merchant. When using 
uncleared over-the-counter derivatives, the Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by the 
counterparties to such derivative contracts. To manage this risk, the Company requires appropriate legal documentation with 
counterparties that has been reviewed and negotiated by legal counsel on behalf of the Company and complies with the Company's 
documentation standards, investment guidelines and policies.

The notional amount of derivatives which is used to express the volume of instruments outstanding and to provide a basis for 
comparison with other financial instruments most certainly overstates the level of activity and does not directly measure risk as it 
greatly exceeds the possible credit and market loss that could arise from such transactions.

14.2.1  Interest rate derivative instruments

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is primarily linked to insurance liabilities, fixed income investments and debts.

To manage this risk, interest rate derivative strategies are employed to mitigate the impact of adverse market conditions on these 
exposures. These derivatives include interest rate swaps, options, and forwards, and are used to manage the duration gap between 
assets and liabilities, hedge interest rate risks, and minimize financial charges on debt.

14.3   EFFECT OF HEDGING ON FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
The table below sets out the impact of derivative instruments on the related assets, broken down by class of investments. These 
tables include the impact of all derivative instruments, regardless of whether those derivative instruments qualify for an IFRS 9 
hedging relationship:

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Carrying value of 

investments
Effect of derivative 

instruments
Carrying value of 

investments
Effect of derivative 

instruments
Investment in real estate properties  102,876  —  182,212  — 
Debt instruments  5,945,763  (4,669)  6,190,168  2,010 
Equity securities  44,156  —  41,192  — 
Non-consolidated investment funds  551,307  —  446,333  — 
TOTAL INVESTMENTS  6,644,102  (4,669)  6,859,905  2,010 

14.4   FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Principles applied by the Company in order to proceed with the classification of financial instruments into the fair value hierarchy 
categories under IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement are described in Note 2.5. Same principles apply as far as derivatives 
instruments are concerned.

The following table presents the breakdown of the fair value of derivative instruments by IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy level and by 
type of assets and liabilities to which those derivative instruments relate. The carrying value of derivative instruments is equal to 
their fair value:
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December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Instruments 

quoted in 
an active 
market

Instruments not 
quoted in an active 
market or no active 

market

Total

Instruments 
quoted in an 

active 
market

Instruments not 
quoted in an active 
market or no active 

market

Total(US Dollars in thousands) Level 1 ⁽ᵃ⁾ Level 2 ⁽ᵇ⁾ Level 3 ⁽ᶜ⁾ Level 1 ⁽ᵃ⁾ Level 2 ⁽ᵇ⁾ Level 3 ⁽ᶜ⁾
Derivative instruments relating to debt 
instruments  (4,669)  —  —  (4,669)  2,010  —  —  2,010 

Fair value of derivative instruments relating to 
assets (A)  (4,669)  —  —  (4,669)  2,010  —  —  2,010 

Fair value of derivative instruments relating to 
liabilities (B)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Total fair value of derivative instruments 
(C= A+B)  (4,669)  —  —  (4,669)  2,010  —  —  2,010 

(a) Level 1: fair value determined directly by reference to an active market. 
(b) Level 2: fair value mainly based on observable market data. 
(c) Level 3: fair value mainly not based on observable market data.

The above table included the breakdown of derivative instruments relating to assets, detailed by instruments related to 
investments (as presented in Note 14.3), excluding instruments used in net investment hedges that impact shareholders’ equity.  
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Note 15 Gross Insurance & Non-Insurance 
Revenues 

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Property 17,399 22,361
Specialty & Professional 2,460 11,594
Casualty 2,596 4,602
P&C Insurance 22,455 38,557
Casualty 802,946 805,725
Property Other 644,781 595,178
Property Catastrophe 424,844 405,372
Global Specialty 321,787 259,951
Other(a) 341,161 289,153

P&C Reinsurance 2,535,519 2,355,379
Total P&C Operations 2,557,974 2,393,936
Life Operations 18,478 16,507
Non-Insurance Revenue(b) 6,050 5,326
Total Revenue 2,582,502 2,415,769

(a) Other within the  P&C reinsurance segment includes credit & surety, crop, cyber and other lines.
(b)  Non-insurance revenue relates to fee income.

The Company, through its operating subsidiaries, is a leading provider of Property & Casualty reinsurance coverages to insurance 
companies on a worldwide basis. It provides casualty, property risk, property catastrophe, specialty, and other reinsurance lines 
being written on both a proportional and non-proportional treaty basis, as well as a facultative basis. The Company and its various 
subsidiaries operate mainly in Bermuda and Europe and North America. The majority of the Company's business originates via a 
large number of international, national and regional brokers. 
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Note 16    Net Financial Result Excluding 
Financing Expenses 

The financial result excluding financing debt expenses reflects the return on invested assets generated by all activities less the net 
finance income or expenses stemming from insurance and reinsurance contracts. The table below highlights how this financial 
result impacts both the profit or loss and the other comprehensive income (OCI) before tax.

The investment return through profit or loss reported below reconciles with the amount disclosed in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. On the other hand, the reconciliation of net finance income or expenses from insurance and reinsurance contracts 
disclosed below with the amounts disclosed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is explained in Note 11.1.2.

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Net investment income  258,556  219,494 
Net realized gains and losses relating to investments at cost and at fair value through shareholders' 
equity  27,335  (38,530) 

Net realized gains and losses and change in fair value of other investments at fair value through 
profit or loss  27,498  83,036 

Change in impairment on investments  (188)  2,145 
Investment return through profit or loss  313,201  266,145 
Time value of money including interest accretion on contractual service margin  (160,451)  (143,972) 
Foreign exchange gains or losses  14,118  (48,979) 
Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts through profit or loss  (146,333)  (192,951) 
Time value of money including interest accretion on contractual service margin  36,362  28,523 
Foreign exchange gains or losses  7,537  (3,270) 
Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held through profit or loss  43,899  25,253 
Total net finance income or expenses from insurance and reinsurance contracts held through 
profit or loss  (102,434)  (167,698) 

Financial result recognized in profit or loss  210,767  98,447 
Realised capital gains or losses on equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, without recycling in profit or loss  —  115 

Changes in fair value of financial investments through OCI(a)  (97,771)  29,613 
Investment return through OCI  (97,771)  29,728 
Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts issued through OCI  35,370  138,759 
Net finance income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held through OCI  21,676  54,079 
Total net finance income or expenses from insurance and reinsurance contracts held through 
shareholders' equity  57,046  192,838 

Financial result recognized in OCI  (40,725)  222,566 
Impact of financial result on the statement of comprehensive income (before tax)  170,042  321,013 

(a) Including both the change in fair value with recycling in profit or loss and the change in fair value without recycling in profit or loss.

Net investment income is presented net of impairment charges on directly-owned investment properties, and net of amortization 
of debt instruments premiums/discounts. All investment management fees are also included in the aggregate figure.

Net realized gains and losses relating to investments at cost and at fair value through shareholder’s equity include write back 
of impairment following investment sales.

Net realized gains and losses and change in fair value of investments designated as at fair value through profit or loss consist 
mainly of:

• changes in the fair value of investments designated as at fair value through profit or loss held by funds of the "Satellite 
Investment Portfolios" as defined in Note 2.7.2.1;
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• changes in fair value of underlying hedged items in fair value hedges (as designated by IAS 39) or "natural hedges" (i.e. 
underlying assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss part of an economic hedge not eligible for hedge accounting 
as defined by IAS 39).

The changes in investment impairments for available for sale assets include impairment charges on investments, and release of 
impairments only following revaluation of the recoverable amount. Write back of impairments following investment sales are 
included in the net realized capital gains or losses on investments in aggregate.
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Note 17    Expenses by Nature
 

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Claims and benefits (1,637,357) (1,418,302)
Losses on onerous insurance contracts 147 4,185
Commission paid (80,805) (47,625)
Staff expenses (70,892) (70,966)
Outsourcing and professional services (3,599) (3,773)
IT expenses 286 (1,061)
Charges related to owner occupied properties (1,364) (2,792)
Other expenses (197,721) (139,608)
Breakdown of expenses by type (1) (1,991,305) (1,679,942)
Amount of insurance acquisition cash flows 1,818 2,033

Change in assets for insurance acquisition cash flows and impairment — —
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 56,825 13,815
Total impact of insurance acquisition cash flows (2) 58,643 15,848
Total (A) = (1) + (2) (1,932,662) (1,664,094)
Represented by
Insurance service expenses (1,883,000) (1,656,993)
Expenses from other activities — (299)
Other income and expenses (49,662) (6,802)
Total (B) (1,932,662) (1,664,094)
Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held (C) (205,204) (395,274)
Total expenses (B) + (C) (2,137,866) (2,059,368)
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Note 18    Related-Party Transactions 
In 2024 and 2023, the Company was party to the following transactions with related parties which may be deemed to have been 
material to the Company or the related party in question or unusual in their nature or conditions.

18.1   ASSUMED REINSURANCE CONTRACTS
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into assumed and outwards reinsurance contracts with certain of its AXA XL 
Affiliates. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, these contracts resulted in reported insurance revenue, insurance 
service expenses, net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held and net finance income/(expenses) from contracts with 
these affiliates, or their subsidiaries, which are included within the Consolidated Statements of Income, as summarized below.

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Insurance revenue  41,481  47,762 
Insurance service expenses  (1,096)  (48,314) 
Net (expenses)/recoveries from reinsurance contracts held  (39,834)  (94,270) 
Net finance income/(expenses) from insurance and reinsurance contracts held  8,571  (7,811) 

Included within the above values are amounts from two significant related party contracts with AXA XL Affiliates.

During 2021, AXA XL Re assumed a 100% quota share contract from Syndicate 2003, an affiliate operating from the UK. This 
particular contract includes both prospective and retrospective elements. In accordance with our accounting policy since the 
retrospective premiums received by AXA XL Re were in excess of the estimated undiscounted ultimate losses payable, a deferred 
gain liability was recorded for the excess, such that we have not recorded any gain or loss at the inception of the contract. This 
deferred gain liability recorded as at December  31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, is $9.9 million and $12.5 million and will be 
amortized over the estimated claim payment period of the related contract with the periodic amortization reflected in earnings as a 
component of net losses incurred. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, amortization of $2.6 million 
and $1.5 million was recognized.

The prospective element included above represents, for the years ended December  31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, insurance 
revenue of $14.9 million and $25.5 million, insurance service expenses of $(20.0) million and $28.0 million, net (expenses)/recoveries 
from reinsurance contracts held of $0.3 million and $0.3 million, and net finance income/(expenses) from insurance and reinsurance 
contracts held of $(22.8) million and $(26.0) million.

Until December 31, 2023, XL Re Europe participated in a Quota Share arrangement between itself and XL Bermuda Ltd, an AXA XL 
Affiliate by which XL Re Europe ceded 55% of its assumed reinsurance book to XL Bermuda Ltd. Respective amounts from this 
retrocession included above for the year ended December  31, 2024 and 2023 are net expenses/(recoveries) from reinsurance 
contracts held of $(28.6) million and $(101.6) million, and net finance income/(expenses) from insurance and reinsurance contracts 
held of $31.4 million and $18.2 million. This contract was not renewed for 2024. 

As at December 31, 2024, and 2023, the following amounts with AXA XL Affiliates were recorded on the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Assets arising from reinsurance contracts held  1,447,622  1,644,154 
Liabilities arising from insurance contracts, investment contracts, and reinsurance contracts held  148,375  162,926 
Intercompany receivables/payables  (2,263)  18,954 

Included within the above values are amounts from two significant related party contracts with AXA XL Affiliates.

XL Re Europe amounts included above from this retrocession as at December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively are assets arising from 
reinsurance contracts held of $1.3 billion and $1.4 billion. 

Syndicate 2003 amounts included above from this retrocession as at  December  31, 2024, and 2023, respectively are liabilities 
arising from insurance contracts, and reinsurance contracts held of $66.5 million and $97.5 million.

In addition to the above, operational intercompany amounts payable between the Company and other AXA XL Affiliates existed as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, these amounts were $(2.3) million and $19.0 million respectively.
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18.2   AXA
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into property & casualty assumed and ceded contracts which include various 
subsidiaries and affiliates of AXA as other parties. Included within liabilities arising from assumed reinsurance contracts in the 
consolidated statement of financial position are amounts from AXA Group entities of $(74.6) million and $(46.0) million as of 
December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.
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Note 19    Contingent Assets and Liabilities and 
Unrecognized Contractual 
Commitments 

19.1   BREAKDOWN OF COMMITMENTS RECEIVED

(US Dollars in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Credit facilities received(a)  276,200  426,266 
Other commitments  —  — 
TOTAL  276,200  426,266 

Note: This table excludes collateral received from reinsurers in the form of funds, trust accounts and/or irrevocable letters of credit representing 
collateral on reported receivables and other assets (see "Reinsurance Trusts and other matters" below).
(a) Total commitments used were $276.2 million as of December 31, 2024 ($426.3 million as of December 31, 2023).

The Company has several credit facilities provided on both a committed syndicated and uncommitted bilateral bases from 
commercial banks as well as facilities entered into with its ultimate parent. The Company may utilize the full capacity of these credit 
facilities to issue letters of credit in support of non-admitted reinsurance operations in the US. Alternatively, under certain of the 
credit facilities, the Company instead may elect to utilize a stated portion of such facilities' capacity for revolving loans to support 
other operating or financing needs, which would reduce the amount available for the letters of credit. 

Reinsurance Trusts and other matters 
The Company's reinsurance assets result from reinsurance arrangements in the course of its operations. A credit exposure exists 
with respect to reinsurance assets as they may be uncollectible. The Company manages its credit risk in its reinsurance 
relationships by transacting with reinsurers that it considers financially sound, and if necessary, the Company may hold collateral in 
the form of funds, trust accounts and/or irrevocable letters of credit. This collateral can be drawn on for amounts that remain 
unpaid beyond specified time periods on an individual reinsurer basis. At December  31, 2024, the value of assets held in trust 
accounts was $865.3 million ($587.0 million  in 2023) and the value of letters of credit was $7.3 million ($9.3 million  in 2023).

Furthermore, the Company entered into an agreement with XLB to establish a revolving credit facility on November 18, 2024 which 
will mature in 2 years. The total credit available is $400.0 million and remains undrawn as of December 31, 2024. The Company 
incurred commitment fees of $42.1 thousand for the year-ended December 31, 2024. Undrawn commitment fees are charged at a 
daily rate of 0.09%. 
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19.2   BREAKDOWN OF COMMITMENTS GIVEN

(US Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2024
December 31, 

2023
Expiring date

Total Total
12 months 

or less

More than 
1 year up 

to 3 years

More than 
3 years up 
to 5 years

More than 
5 years

Letters of credit  777,867  1,068  —  —  778,935  991,547 

Pledged securities and collateralized 
commitments

 12,464  85,157  50,217  168,552  316,390  165,825 

Other commitments(a)  52,703  83,064  48,363  5,364  189,494  170,096 

TOTAL  843,034  169,289  98,580  173,916  1,284,819  1,327,468 

(a)   The Company has committed to invest in certain real estate, private equity and private credit limited partnerships, limited liability companies or 
similar structures. At December 31, 2024, the Company had unfunded commitments with these entities totaling $189.5 million over a weighted average 
period of  4.5 years. At December 31, 2023, the Company had unfunded commitments with these entities totaling $170.1 million over a weighted average 
period of 6.9 years. 

In addition to letters of credit, the Company has established reinsurance trusts in the US that provide cedants with statutory relief 
required under state insurance regulation in the US. It is anticipated that the commercial facilities may be renewed on expiry, but 
such renewals are subject to the availability of credit from banks utilized by the Company and may be renewed with materially 
different terms and conditions. In the event that such credit support is insufficient, the Company could be required to provide 
alternative security to cedants. This could take the form of additional reinsurance trusts supported by the Company's investment 
portfolio or funds withheld using the Company's cash resources. The value of letters of credit required is driven by, among other 
things, loss development of existing reserves, the payment pattern of such reserves, the expansion of business written by the 
Company and the loss experience of such business.

19.3   OTHER AGREEMENTS

19.3.1   Tax matters 

With the exceptions of XL Reinsurance America Inc. (“XLRA”) and Catlin Re Switzerland Ltd (“CRCH”), neither the Company nor its 
non-US subsidiaries have paid US corporate income taxes on the basis that they are not engaged in a trade or business or otherwise 
subject to taxation in the United States. XLRA is a US insurance company which is taxed under Section 831 of the US Internal 
Revenue Code. CRCH is a non-US entity which was determined to have engaged in a trade or business in the United States through a 
permanent establishment through 2022. As such, CRCH was subject to US income taxes for that period and filed the applicable tax 
returns.

As it relates to all other entities, however, because definitive identification of activities that constitute being engaged in a trade or 
business in the United States is not provided by the Internal Revenue Code ("IRS Code"), regulations or court decisions, there can be 
no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not contend that the Company or its non-US subsidiaries are engaged in a trade 
or business or otherwise subject to taxation in the United States. If the Company or its non-US subsidiaries were considered to be 
engaged in a trade or business in the United States (and, if the Company or such subsidiaries were to qualify for the benefits under 
the income tax treaty between the United States and Bermuda and other countries in which the Company operates, such 
businesses would be considered to be attributable to a "permanent establishment" in the United States), the Company or such 
subsidiaries could be subject to US tax at regular tax rates on their respective taxable income that is effectively connected with their 
US trade or business plus an additional "branch profits" tax (at a rate as high as 30%) on such income remaining after the regular 
tax, in which case there could be a significant adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and financial position.
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 Note 20     Litigation 
The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to litigation and arbitration in the normal course of business. These lawsuits and 
arbitrations principally involve claims on contracts of reinsurance and are typical for the Company and for the property and 
casualty reinsurance industry in general. Such claims proceedings are considered in connection with the Company's loss and loss 
expense reserves. Reserves in varying amounts may or may not be established in respect of particular claims proceedings based on 
many factors, including the legal merits thereof. 

In addition to litigation and arbitration relating to reinsurance claims, the Company and its subsidiaries may, from time to time, be 
subject to lawsuits and regulatory actions in the normal course of business that do not arise from or directly relate to claims on 
reinsurance contracts. This category of business litigation may involve, among other things, allegations of underwriting errors or 
misconduct, employment claims, regulatory activity, or disputes arising from business ventures. The status of these legal actions is 
actively monitored by management. In addition, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries may, from time to time, also be 
involved in tax assessment negotiations and/or active litigation with tax authorities over contested assessments or other matters in 
a number of jurisdictions. These actions or assessments may arise in a variety of circumstances including matters in connection 
with restructuring and financing transactions, as well as in the ordinary course of business.

Legal actions are subject to inherent uncertainties, and future events could change management's assessment of the probability or 
estimated amount of potential losses from pending or threatened legal actions. 

With respect to all significant litigation and arbitration matters, we consider the likelihood of a negative outcome. If we determine 
the likelihood of a negative outcome is probable, and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we establish a reserve 
and record an estimated loss for the expected outcome of the litigation or arbitration. However, it is often difficult to predict the 
outcome or estimate a possible loss or range of loss because litigation and arbitration are subject to inherent uncertainties, 
particularly when plaintiffs allege substantial or indeterminate damages, the matter is in its early stages, or when the litigation or 
arbitration is highly complex or broad in scope.

Based on available information, it is the opinion of management that the ultimate resolution of pending or threatened legal actions 
other than claims proceedings, both individually and in the aggregate, will not result in losses having a material adverse effect on 
the Company's financial position or liquidity at December 31, 2024.

No material provisions have been established for non-claims-related litigation, nor have any such contingent liabilities been 
identified that require disclosure.
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Note 21    Subsequent Events
The Company has estimated that the impact of the January 2025 wildfires will result in a pre-tax loss estimate, net of reinsurance 
and reinstatement premiums, within the range of $70.0 million to $80.0 million, which will be recorded during the first quarter of 
2025. There were no other material events after the reporting period to be reported.
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